Helsinki University of Technology Department of Chemical Technology Laboratory of Organic Chemistry

# CNEORINS, CYCLOPROPANES AND PROPELLANES: SYNTHESIS OF WINDMILL MOLECULES

Ainoliisa Pihko

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to be presented with due permission of the Department of Chemical Technology for public examination and debate in Auditorium KE 2 (Komppa Auditorium) at Helsinki University of Technology (Espoo, Finland) on the 28th of May, 2005, at 12 noon.

Espoo 2005

**Pihko, Ainoliisa.** *Cneorins, cyclopropanes and propellanes: Synthesis of windmill molecules.* Espoo 2005. Helsinki University of Technology, Organic Chemistry Report 1/2005. 131 p.

**ISBN** 951-22-7652-6

**ISSN** 1236-2999

**Keywords** total synthesis, natural products, cneorin C, propellanes, intramolecular cyclopropanation

## Abstract

Propellanes are molecules in which a tricyclic system is conjoined by a carbon–carbon single bond. They have been studied both theoretically and synthetically. Propellane structures are present in many different classes of natural products. Total syntheses of these natural products are reviewed.

Cneorin C has been isolated from the xerophytic shrub *Cneorum pulverulentum*, which is native to the Canary Islands. It is a natural product containing a [4.3.1]propellane ring system as the northern part of the molecule and a 5,5-spiroketal unit and a butenolide moiety as the southern part. Despite the intriguing structure, the molecule has not attracted synthetic attention except from our group. The northern DEFG ring system of cneorin C is an ideal candidate for the copper-catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanation of a diazomalonate. The synthesis of the DEFG ring system of cneorin C is described. The key steps include: 1) an enzymatic kinetic resolution providing the first stereogenic center of the molecule in an enantioselective fashion, 2) intramolecular cyclopropanation of a diazomalonate providing the EFG ring fragment and 3) an anionic cyclization of a sulfone yielding the [4.3.1]propellane ring system.

## Acknowledgements

This work was carried out in the Department of Chemical Technology, Helsinki University of Technology, during the years 2001-2005. Funding from the Ministry of Education, Helsinki University of Technology and the Finnish Cultural Foundation are gratefully acknowledged.

My supervisor, professor Ari Koskinen, provided me with a challenging target and a supportive, yet independent, research environment. Ari, thanks for your support and confidence in me. Although my work with professor K. C. Nicolaou is not included in this volume, I would like to thank him for the opportunity to work in his research group in the Scripps Research Institute from 1999-2001. The time I spent in the KCN group was pivotal to my development as a scientist, both professionally and personally.

I would like to thank my co-authors professor Liisa Kanerva and Katri Lundell for the excellent job they did with the enzymatic resolution. Thanks for answering all of my questions and providing me with the immobilized enzyme despite all the difficulties in obtaining it. Dr. Heikki Hassila was an invaluable help when optimizing the cyclopropanation reaction. Heikki, thanks for all the e-mails, whether in Tokyo or in Oulu.

I thank professor Markus Kalesse and professor Reko Leino for carefully checking the manuscript and Melanie for doing an excellent job revising the language.

The present and past members of the laboratory of organic chemistry and the staff at the department of chemical technology have all been very helpful during this work. Anna-Maija Horko and my students, Aki Abe and Anniina Mäkeläinen, did a good job scaling up intermediates. Kaisa, Mikko P. and Vesa R., thanks for sharing the ups and downs of a graduate student's life. Juho, your criticism is always constructive, thank you. Antti, thanks for the chats and for sharing the enthusiasm for chemistry. Päivi, thanks for sharing the office, it was a pleasure working with you.

I also wish to thank the members of the Nicolaou group and especially the guys in lab 4 during my stay. Remo, thanks for sharing the hood. Phil's advice on how to make ten reactions with 10 mg of starting material has been extremely helpful.

My friends and family have supported me throughout this journey. During the later stages of this work, I could always rely on Melanie and Suvi – be it chemistry, shopping, knitting or just life in general. Andreas was a reliable lunch mate at Scripps and has always been ready to answer even the pickiest questions, even later on. Vesa M., thanks for the strategics. My in-laws: Ulla & Matti, Mari & Janne, Riku & Rebekka, thanks for your love and support. I also wish to thank my two goddaughters, Salla and Helga, for bringing sunshine into my life. Isi, äiti and Markku, thanks for your everlasting love and support throughout my studies.

Petri, you always stood by my side, even at the most difficult times. Your love and encouragement have carried me along the long dark roads. Thanks for everything!

Espoo, April 2005

Ainoliisa Pihko

# Abbreviations and definitions

*	denotes formal total synthesis
acac	acetylacetonato
AIBN	azobis(isobutyronitrile)
alloc	allyloxycarbonyl
app	apparent
BINOL	1,1'-bi-2-naphthol
Boc	<i>t</i> -butoxycarbonyl
br	broad
CAL-A	Candida antarctica lipase A
CAL-B	Candida antarctica lipase B
calcd	calculated
CAN	cerium(IV) ammonium nitrate
<i>m</i> -CPBA	<i>m</i> -chloroperbenzoic acid
CSA	camphorsulfonic acid
d	day
D-A	Diels-Alder reaction
DBU	1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene
DCC	dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
DCE	1,2-dichloroethane
DDQ	2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone
DEAD	diethyl azodicarboxylate
DET	diethyl tartrate
DIBAL-H	diisobutyl aluminum hydride
DIPE	diisopropyl ether
DIPT	diisopropyl tartrate
DMAP	4-(N,N-dimethylamino)pyridine
DMDO	dimethyldioxirane
DMF	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethylformamide
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DPPE	1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane

h	hour
HMDS	bis(trimethylsilyl)amine
HMPA	hexamethylphosphoramide
IBX	o-iodoxybenzoic acid
IMDA	intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction
imid.	imidazole
LDA	lithium diisopropylamide
lipase PS	lipase from Pseudomonas cepacia
Ms	methanesulfonyl
MS	molecular sieves
MOM	methoxymethyl
MTBE	methyl <i>t</i> -butyl ether
MTPA	$\alpha$ -methoxy- $\alpha$ -(trifluoromethylphenyl)acetic acid
MVK	methyl vinyl ketone
MW	microwave
NIS	<i>N</i> -iodosuccinimide
NMO	<i>N</i> -methylmorpholine <i>N</i> -oxide
Ns	<i>p</i> -nitrophenylsulfonyl
obs	obscure
PCC	pyridinium chlorochromate
PDC	pyridinium dichromate
Piv	pivalate
PMB	<i>p</i> -methoxybenzyl
PPA	polyphosphoric acid
PPTS	pyridinium p-toluenesulfonate
pyr	pyridine
rac	racemic
RR	rearrangement
rt	room temperature
sat. aq.	saturated aqueous
sm	starting material
TASF	tris(dimethylamino)sulfur (trimethylsilyl)difluoride
TBAF	tetrabutylammonium fluoride
TBDPS	t-butyldiphenylsilyl
TBHP	<i>t</i> -butyl hydroperoxide
TBS	<i>t</i> -butyldimethylsilyl
TEOC	trimethylsilylethoxycarbonyl
Tf	trifluoromethanesulfonyl
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
TFAA	trifluoroacetic anhydride
thexyl	1,1,2-trimethylpropyl
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TMS	trimethylsilyl

TPAP	tetra-n-propylammonium perruthenate
tol	toluene
trisyl	triisopropylbenzenesulfonyl
Ts	<i>p</i> -toluenesulfonyl
<i>p</i> -TsOH	<i>p</i> -toluenesulfonic acid

# Contents

Abstract	
Acknowledgements	
Abbreviations and definitions	
Contents	
1. Propellanes and their synthesis	
2. [ <i>n.n.</i> 1]Propellanes	
2.1 Cyclopropanes: marasmic acid, sterepolide	
2.1.1 Marasmic acid	
2.1.2 Sterepolide	
2.2 Epoxides: frenolicin B, dynemicin A, fusicogigantone A, SF 2315	SB, diepoxin
$\sigma$ , arthrinone	
2.2.1 Frenolicin B	
2.2.2 Dynemicin A	
2.2.3 Fusicogigantone A	
2.2.4 SF 2315B	
2.2.5 Diepoxin $\sigma$	
2.2.6 Arthrinone	
3. Other propellanes with all-carbon quaternary stereocenters	
3.1 Bukittinggine	
3.2 Colombiasin A	
3.3 Modhephene	
3.3.1 Acid catalyzed rearrangement	
3.3.2 Thermal rearrangement	50
3.3.3 Photochemical rearrangement	
3.3.4 Anionic cyclization	
3.3.5 Radical reaction	
4. Propellanes with lactones	
4.1 Ginkgolide B	
4.2 Merrilactone A	

5. Indole	alkaloids	62
5.1 1-	Acetylaspidoalbidine and aspidophytine	62
5.2 K	opsanone and lapidilectine B	65
6. Other a	ılkaloids	69
6.1 A	nnotinine	69
6.2 C	epharamine and the hasubanan skeleton	69
6.3 B	athrachotoxinin A	72
7. Summa	ary	74
8. Synthe	sis of DEFG ring system of cneorin C	75
8.1 In	troduction: cneorins	75
8.2 S	on the sis of DEFG ring fragment: the early steps	77
8.3 Et	nantioselective synthesis of furyl substituted allyl alcohol 321	78
8.3.1	Enantioselective alkylation	78
8.3.2	CBS reduction	79
8.3.3	Kinetic resolution by Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation	79
8.3.4	Enzymatic kinetic resolution	80
8.4 In	tramolecular cyclopropanation of diazomalonates	82
8.4.1	Preparation of diazomalonates	84
8.4.2	Model studies	84
8.4.3	The actual substrates	85
8.5 S	on the sis of DEFG ring fragment: closing the rings	87
8.5.1	The ethyl ester	87
8.5.2	The <i>t</i> -butyl ester	88
8.6 Sy	on the subsection of DEFG ring fragment: the quest to remove the sulfone	89
8.7 C	onclusions	91
9. Experi	mental section	93
9.1 G	eneral experimental	93
9.2 S	ynthesis of alcohol (S)-321	94
9.2.1	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-(dimethoxyphosphoryl)-pentanoic ac	id
	methyl ester (324)	94
9.2.2	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentanoic acid methyl ester	r
	(325)	94
9.2.3	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (378)	95
9.2.4	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentanal (326)	95
9.2.5	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (n	ac-
	<b>321</b> ) from enal <b>326</b>	95
9.2.6	Alcohol <i>rac</i> -321 from vinyl bromide 331	96
9.2.7	5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-one	
	(333)	96
9.2.8	General procedure for the CBS-reduction	97
9.2.9	Resolution of rac-321 by Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation	97
9.2.10	Resolution of <i>rac</i> - <b>321</b> by lipase-catalyzed acylation	98
9.2.11	Hydrolysis of butanoate (S)-336b	99

9.3 A	nalysis of stereochemistry of (S)-321 by the Mosher ester method	99
9.3.1	3,3,3-Trifluoro-(2S)-methoxy-2-phenylpropionic acid 5-( <i>tert</i> -butyl-	
	diphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl ester (379)	100
9.3.2	3,3,3-Trifluoro-(2 <i>R</i> )-methoxy-2-phenylpropionic acid 5-( <i>tert</i> -butyl-	
	diphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl ester (380)	100
9.4 M	lodel compounds for the intramolecular cyclopropanation	100
9.4.1	1-Furan-3-yl-2-methylprop-2-en-1-ol ( <b>339</b> )	100
9.4.2	5-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (3	<b>340</b> )
		101
9.4.3	General procedure for preparation of malonates	101
9.4.4	Ethyl-2-methyl-1-phenylallyl malonate (342)	102
9.4.5	Ethyl-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylallyl malonate (343)	102
9.4.6	Ethyl-5-( <i>tert</i> -butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl	
	malonate (344)	103
9.4.7	tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepen	tyl
	malonate (345)	103
9.4.8	General procedure for preparation of diazomalonates	104
9.4.9	Ethyl-2-methyl-1-phenylallyl diazomalonate (348).	104
9.4.10	Ethyl-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylallyl diazomalonate (349)	104
9.4.11	Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepenty	rl
	diazomalonate (350)	105
9.4.12	tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-	
	methylenepentyl diazomalonate (351)	105
9.4.13	General procedure for preparing the catalytic complexes for	
	cyclopropanation	106
9.4.14	General procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates	106
9.4.15	5-Methyl-2-oxo-4-phenyl-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic aci	d
	ethyl ester ( <b>353</b> )	106
9.4.16	4-Furan-3-yl-5-methyl-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic	
	acid ethyl ester (354)	107
9.4.17	5-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-propyl]-4-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
	oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (355)	107
9.4.18	5-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-propyl]-4-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
	oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (356)	108
9.5 T	he route with TBDPS-protection and ethyl ester	109
9.5.1	Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepenty	/1
	malonate ( <b>346</b> )	109
9.5.2	Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepenty	/1
	diazomalonate (352)	. 109
9.5.3	5-[3-( <i>tert</i> -Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-propyl]-(4 <i>S</i> )-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
	oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (357)	. 110
9.5.4	(4S)-Furan-3-yl-5-(3-hydroxypropyl)-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1	l -
	carboxylic acid ethyl ester (359)	. 110

	9.5.5	(4S)-Furan-3-yl-2-oxo-5-(3-phenylsulfanylpropyl)-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (360)1	11
	9.5.6	5-(3-Benzenesulfonylpropyl)-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (361)1	12
	9.5.7	Ketosulfone <b>362</b>	13
9	.6 T	he route with TBDPS protection and <i>t</i> -butyl ester 1	13
	9.6.1	tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-	
		methylenepentyl malonate (347) 1	13
	9.6.2	tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-	
		methylenepentyl diazomalonate (320)1	14
	9.6.3	(5 <i>S</i> )-[3-( <i>tert</i> -Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-propyl]-(4 <i>S</i> )-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid <i>tert</i> -butyl ester (358a) and	
		(5 <i>R</i> )-[3-( <i>tert</i> -Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-propyl]-(4 <i>S</i> )-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1R)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (358b) 1	14
	9.6.4	(4S)-Furan-3-yl-(5S)-(3-hydroxypropyl)-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-	•
		(1 <i>S</i> )-carboxylic acid <i>tert</i> -butyl ester ( <b>363a</b> )1	15
	9.6.5	(4S)-Furan-3-yl-2-oxo-(5S)-(3-phenylsulfanylpropyl)-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (364a) 1	16
	9.6.6	(5S)-(3-Benzenesulfonylpropyl)-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3-	
		oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid <i>tert</i> -butyl ester (365a) 1	16
	9.6.7	Ketosulfone <b>362</b>	17
	9.6.8	Methyl ketone <b>367</b>	18
	9.6.9	Hydroxysulfone <b>371</b> 1	18
	9.6.10	Vinyl sulfone <b>372</b>	19
	9.6.11	2-Acetoxycyclohexenone (376) 1	20
10.	Refe	erences1	21

## 1. Propellanes and their synthesis

The first propellanes were synthesized in the 1930's during investigations into the Diels– Alder reaction.<sup>1-6</sup> However, the first 'propellane by design' was synthesized much later, in 1965.<sup>7,8</sup> Their nomenclature was introduced shortly thereafter. In 1966, Bloomfield and Irelan reported a synthesis of [4.4.2]propellane (1) and used the term propellerane in this context,<sup>9</sup> but the editors did not accept this nomenclature<sup>10</sup> and the compound was reported as 9,10-dihydro-9,10-ethanonaphthalene. In the same year, Ginsburg and co-workers introduced the name propellane in a paper that 1 reported the syntheses of a variety of different propellanes without editorial dissent.<sup>11</sup>

Webster's Unabridged Dictionary defines a propeller as 'a device having a revolving hub with radiating blades'<sup>12</sup> and, indeed, the structure of the molecules is in accordance with the name (see Figures 1 and 2). The name propellane refers to a tricyclic system conjoined by a carbon–carbon single bond. The nomenclature, suggested by Ginsburg and co-workers, follows and simplifies the one used for tricycloalkanes (Figure 1).<sup>11</sup>



General structure of propellanes

<sup>5</sup> ' Numbering of [4.3.1]propellane

[1.1.1]propellane (2)

Figure 1. Propellanes.



Figure 2. Windmills in January in Oritkari, Oulu, Finland.

The first synthesis of a small-ring propellane, [3.2.1]propellane, was published in 1968.<sup>13</sup> Theoretically the most interesting propellane is [1.1.1]propellane (**2**) (Figure 1). The reports of the first modeling studies concluded that **2** should be more stable than the corresponding diradical that lacks the conjoining bond.<sup>14,15</sup> However, the researchers were uncertain that **2** could ever exist. A decade later, Wiberg and Walter reported the synthesis and isolation of a surprisingly stable molecule, [1.1.1]propellane.<sup>16</sup> The nature of the central bond of the molecule has been the subject of many studies. The theoretical and experimental results of many different research groups agree on the special nature of the bond.<sup>17-19</sup> Some groups have questioned the existence of the central bond, <sup>14,15,17,20,21</sup> but Wiberg, Bader and Lau argue cogently that the bond definitely exists between the bridgehead carbons with a bond order of 0.73.<sup>22,23,a</sup>

Ginsburg<sup>28-30</sup> and Wiberg<sup>19,31,32</sup> have reviewed the syntheses and the theoretical studies of propellanes extensively, Wiberg concentrating on the small-ring propellanes and Ginsburg on the medium sized rings. In his book titled 'Propellanes', Ginsburg even describes the syntheses and structures of natural products possessing the propellane structure.<sup>33</sup>

Indeed, propellane structures are present in many different classes of natural products (Figure 3). Whereas theoretical studies have focused on small-ring propellanes containing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The controversy regarding the central bond revolves around differing explanations of similar experimental facts and theoretical results of the nature of the bonding interaction. In addition to Wiberg's results, other theories have also been suggested.<sup>18,24-27</sup>

more than one 3- or 4-membered ring, in known natural products only one of the rings is small, the rest being 5 to 8-membered. The literature selected for this review describes the total syntheses of propellane containing natural products. Particular emphasis is on propellanes having a 3-membered ring in the ring system, because the interest of the author is cneorin C (3) (see Chapter 8 and Figure 3). The descriptions of the syntheses focus on the methods used for construction of the propellane ring systems of the molecules.



Figure 3. Natural products which contain a propellane ring system.

By far, one of the most popular avenues to synthesize any ring system has been the venerable Diels–Alder reaction.<sup>34</sup> This has also been the case with propellane ring structures. If the ~20 syntheses of modhephene, a [3.3.3]propellane, are disregarded because the molecule consists of 5-membered rings (see Figure 3), half of the syntheses analyzed here have utilized the Diels–Alder reaction as one of the key ring-forming transformations. The following chapters describe the syntheses of natural products, which contain a propellane ring system.

# 2. [*n.n.*1]Propellanes

There are quite a few natural products with the [n.n.1] propellane structure. However, only eight of them have been synthesized. Two of these contain a cyclopropane ring and in six of them the smallest ring is an epoxide. From a synthetic point of view this is a crucial difference since constructing a cyclopropane ring is still considered a challenge while many excellent methods exist for the formation of epoxides. The ring system of propellanes poses its own challenge for three-membered ring formation.

## 2.1 Cyclopropanes: marasmic acid, sterepolide

Of all natural products described in Chapter 2, marasmic acid (4) and sterepolide (5) most closely resemble the target molecule of this thesis, cneorin C (3) (see Figure 3). Parts of these molecules, highlighted in Figure 3, can all be described as [4.3.1]propellanes in which the smallest ring is a cyclopropane. The synthetic strategies that have been used to date for marasmic acid and sterepolide do not utilize a cyclopropanation reaction to install the challenging cyclopropane ring, instead most of them have adapted variants of the method developed by Woodward which accesses the cyclopropane ring by a Diels–Alder–enolate alkylation sequence (*vide infra*).

## 2.1.1 Marasmic acid

Marasmic acid (4) is an antibacterial agent isolated for the first time by Kavanagh *et al.* from the *Bacidiomycetes*.<sup>35,36</sup> To date, three different syntheses have been reported for this molecule. Retrosynthetic analysis of the syntheses (Scheme 1) reveals that two of the groups, Woodward<sup>37-39</sup> and Boeckman,<sup>40</sup> have employed the Diels–Alder reaction as the key ring-forming step. While both of these used a similar enolate alkylation strategy to form the cyclopropane ring, the third synthesis by Tobe *et al.* used a 1-oxaspirohexane rearrangement to make the carbon framework of the molecule.<sup>41</sup>

#### (±)-Marasmic acid/Woodward 1976



Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic analysis of marasmic acid.

The Woodward group's synthesis of  $(\pm)$ -marasmic acid (Scheme 2)<sup>37-39</sup> commences with reaction of diene completely *endo*-selective Diels-Alder 10 and a 2-(bromomethyl)maleic anhydride (9), yielding a mixture of *tert*-butyl esters 8a and 8b after treatment of the cycloaddition product with isobutylene under acidic conditions. Subjection of the esters to potassium *tert*-butoxide afforded a single cyclopropane 7 in 44% yield over the three steps. Having obtained the carbon framework of the molecule with the correct stereochemistry, the oxidation states of carbons  $C_6$  and  $C_{15}$  had to be adjusted. To that end, lactone 7 was subjected to a sequence of reductions and chloroformate formation with quinoline and phosgene to give dichloroformate 18. The dichloroformate 18 was then oxidized<sup>42</sup> to dialdehyde 19, which gave  $(\pm)$ -marasmic acid (4) after de-esterification.

#### (±)-Marasmic acid/Woodward 1976



Scheme 2. a) 9, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 36 h, **17a**:17b 1:1; b) isobutylene, *p*-TsOH, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 4 d; c) *t*-BuOK, *t*-BuOH, PhH, rt, 10 min, 44% over 3 steps; d) DIBAL-H, tol, -78 °C, 4 h; e) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, MeOH, rt, 15 min, 65% over 2 steps; f) phosgene, quinoline, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 30 min, 91%; g) DMSO, 15 °C, 25 min, then Et<sub>3</sub>N, 15 °C, 20 min, 25%; h) TFA, PhH, rt, 30 min, 50%.

Boeckman and co-workers chose to make the carbon skeleton of marasmic acid via an intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction (Scheme 3).<sup>40</sup> While Woodward's strategy provided essentially one diastereomer after the cyclopropane ring formation, Boeckman's group was unable to avoid a 1:1 mixture of two diastereomers **12** and **22** resulting from *endo* and *exo* transition states, respectively. They were able to transform both diastereomers to marasmic acid, however, thus enhancing the productivity of the synthesis. After isomerization of the double bond of **12** to give an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated lactone (see **23**), the acetate was transformed into a mesylate to set the stage for the cyclopropane ring formation. Exposure of mesylate **23** to DBU in refluxing THF provided cyclopropane **11** in excellent yield. Next, a sequence of phenyl selenide formation, DIBAL-H reduction and *m*-CPBA oxidation yielded methyl marasmate (**24**). Finally, **24** was treated with BBr<sub>3</sub> to give (±)-marasmic acid (**4**).

#### (±)-Marasmic acid/Boeckman 1980



**Scheme 3.** a) NaH, **21**, DMF,  $-5 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 30 min; b) tol, 200 °C, 30 min, 92%, **12:22** 1:1; c) *t*-BuOK, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C, 30 min, quant.; d) cat. *p*-TsOH, MeOH, 65 °C, 12 h, quant.; e) MsCl, Et<sub>3</sub>N, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -5 °C, 30 min; f) DBU, THF, 65 °C, 8 h, >90% over 2 steps; g) PhSeBr, MeOH, rt, 2 h, 92%; h) DIBAL-H, tol:THF 1:1, -78 °C, 12 h; i) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 4.5 h, 77% over 2 steps; j) BBr<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>,  $-20 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 4.5 h, 50%, [k)<sup>36</sup> *p*-TsOH, isopropenyl acetate, reflux, 5 h; 1)<sup>36</sup> AcOH, HCl, H<sub>2</sub>O, "cold", 24 h, reactions not performed].

Tobe and co-workers have reported a 1-oxaspirohexane rearrangement as an entry to the norcarane skeleton present in the marasmane-type natural products (Scheme 4).<sup>43</sup> To utilize this rearrangement in the synthesis of marasmic acid,<sup>41</sup> an entry to cyclobutyl epoxide **15** was required. Thus, enone **16** was irradiated in the presence of allene to yield the head-to-head photoadduct **27** as the major product. Sodium borohydride reduction of the remaining ketone and *m*-CPBA epoxidation of the exocyclic double bond provided the rearrangement precursor **15** in a highly stereoselective manner. Exposure of **15** to concentrated sulfuric acid in methylene chloride for 1 hour gave cyclopropanolactone **14** in 80% yield, less than 5% of the  $\beta$ -Me isomer of **14** was observed. Next, ketone **14** was reduced and eliminated and the lactone ring was opened to enable the oxidation at C<sub>14</sub>. Allylic oxidation<sup>44</sup> of **29** followed by Swern oxidation gave methyl marasmate (**24**) thus completing a formal total synthesis (denoted with an asterisk in Scheme 4) of (±)-marasmic acid (**4**).

#### (±)-Marasmic acid/Tobe\* 1990



Scheme 4. a) hv, allene, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 3 h, 73%, 91% selectivity; b) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, MeOH, rt, 4 h, 98%; c) *m*-CPBA, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 89%; d) H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 80%; e) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, THF:MeOH 1:2, rt, overnight, 9:1 selectivity; f) MsCl, pyr, DMF, 80 °C, 1 h, 87% over 2 steps; g) NaOH, H<sub>2</sub>O, MeOH, reflux, overnight, 92%; h) TBHP, SeO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, overnight; i) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, DMSO, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -60 °C, 10 min, then Et<sub>3</sub>N, 15 min  $\rightarrow$  rt, 19% over 2 steps; [j)<sup>40</sup> BBr<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -20  $\rightarrow$  0 °C, 4.5 h, reaction not performed, formal total synthesis].

## 2.1.2 Sterepolide

Two different syntheses have been reported for the pentacyclic framework of sterepolide (**5**), a metabolite of the fungus *Stereum purpureum* (Scheme 5).<sup>45</sup> Trost and co-workers have reported a racemic<sup>46</sup> and an asymmetric<sup>47</sup> synthesis relying on a palladium-catalyzed cyclization and a Diels–Alder–cyclopropane formation sequence very similar to the one Woodward and co-workers used in their synthesis of marasmic acid (*vide supra*). Arai *et al.* have synthesized nor-sterepolide (**33**), which lacks the gem-dimethyl groups of sterepolide, utilizing a Diels–Alder–cyclopropane formation sequence and a Nazarov cyclization to form the ring system.<sup>48</sup>

#### (-)-Sterepolide/Trost 1985/1989



Scheme 5. Retrosynthetic analysis of sterepolide.

In 1985, Trost and Chung published a racemic synthesis of sterepolide.<sup>46</sup> In 1989, they published a refined, enantioselective route to the molecule and assigned its absolute stereochemistry (Scheme 6).<sup>47</sup> Thus, reduction of the acetylenic ketone 32 with LiAlH<sub>4</sub>/Darvon alcohol complex gave the protected alcohol **38** in >98% ee after PMBprotection. The stage was now set for the palladium catalyzed cyclization. In the presence of palladium acetate and ligand **39**, the Diels-Alder precursor **31** formed smoothly in 81% yield. Heating diene **31** and 2-(bromomethyl)maleic anhydride (**9**) in benzene followed by base treatment yielded cyclopropanoanhydride **30** as a single diastereomer. Removal of the silvl protecting group then opened the anhydride and consequently closed the 5-membered lactone ring. Reduction then closed the second lactone ring and deprotection followed by oxidation completed the total synthesis of (-)-sterepolide (5)and established its absolute stereochemistry as shown. On the basis of this stereochemical assignment, Trost has proposed that sterepolide and marasmic acid are biosynthetically derived from the same enantiomeric folding of farnesyl pyrophosphate (Figure 4).<sup>36,45</sup> Interestingly, the final step of the synthesis also destroys the stereocenter at  $C_1$  that has been employed as a stereochemical control element throughout the synthesis.



Figure 4. Biogenetic origin of marasmic acid and sterepolide.

(-)-Sterepolide/Trost 1985/1989



Scheme 6. a) LiAlH<sub>4</sub>/Darvon alcohol complex, Et<sub>2</sub>O, -100 °C, quant., >98% ee; b) NaH, PMBBr, cat. Bu<sub>4</sub>NI, THF, rt, 82%; c) 5% Pd(OAc)<sub>2</sub>, 10% **39**, PhH, 70 °C, 81%; d) **9**, PhH, 80 °C; e) DBU, PhH, rt, 81% over 2 steps; f) TBAF, THF, rt; g) disiamylborane, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 75%; h) DDQ, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, then PDC, 3Å MS, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 83%.

Arai and co-workers' synthesis of nor-sterepolide (**33**) also commences with a Diels– Alder reaction of 2-(bromomethyl)maleic anhydride (**9**) and diene **36** (Scheme 7). The cycloaddition produced the *endo*-products **35a** and **35b** in a ratio of 4.5:1, which was inconsequential since after esterification the compound was treated with potassium *tert*butoxide to close the cyclopropane ring in 90% yield. Next, the acetylenic side chain was introduced to prepare for the crucial Nazarov cyclization. Epoxidation, opening of the epoxide with hydrogen bromide, Jones oxidation and treatment with zinc to remove the bromide gave a ketone ready to be alkylated with **43**. Alkylation of the ketone with the lithium acetylide of **43** followed by deprotection of THP in acidic conditions produced diol **34**. Subjection of **34** to phosphorus pentoxide and methanesulfonic acid yielded the cyclopentenone **45** via a Rupe rearrangement followed by a Nazarov-type conrotatory electrocyclization.<sup>49</sup> The final lactone ring was closed by protecting the enone as a ketal, reducing the lactone and treating the resulting hemiacetal with acid to close the lactone and release the enone to give (±)-nor-sterepolide (**33**). Attempts were made to introduce the gem-dimethyl groups at C<sub>11</sub>, but they proved unsuccessful.

(±)-Nor-sterepolide/Arai 1985



**Scheme 7.** a) PhH, rt, 72 h, 72%, **35a**:**35b** 4.5:1; b) CH<sub>2</sub>N<sub>2</sub>, MeOH, Et<sub>2</sub>O, quant.; c) *t*-BuOK, *t*-BuOH, PhH, rt, 1 h, 90%; d) *m*-CPBA, cat. bis(3-*t*-Bu-4-hydroxy-5-methylphenyl) sulfide, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, CHCl<sub>3</sub>, reflux, 6 h, α: 58%, β: 16%; e) 48% HBr, CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 h, α-OH & β-Br: 80%, α-Br & β-OH: 70%; f) Jones reagent, acetone, rt, 6 h; g) Zn, AcOH, rt, 15 h; h) **43**, BuLi, -70  $\rightarrow$  -30 °C, 1 h, then sm, -78 °C, 1 h; i) *p*-TsOH, MeOH, rt, 48 h; 47% over 2 steps; j) P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, MsOH, rt, 2.5 h, 34%; k) ethylene glycol, PPTS, PhH, reflux, 5 h, 93%; l) DIBAL-H, THF, -90 °C, 30 min, 84%; m) *p*-TsOH, PhH, 55 °C, 7 h, 85%.

# 2.2 Epoxides: frenolicin B, dynemicin A, fusicogigantone A, SF 2315B, diepoxin σ, arthrinone

This rather heterogeneous group of molecules is unified by the fact that all of them have an epoxide ring fused to two other rings in their ring system. Most of them, namely frenolicin B, dynemicin A, SF 2315B, and diepoxin  $\sigma$ , are [4.4.1]propellanes, whereas fusicogigantone A is a [6.3.1]propellane and arthrinone a [4.3.1]propellane. The Diels– Alder reaction is a frequent feature of these syntheses; seven of the ten routes described herein utilize the cycloaddition to form the carbon backbone of the molecule. Once the rings are in place, the epoxidations generally proceed stereoselectively and give good yields of the products.

## 2.2.1 Frenolicin B

Frenolicin B (46), a pyranonaphthoquinone antibiotic isolated from *Streptomyces fradiae* in 1960,<sup>50,51</sup> has been synthesized<sup>52</sup> only once, although six syntheses for deoxyfrenolicin (47) have been reported. Since those syntheses, by Naruta and co-workers,<sup>53</sup> Semmelhack *et al.*,<sup>54-56</sup> Uno,<sup>57</sup> Kraus *et al.*,<sup>58</sup> Moore and co-workers,<sup>59,60</sup> Brimble and Lynds,<sup>61</sup> as well as Xu *et al.*,<sup>62</sup> lack the formation of the epoxide, which makes the molecule a propellane, they will not be treated here. Scheme 8 shows Ichihara's retrosynthetic approach to frenolicin (46). The key steps include a Lewis acid catalyzed Diels–Alder cyclization and an alkylation followed by cyclization of the pyran ring.

(±)-Frenolicin/Ichihara 1980



#### Scheme 8. Retrosynthetic analysis of frenolicin B.

Ichihara's synthesis of racemic frenolicin starts with a highly selective boron trifluoride catalyzed Diels–Alder reaction of juglone (**51**) and acetoxybutadiene (**50**), which gives the tricyclic acetate **52** in excellent yield (Scheme 9).<sup>63</sup> Selective reduction, ketal formation and reduction of the remaining ketone and acetate provided the allylic alcohol **49**. Lemieux-Johnson oxidation of the double bond in **49** afforded an equilibrated mixture of aldehyde **48** and hemiacetal **53**. This mixture was then treated with *n*-propyl magnesium bromide to give hemiacetal **54** stereoselectively in a chelation-controlled addition. Next, a Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction added the needed two-carbon side chain, and a sequence of PCC- and DDQ-oxidations followed by basic hydrolysis provided naphthoquinone **47**. Subjection of **47** to *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide in the presence of Triton B gave a 1:1 mixture of two unseparable epoxide diastereomers, which was methylated, separated and hydrolyzed to give ( $\pm$ )-frenolicin (**46**). The lack of selectivity in the epoxidation step can be explained by the fact that the two bulky substituents can reside either pseudo-equatorial/pseudo-axially or pseudo-axial/pseudo-equatorially (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Conformations of alkene 47.



**Scheme 9.** a) BF<sub>3</sub>, PhH or CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 55 °C, 97%; b) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, THF, 5 °C, quant.; c) 2,2-dimethoxypropane, acetone, BF<sub>3</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub>, 70%; d) LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 97%; e) OsO<sub>4</sub>, NaIO<sub>4</sub>, *t*-BuOH, H<sub>2</sub>O; f) NaOAc, DABCO, 99% over 2 steps, g) *n*-PrMgBr, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 66%; h) **55**, *n*-BuLi, DMSO, rt, 2 h, 61%; i) PCC, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 98%; j) DDQ, TsOH, MeOH, reflux, 9 h, then dioxane, reflux, 12 h; k) KOH, MeOH, H<sub>2</sub>O; l) TBHP, triton B, dioxane, EtOH, rt,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  1:1; m) CH<sub>2</sub>N<sub>2</sub>, then separation of diastereomers; n) KOH, MeOH, H<sub>2</sub>O, rt.

## 2.2.2 Dynemicin A

Dynemicin A (**62**), a potent antibacterial and anticancer agent isolated from *Micromonospora chersina*,<sup>64,65</sup> has attracted wide synthetic interest due to its biological activity and intriguing molecular structure. So far, two elegant total syntheses of dynemicin A and one of di-*O*-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester have appeared in the literature (Schemes 10 and 11). Also, five different synthetic approaches to model compounds of the dynemicin A ring framework have been published. The total syntheses by the groups of Schreiber,<sup>66-69</sup> Myers<sup>70,71</sup> and Danishefsky<sup>72-77</sup> will be treated here with more detail. The groups of Nicolaou,<sup>78-81</sup> Isobe,<sup>82-84</sup> Magnus<sup>85</sup>, Maier<sup>86</sup> and Takahashi<sup>87,88</sup> have reported their efforts towards dynemicin A model compounds. Of these, the Nicolaou and Takahashi models include a [4.4.1]propellane ring system, so the retrosynthetic analyses of these syntheses are shown in Scheme 15. The syntheses of Isobe, Magnus and Maier did not result in the formation of the propellane skeleton and are thus outside the scope of this review. Maier has published a review that details the investigations of different dynemicin A analogs.<sup>89</sup>

(±)-Di-O-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester/Schreiber 1993



Scheme 10. Retrosynthetic analysis of dynemicin A.

Retrosynthetic analyses of the dynemicin A syntheses are shown in Schemes 10 and 11. All of the groups have accessed the final compound via fairly similar ABC ring structures (**61**, **65** and **68**), although the Schreiber group installed the epoxide in the late stages of the synthesis. The Schreiber group also decided to use an intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction (IMDA) to form the A ring and close the enediyne bridge of the molecule, whereas the Danishefsky group utilized IMDA only to form the A ring. The Myers group joined the A and C rings with a Suzuki cross-coupling reaction and subsequently closed the B ring by lactam formation.

#### (±)-Di-O-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester/Schreiber 1993



Scheme 11. Retrosynthetic analysis of advanced intermediates of dynemicin A.

The synthesis of di-*O*-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester by Schreiber and co-workers begins with the assembly of the intramolecular Diels–Alder substrate (Scheme 12).<sup>66,68,69</sup> Stille coupling of **70** with vinyl stannane **73** followed by a 1,2-addition of acetylide **71** to the resulting pyridinium salt provided a diyne. Silyl deprotection gave an acetylide that was then coupled with vinyl bromide **72**. After ester hydrolysis the IMDA-substrate **69** was exposed to Yamaguchi macrolactonization conditions, effecting the macrocyclization and subsequently the intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction to give lactone **61** in 50% yield. Next, the stereochemistry at C<sub>4</sub> and the oxidation state of carbons C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>8</sub> were adjusted followed by functional group manipulation and construction of the anthraquinone fragment with a Diels–Alder reaction (see Scheme 10). Exposure of **59** to *m*-CPBA in pH 7 phosphate buffer gave epoxide **82** stereoselectively after deprotection of the carbamate nitrogen with DBU. Finally, the secondary alcohol was oxidized with ceric ammonium nitrate to give (±)-di-*O*-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester (**58**).

(±)-Di-O-methyl dynemicin A methyl ester/Schreiber 1993



Scheme 12. a) 73, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, 85%; b) 71, ClCO<sub>2</sub>Me, THF; c) TBAF, THF, 60% over 2 steps; d) 72, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, CuI, 20%; e) LiOH, H<sub>2</sub>O, THF, 65%; f) Bromotrispyrrolidinophosphonium hexafluorophosphate (PyBroP), Et<sub>3</sub>N, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 13 h, 51%; *steps*; g) *m*-CPBA, pH 7 buffer, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 2.5 h, 73%; h) 0.11 M DBU, MeOH, rt, 1 h; i) CAN, aq. MeCN, 0 °C, 45 min.

The total synthesis of dynemicin A by Myers and co-workers starts with the construction of the A ring (Scheme 13).<sup>70,71</sup> Condensation of menthyl acetoacetate (83) and *trans*-ethyl crotonate (84) provided a 36% yield of the correct  $\beta$ -methyl diastereomer after recrystallization. Stirring the 1,3-diketone in methanolic camphorsulfonic acid led to the formation of an enol ether, which was then subjected to sodium hydride and triflic anhydride to yield the coupling precursor 77. The Suzuki cross-coupling of enol triflate 77 with any boronic acid 76 in the presence of tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium and sodium carbonate afforded the AC ring structure 85 in 90% yield. Next, heating the carbamate 85 in 4-chlorophenol cleaved the nitrogen-protecting group and closed the B ring of the molecule. After a series of functional group manipulations as well as incorporation of the enediyne side chain, allylic alcohol 74 was ready to be epoxidized. Initially, the Myers group tried to close the enediyne bridge with various electrophiles at  $C_7$  before the epoxidation without succeeding. In the event, buffered *m*-CPBA effected the epoxidation in 88% yield. Then, removal of the silvl groups, re-protection of the phenol and oxidation at C<sub>7</sub> provided the cyclization precursor. Indeed, deprotonation of the acetylene caused the enediyne bridge to attack the ketone at C<sub>7</sub> and gave alcohol 65 in excellent yield. After adjusting the oxidation states of various carbons, the stage was set for the final Diels-Alder reaction to complete the anthraquinone part of the molecule. The Diels-Alder reaction between the quinone imine 64 and isobenzofuran 63 proceeded in 5 minutes to give the di-TMS-ether, which was immediately oxidized with manganese dioxide to provide (+)-dynemicin A (**62**) in 40% yield over two steps.

(+)-Dynemicin A/Myers 1995

Scheme 13. a) *t*-BuOK, *t*-BuOH, reflux, 3.5 h, 36% after recryst., 1:1 diastereoselectivity; b) CSA, MeOH, rt, 12 h, 71%, 4:1 regioselectivity; c) NaH, Et<sub>2</sub>O, rt, 5 h, then Tf<sub>2</sub>O,  $-78 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 30 min, 95%; d) 76, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, NaCO<sub>3</sub>, *p*-dioxane, reflux, 45 min, 90%; e) 4-ClPhOH, 180 °C, 30 min, 84%; *steps*; f) *m*-CPBA, pH 7 buffer, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 19 h, 88%; g) TBAF, THF, 0 °C, 15 min, quant.; h) TBSCl, imid., DMF, rt, 1 h, 96%; i) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, DMSO, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -40 °C, 10 h, then Et<sub>3</sub>N,  $-78 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 30 min, 92%; j) KHMDS, CeCl<sub>3</sub>, THF, -78 °C, 5 min, 94%; steps; k) 63, THF,  $-20 \rightarrow 55$  °C, 5 min; l) MnO<sub>2</sub>, 3HF·Et<sub>3</sub>N, THF, rt, 9 min, 40% over 2 steps.

Danishefsky and co-workers also decided to begin the construction of dynemicin A ring system with an intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction (Scheme 14).<sup>72-77</sup> A zinc chloride catalyzed IMDA led selectively to the *endo* adduct **79** in 60% yield. Exposure of adduct **79** to ceric ammonium nitrate gave rise to quinone lactol **87** via oxidation of the aromatic ring and lactol formation between the unveiled alcohol and the aldehyde. Ammonium acetate followed by silylation then afforded **88** with both of its stereocenters arising from the Diels–Alder step. After installation of the acetylenic functions, olefin **78** was ready for the epoxidation step. Thus, epoxidation of olefin **78** with *m*-CPBA proceeded smoothly to give epoxide **89** in 87% yield. Next, the diacetylene **89** was transformed into a diiodide which could then be treated with vinyl bis(stannane) (**90**) and Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> to

MeO OMe OMe OMe с NHBoc ÓМе 83 84 77 85 75 steps CO<sub>2</sub>TIPS steps AllocN твs AllocN g-j Alloch f TBS O) O) OMe OMe OMe OMe ОМе OMe OMe ŌН ŌН ŌН ÓTBS ÓTBS **ÓTBS** 64 65 86 74 k,l TMSO OTMS NHBoc B(OH)<sub>2</sub> Men = CO<sub>2</sub>H ŌН 0 O) отмs ÓМе OMe 63 76 ÓН Ö ÓН 62: Dynemicin A

close the enediyne bridge giving **68** in 81% yield. The enediyne bridge could not be closed without the presence of the epoxide (for instance compound **78**); a similar observation was also made by the Myers group (Scheme 13 and discussion thereof). Then, after adjusting the oxidation state of the C ring and adding a carboxyl group at C<sub>5</sub>, quinone imine **67** was ready to react with the anion of anhydride **66** to form the remaining rings of dynemicin A. The adduct was immediately oxidized with PhI(OCOCF<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>. Exposure of the product to air and daylight also oxidized ring D and the final step was to remove the MOM-protecting groups. This was accomplished with magnesium bromide to provide ( $\pm$ )-dynemicin A (**62**) in 15% yield over the last four steps.

(±)-Dynemicin A/Danishefsky 1995



**Scheme 14.** a)  $ZnCl_2$ ,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , rt, 3 d, 60%, *endo:exo* 20:1, b) CAN, MeCN,  $H_2O$ , 0 °C, 30 min, 90%; c) NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, AcOH, 100 °C, 1 h, 89%; d) TBSCl, imid.,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , 0 °C, 2 h, 98%; *steps*; e) *m*-CPBA,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , rt, 8.5 h, 87%; f) cat. AgNO<sub>3</sub>, NIS, THF, rt, 3.5 h, 91%; g) **90**, Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, DMF, 75 °C, 1.2 h, 81%; *steps*; h) LiHMDS, **66**, THF, 0 °C, 35 min, then **67**, 0 °C, 35 min; i) PhI(OCOCF<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, THF, 0 °C, 5 min; j) air, daylight, THF, high concentration, 20 h; k) MgBr<sub>2</sub>, Et<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 12 h, 15% over 4 steps.

The synthesis of dynemicin A model compounds by Nicolaou and co-workers<sup>78-81</sup> is based on functionalizing quinoline derivative **91** (Scheme 15).<sup>90,91</sup> Takahashi and co-workers decided to form the A ring of their model compound **96** with a Diels–Alder

reaction (Scheme 15).<sup>87,88</sup> The diene part **99** is derived from a [2,3]-Wittig rearrangement. The enediyne bridge was closed with a palladium catalyzed coupling.

(±)-Dynemicin A model/Nicolaou 1990



(±)-Dynemicin A model/Takahashi 1995



Scheme 15. Retrosynthetic analyses of dynemicin A model compounds.

### 2.2.3 Fusicogigantone A

Fusicogigantone A (**103**) and fusicogigantepoxide (**112**) were isolated from *Pleurozia gigantea* collected from East Malaysia in 1990.<sup>92</sup> The only reported synthetic route to the fusicogigantones is from the group of Takeshita, the retrosynthetic analysis of which is shown in Scheme 16. The key ring forming steps are a singlet oxygen oxidation and a titanium-mediated McMurry ring-closure of a dialdehyde.<sup>93,94</sup>





Scheme 16. Retrosynthetic analysis of fusicogigantone A.

Optically active enal **106** and allyl chloride **107** were mixed with chromium dichloride to obtain alcohol **108** in good yield (Scheme 17). Next, the double bond in **108** was hydroborated, the benzyl group removed, the free secondary alcohol eliminated and the resulting double bond reduced with lithium and ethylamine. After a Swern oxidation of

the diol, the resulting dialdehyde **105** was treated with titanium tetrachloride in the presence of zinc to obtain the cyclized  $\alpha$ -*cis*-diol **109** in 38% yield together with the  $\beta$ -*cis*-diol in 7% yield. The diol was removed by orthoformate formation and subsequent reductive elimination.<sup>95,96</sup> The C<sub>8-9</sub> double bond in **110** was hydrogenated to give a mixture of C<sub>2-6</sub> and C<sub>2-3</sub> double bond containing compounds. This mixture was treated with singlet oxygen generated by means of Rose Bengal photosensitization, followed by reduction with triphenylphosphine and dehydration with singlet oxygen generated with tetraphenylporphyrin at -78 °C gave a mixture of **111a** and **111b** (observed by NMR), which were only stable below 0 °C. This mixture was left to stand at room temperature for 10 h, and **111a** gradually turned into (+)-fusicogigantepoxide (**112**). Heating the mixture to 60 °C for 1 h gave two more products, (+)-fusicogigantone B (**114**) and **113**, from the more stable endoperoxide **111b**. The products were separated by column chromatography. The authors report that the attack of <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> had occurred exclusively from the  $\alpha$ -side of the dienes in **104a** and **104b**.

(+)-Fusicogigantone A & (+)-fusicogigantepoxide/Takeshita 1994



**Scheme 17.** a) CrCl<sub>2</sub>, LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, DMF:THF 2:1, *i*-PrOH, 90%; b) Me<sub>2</sub>CHCMe<sub>2</sub>BH<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, <sup>-</sup>OH, 88%; c) H<sub>2</sub>, Pd/C, 82%; d) HCl, THF, 99%, e) Li, EtNH<sub>2</sub>, 68%; f) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, DMSO, Et<sub>3</sub>N, 74%; g) TiCl<sub>4</sub>, Zn, PhH:THF 5:1, α-*cis* 38%, β-*cis* 7%; h) CH(OMe)<sub>3</sub>, PPTS, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 93%; i) Δ, Ac<sub>2</sub>O, tol, 82%; j) H<sub>2</sub>, Pd/C, EtOH, EtOAc, 99%; k) <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>; l) PPh<sub>3</sub>, silica, 90%, **104a**:**104b** 2:3; m) <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, tol, -78 °C → rt/60 °C, **103** 23%, **112** 12%, **113** 8%, **114** 8%.
## 2.2.4 SF 2315B

Sulikowski and co-workers have reported a synthetic route<sup>97,98</sup> to the ring system of SF 2315B (**120**), an angucyclinone antibiotic isolated from a soil microorganism of the *Actinomycete* strain *Excellospora viridilutea*.<sup>99,100</sup> A retrosynthetic analysis of their synthesis is shown in Scheme 18. The key transformations in the synthesis are a highly selective Diels–Alder reaction to set up the carbon framework and an oxygenation to provide the correct oxidation pattern.

(±)-SF 2315B ring system/Sulikowski 1995



Scheme 18. Retrosynthetic analysis of SF 2315B ring system.

Sulikowski's synthesis of epoxy quinol **115** started with a highly regioselective Diels– Alder cycloaddition between 2-bromo-acetoxyjuglone (**119**) and diene **118** (Scheme 19). The reaction produced cycloadduct **121**, which was then dehydrobrominated with lithium hydroxide to give quinone **117**. Exposure of **117** to molecular oxygen and tetrabutylammonium fluoride provided epoxyalcohols **116** and **122**, which were separated by column chromatography. Then, a sequence of hydrogenation, acetylation of the phenol, TIPS deprotection,  $C_1$ -hydroxyl directed reduction of the  $C_{12}$ -ketone and acetyl removal gave epoxy quinol **115**, which bears the complete array of stereogenic centers present in SF 2315B (**120**).

#### (±)-SF 2315B ring system/Sulikowski 1995



**Scheme 19.** a) tol, reflux, 71%; b) LiOH, THF:MeOH 1:1, 0 °C, 30 min, 70%; c) TBAF, O<sub>2</sub>, THF, -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, **116** 33%, **122** 16%, **117** 20%; d) H<sub>2</sub>, PtO<sub>2</sub>, EtOAc, 0 °C, 30 min, 76%; e) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, DMAP, pyr, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 30 min, 96%; f) HF·pyr, MeCN, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, quant.; g) Me<sub>4</sub>NB(OAc)<sub>3</sub>, AcOH, MeCN:THF 1:1, -10 °C, 53% (+ 38% of recovered sm); h) Bu<sub>4</sub>NOH, THF, 0 °C, 80%.

### 2.2.5 Diepoxin $\sigma$

Diepoxin  $\sigma$  (123) was isolated from fermentation broths of a nonsporulating fungus, LL-07F275, collected in Panama from a tree trunk in 1993.<sup>101</sup> To date, one total synthesis of the molecule has appeared in the literature by Wipf and Jung (Scheme 20).<sup>102-104</sup> The key steps in their synthesis include an Ullmann coupling followed by an oxidative spirocyclization to introduce the naphthalene ketal and a stereoselective epoxidation. Another notable feature is the use of a Diels–Alder–retro-Diels–Alder strategy to introduce chirality to the molecule as well as to protect the highly reactive naphthoquinone ring system.

(+)-Diepoxin σ/Wipf 1999/2000



Scheme 20. Retrosynthetic analysis of diepoxin  $\sigma$ .

The first task in the diepoxin  $\sigma$  synthesis by Wipf and Jung (Scheme 21) was the protection of the reactive double bond in **126** as a Diels–Alder adduct with cyclopentadiene.<sup>102-104</sup> In their preliminary work, Wipf and Jung developed a racemic

synthesis of the molecule after which they successfully performed the cycloaddition in an enantioselective manner. In the strictest sense, the synthesis is thus a formal total synthesis of (+)-diepoxin  $\sigma$ , but because the same group performed the racemic synthesis, this is trivial. The Diels-Alder reaction of **126** and cyclopentadiene in the presence of borane and ligand **129** proceeded well to give 94% ee and 72% yield of the cycloadduct. Sodium borohydride reduction then gave the required precursor for the Ullmann ether coupling, which provided 128 after demethylation. The spiroketal ring was then closed with an oxidative cyclization in the presence of PhI(OAc)<sub>2</sub> in hexafluoro-2-propanol (131) followed by TBS protection of the less hindered secondary alcohol and PDC oxidation of the remaining alcohol to yield dienone 125. Next, epoxidation of the two double bonds proceeded smoothly to give syn-diepoxide 124 in 88% yield as a single diastereomer. Now the only remaining task was to cleave the protecting groups. Surprisingly, the enone double bond was unmasked with a retro-Diels-Alder reaction at 250 °C in boiling phenyl ether without significant decomposition of the product. Then, treatment of the product with hydrogen fluoride gave ( $\pm$ )-diepoxin  $\sigma$  (123) in 73% yield over 2 steps.

(+)-Diepoxin σ/Wipf 1999/2000



**Scheme 21.** a) **129**, BH<sub>3</sub>·THF, AcOH, THF, rt, 1 h, then cyclopentadiene,  $-78 \,^{\circ}$ C, 2 h, 72%, 94% ee; b) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, THF, MeOH,  $-78 \rightarrow 0^{\circ}$ C, 3 h, 88%; c) **130**, Cu<sub>2</sub>O, pyr, reflux, 20 h, 70%; d) Ph<sub>2</sub>PH, *n*-BuLi, THF, rt, 7 d, 95%; e) PhI(OAc)<sub>2</sub>, 4Å MS, **131**, rt, 1 h, 61%; f) TBSOTf, lutidine, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>,  $-78 \,^{\circ}$ C, 1 h, 91%; g) PDC, DMF, rt, 24 h, 72%; h) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, THF, H<sub>2</sub>O, 0  $^{\circ}$ C, 9 h, 88%; i) PhOPh, reflux, 1 h; j) HF, MeCN, H<sub>2</sub>O, 0  $^{\circ}$ C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 20 h, 73% over 2 steps.

### 2.2.6 Arthrinone

Arthrinone (132) is an antifungal metabolite, which was isolated from *Arthrinium* sp. FA 1744 in 1994.<sup>105</sup> Its only total synthesis was reported in 2000 by Uchiyama and co-

workers (Scheme 22).<sup>106</sup> The key ring forming steps in the synthesis include a Diels– Alder–cycloreversion reaction of a diene and an acetylene to form a highly substituted aromatic ring, as well as a Dieckmann condensation.



(±)-Arthrinone/Uchiyama 2000

Scheme 22. Retrosynthetic analysis of arthrinone.

The synthesis of arthrinone by Uchiyama *et al.* is illustrated in Scheme 23.<sup>106</sup> The Diels-Alder reaction between acetylene 136 and diene 137 proceeded smoothly and gave ester 135 in 81% yield after cycloreversion and TIPS-protection. With all requisite carbon atoms in place. NaHMDS effected a Dieckmann condensation to close the required cyclohexane ring. Because the cyclization product was not stable, it was immediately converted to phenyl sulfone 138 to create unsaturation for the subsequent epoxidation. After reduction of the ketone in 138, the sulfone was oxidized to two epimeric sulfoxides and eliminated to give the  $\alpha$ .  $\beta$ -unsaturated lactone **139**. Attempts to insert the epoxide at this point in the synthesis only resulted in aromatization of the cyclohexene ring. Thus, the lactone was reduced to diol 134 and the epoxidation took place to give epoxide 133 in 72% yield as a single diastereomer. The excellent selectivity obtained can be attributed to the directing effect of the allylic hydroxyl group. The tetrahydrofuran ring was then reconstructed using the following sequence: the less hindered primary alcohol was protected with a TBS group and the other with a TBDPS group, the TIPS and TBS groups were removed, the benzylic alcohol was oxidized with MnO<sub>2</sub> and the free primary alcohol with TPAP and finally the two TBPDS groups were removed to give (±)arthrinone (132).

#### (±)-Arthrinone/Uchiyama 2000



Scheme 23. a) *i*. 137, 160 °C, *ii*. THF, 5% HCl, rt, 81%; b) TIPSCl, imid., DMF, rt, quant.; c) NaHMDS, THF, -78 °C; d) NaH, THF, 0 °C, then PhSCl, 87% over 2 steps; e) Zn(BH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 83%; f) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 90%, 9:1 selectivity; g) P(OMe)<sub>3</sub>, tol, reflux, 89% from major sulfone, 76% from minor; h) DIBAL-H, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C; i) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, MeOH, 0 °C, 77% over 2 steps; j) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.9 phosphate buffer, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 72%; k) TBSOTf, pyr, THF, -60 °C, 78%; l) TBDPSCl, imid., DMF, rt, 91%; m) 5% NaOH in EtOH, THF, rt, 61%; n) MnO<sub>2</sub>, acetone, rt, 91%; o) cat. TPAP, NMO, 4Å MS, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt; p) TBAF, AcOH, THF, rt, 73% over 2 steps.

# 3. Other propellanes with all-carbon quaternary stereocenters

### 3.1 Bukittinggine

Bukittinggine (140) was isolated in 1990 from the leaves and branches of *Sapium baccatum* near the town of Bukittinggi in West Sumatra, Indonesia.<sup>107</sup> The Heathcock group synthesized this unique heptacyclic alkaloid in 1992.<sup>108</sup> The main transformation in their synthesis, a tetracyclization reaction developed in the group, suggests diol 143 as a starting material (Scheme 24).



Scheme 24. Retrosynthetic analysis of bukittinggine.

The tetracyclization process is effected by a Swern oxidation of diol **143** followed by gaseous ammonia (Scheme 25). Exposure of the product to acetic acid then triggers an inverse-electron-demand Diels–Alder reaction followed by an ene reaction to give the pentacycle **142**. There has been some discussion as to whether the mechanism is stepwise or concerted,<sup>109</sup> but the Heathcock group has reported experimental evidence which indicates that the cyclization proceeds through a concerted but asynchronous Diels–Alder reaction.<sup>110,111</sup> Next, the pentacyclic amine **142** was treated with palladium triflate to cyclize the sixth ring of the molecule. The following sequence reduced the exocyclic double bond in **141** stereoselectively (>15:1): hydroboration and oxidation of the double bond, tosylation of the formed primary alcohol followed by reduction with lithium triethoxyborohydride. Removal of the benzyl protecting groups then gave diol **144**, which

was ready for the final cyclization. Finally, oxidation of the diol with Fetizon's reagent provided  $(\pm)$ -bukittinggine (140) as the sole product.



Scheme 25. a) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, DMSO, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 15 min, then Et<sub>3</sub>N,  $-78 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 1 h, then NH<sub>3</sub> (g), 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 45 min; b) NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, AcOH, 30 min, rt, then 75 °C, 2 h, 76% from 143; c) (CF<sub>3</sub>CO<sub>2</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Pd, PPh<sub>3</sub>, *p*-benzoquinone, MeCN, 24 h, rt, 70%; d) BH<sub>3</sub>·THF, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, then NaBO<sub>3</sub>·4H<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub>O, 3 h, rt; e) *p*-TsCl, DMAP, pyr, CHCl<sub>3</sub>, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 46 h; f) LiEt<sub>3</sub>BH, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 4 h, then NaBO<sub>3</sub>·4H<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub>O, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2.5 h; g) Na, NH<sub>3</sub>, THF, -78 °C, 20 min; h) Ag<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> on Celite ®, PhH, reflux, 5 h; 52% over 5 steps.

### 3.2 Colombiasin A

Colombiasin A (145), a diterpene isolated from the gorgonian octacoral *Pseudopterogorgia elisabethae*,<sup>112</sup> has attracted the interest of the synthetic community with its novel and challenging molecular framework. To date, three total syntheses, from the Nicolaou,<sup>113,114</sup> Rychnovsky,<sup>115</sup> and Harrowven<sup>116,117</sup> groups, have been published (Scheme 26). In addition, an approach to this complex ring system has appeared in the literature (Scheme 30).<sup>118</sup>

Unsurprisingly, all of the total syntheses rely heavily on the Diels–Alder reaction in the final stages of the synthesis (Scheme 26). The main difference in the first two synthetic routes, by Nicolaou *et al.* and Rychnovsky *et al.* is the point at which the side chain, which later forms the B and C rings, is installed. In the Nicolaou group strategy it is attached after the initial Diels–Alder reaction, whereas the Rychnovsky group decided to include part of the side chain, including the crucial  $C_7$  methyl group, in their first Diels–Alder substrate. The Harrowven group relied on a Moore rearrangement to construct the

A and D rings of colombiasin A in their recent synthesis. In this route, the methyl group stems from a hydroboration, where a separable 5:2 mixture of diastereomers is obtained.

(-)-Colombiasin A, Nicolaou 2001



(-)-Colombiasin A, Rychnovsky 2003



(-)-Colombiasin A, Harrowven 2005



Scheme 26. Retrosynthetic analysis of colombiasin A.

The Nicolaou group synthesis commences with a catalytic asymmetric Diels–Alder reaction (Scheme 27).<sup>113,114</sup> The reaction between diene **148** and quinone **149** in the presence of [(S)-BINOL–TiCl<sub>2</sub>] provided the Diels–Alder adduct **147** after aromatization, methylation and desilylation in 94% ee and 85:15 regioselectivity. The main regioisomer was thought to arise from a bidentate coordination of titanium as shown in Scheme 27. The minor regioisomer would then originate from monodentate coordination of titanium to the more electron rich vinylogous ester carbonyl oxygen at C<sub>14</sub> (colombiasin A numbering).<sup>a</sup> After further elaboration and attachment of the side chain, the sulfone-protected diene **146** was ready for the critical IMDA reaction. The reaction was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Note that there is an error in the original paper<sup>114</sup> in Scheme 9; the transition states  $TS_a$  and  $TS_b$  provide the enantiomers of compounds 8 and 8'. (Personal communication with Prof. G. Vassilikogiannakis.)

performed at 180 °C in toluene in a sealed tube and provided tetracycle **157** in 89% yield as a single product. Deoxygenation at  $C_5$  and demethylation at  $C_{16}$  then gave (–)-colombiasin A (**145**).



Scheme 27. a) [(S)-BINOL–TiCl<sub>2</sub>], tol,  $-60 \rightarrow -10$  °C, 7 h, 85:15 regiochemistry, 94% ee; b) K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, MeI, acetone, reflux, 48 h; c) TFA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 2 h, 70% over 3 steps, 94% ee; *steps*; d) tol (sealed tube), 180 °C, 20 min, 89%, 100% selectivity; e) NaH, THF:CS<sub>2</sub>:MeI 4:1:1, 50 °C, 3 h, 95%; f) AIBN, Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, tol, 110 °C, 30 min, 77%; g) BBr<sub>3</sub>, *cis*-cyclooctene, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 43% based on 70% conversion.

The Rychnovsky group used a Lewis acid catalyzed Diels–Alder reaction between diene **152** and quinone **149** to start the synthesis of the colombiasin A ring system (Scheme 28).<sup>115</sup> The reaction gave a 1.7:1 mixture of **151** and **151'** that could only be separated in the last step of the synthesis despite attempts to do so earlier. The use of chiral Lewis acids to catalyze the reaction was not successful. After installing the C<sub>3</sub>-methyl and the diene required for the IMDA, compound **150** was ready for cyclization. The final cyclization of diene **150** (and **150'**) was performed in a similar fashion to that used in the Nicolaou synthesis, followed by deprotection of the C<sub>16</sub>-methoxy group and separation of the diastereomers providing (–)-colombiasin A (**145**).

(-)-Colombiasin A, Rychnovsky 2003



**Scheme 28.** a) 5 M LiClO<sub>4</sub>, Et<sub>2</sub>O, rt, 24 h, 75%, **151**:**151**' 1.7:1; *steps*; b) tol, 180 °C, 83%; c) AlCl<sub>3</sub>, PhNMe<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 73%; d) separation of diastereomers.

In the Harrowven group's synthesis of colombiasin A (Scheme 29),<sup>116</sup> the crucial intermediate **154** for the Moore reaction<sup>119-121</sup> was obtained from a Shapiro coupling between ketone **155** and diketone **156**. After some experimentation it was found that an *in situ* formation of a trisylhydrazone from ketone **155**, which could then be treated with *n*-butyllithium and diketone **156**, was the best way to obtain the Moore substrate **154**. Heating **154** to 110 °C in a microwave effected the formation of the Diels–Alder substrate **153**. As the penultimate step, an intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction provided the tetracycle in a similar fashion to the Nicolaou (Scheme 27) and Rychnovsky (Scheme 28) syntheses. Finally, trifluoroborane-etherate deprotected the alcohol to give (–)-colombiasin A (**145**).

(-)-Colombiasin A, Harrowven 2005



**Scheme 29.** a) Trisylhydrazine, **155**, THF, rt, 2 h, then *n*-BuLi, –78 °C, then **156**, –20 °C, 36%; b) *i*. MW, THF, 110 °C, then *ii*. air, rt, 80%; c) tol, 150 °C, 61%; d) BF<sub>3</sub>·OEt<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 78%.

The research group of Flynn<sup>118</sup> has also published their efforts towards colombiasin A (Scheme 30). They used an enantioselective double Diels–Alder approach to construct the tetracyclic framework of colombiasin A. Their strategy is similar to Rychnovsky's (Scheme 28), but differs in execution of the actual route. As a source of chirality they use sulfoxide **161**, which, after the first enantioselective Diels–Alder reaction, eliminates to give the substrate for the second intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction.



Scheme 30. Retrosynthetic analysis of a colombiasin A model study.

### 3.3 Modhephene

Modhephene (6) was the first isolated natural product shown to possess the [3.3.3]propellane skeleton. It was isolated for the first time in 1978 from *Isocoma* wrightii by Zalkov *et al.*<sup>122,123</sup> and has inspired a total of 19 syntheses of which 13 are formal. The different approaches can be classified into five different key reaction types,

namely acid catalyzed rearrangements, thermal rearrangements, photochemical rearrangements, anionic cyclizations and radical cyclizations (Scheme 31). Because of the number of syntheses published, only the key ring forming steps of each synthesis will be shown. The syntheses of modhephene until 1996 have appeared as a subsection in a review on polyquinane natural products.<sup>124</sup> There have also been two accounts of approaches towards modhephene.<sup>125,126</sup>

The stereoselective installation of the  $C_8$ -methyl group has been one of the greatest challenges in the synthesis of modhephene, further complicated by difficulties in separation of diastereomers.



Scheme 31. Classification of different approaches towards modhephene by key reaction.

### 3.3.1 Acid catalyzed rearrangement

Smith and Jerris published one of the first total syntheses of modhephene (6) (Scheme 32) in 1981 (others followed shortly after; a total of three different total syntheses were published in 1981 and one in 1980).<sup>127,128</sup> They utilized Cargill's work on acid catalyzed rearrangements of  $\beta$ , $\gamma$ -unsaturated ketones<sup>129</sup> to perform the key ring forming step, namely **163**  $\rightarrow$  **164**. Ketone **163** was synthesized from enone **162** via a [2+2] photochemical cyclization, which, unfortunately, gave only ca. 1.3:1 ratio of the C<sub>8</sub>-methyl group with the major diastereomer being the desired one.

In 1984, Wilkening and Mundy published a formal total synthesis of modhephene (6)<sup>130</sup> relying on a phosphorus pentoxide–methanesulfonic acid catalyzed rearrangement (166  $\rightarrow$  167).<sup>131</sup> Catalytic hydrogenation was used to obtain the correct stereochemistry at C<sub>8</sub> selectively. They also published a total synthesis of modhephene<sup>132</sup>, but later the Curran group (see Scheme 36) found that there was a discrepancy with the assignment of a common intermediate (see ref. 47 in the paper).<sup>133</sup> Since Wilkening and Mundy only had

mass spectral data of modhephene, this casts doubt over the identity of the products in the total synthesis.<sup>a</sup>

Modhephene by acid catalyzed rearrangement (= ACRR)

(±)-Modhephene/Smith 1981





**Scheme 32.** a) *p*-TsOH, PhH, reflux, 4 h, 64%, α-Me:β-Me 57:43. b) MeLi, THF, rt, overnight, 80%; c) MsOH,  $P_2O_5$ , 85 °C, 44 h, 22%. d) allene, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 94%, 4.5:1 selectivity; e) LiBr, HMPA, PhH, 60 °C, 86%, 10:1 selectivity. f) *p*-TsOH, PhH, 70 °C, 20 min, 34%.

The key step in the formal synthesis by the Tobe group<sup>135</sup> is not an acid catalyzed rearrangement, but a very efficient lithium bromide–HMPA catalyzed<sup>136</sup> epoxide– carbonyl rearrangement<sup>137-140</sup> of epoxide **170**. Since the rearrangement is chelation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The Curran group also reports<sup>133</sup> (see ref. 70 in the paper) that there has been a misassignment of spectra of the two diastereomers of ketone **164** (Scheme 32) in the Smith paper.<sup>128</sup> Wilkening and Mundy used a sample provided by Smith to prove the identity of **164** and thus the product of their catalytic hydrogenation. Kraus and Shi<sup>134</sup> claim that the misassignment derives from the mix-up in Smith's data, but in fact the Mundy assignment was based on comparison with an authentic sample of **164** from Prof. Smith. It remains unclear whether Prof. Smith has sent the wrong diastereomer of **164** to Wilkening and Mundy or if there is a genuine error with the chemistry.

controlled, the less substituted carbon ( $C_6$ ) migrates with good selectivity. The precursor to epoxide **170**, olefin **169**, is made from the readily available enone **168**. It is interesting to note the similarity of the strategy to the Tobe group synthesis of marasmic acid (**4**) in Scheme 4.

Fitjer *et al.* have published a short and original synthesis of modhephene via an acid catalyzed cascade rearrangement of alcohol **173**.<sup>141-143</sup> The group has also studied the absolute configuration and optical rotation of modhephene by resolving an intermediate and preparing both (–)- and (+)-modhephene separately.<sup>144</sup>

# 3.3.2 Thermal rearrangement

Thermal rearrangement has been the strategy of choice for four different groups who synthesized modhephene (Scheme 33). Karpf and Dreiding utilized an  $\alpha$ -alkynone cyclization of alkyne **175** to construct the [3.3.3]propellane ring framework.<sup>145,146</sup> While the reaction gives a good yield, it also gives two other products in a 2:1:1 ratio that can be separated later. They arrive at the same intermediate as Smith and Jerris (**164**, see Scheme 32), but since the publications were received within eight days by the editorial staff of the journals, the syntheses can be considered independent.

Schostarez and Paquette used an intramolecular ene reaction of acetylene **176** to form the modhephene ring system in good yield in their short synthesis of modhephene.<sup>147,148</sup> Seven years later, Mash *et al.* published the first total synthesis of (–)-modhephene,<sup>149-151</sup> where a chiral auxiliary based strategy was used to synthesize enantiomerically enriched acetylene **176** (78% ee). From intermediate **176** onwards, they follow the footsteps of Schostarez and Paquette.

The Oppolzer group has published two different routes to **177** (see Scheme 32), a common intermediate to the Dreiding and Smith syntheses.<sup>152,153</sup> Of these, the latter is significantly shorter. The key transformation in their synthesis was the ene reaction of **178**, which produced propellane **179** selectively.

Modhephene by thermal rearrangement (= thermal RR)

(±)-Modhephene/Dreiding 1980



**Scheme 33.** a) 620 °C, 14 Torr, 1 h, 95%, 2:1:1 mixture of products. b) decalin, 360 °C, 4 h, 85%. c) tol, 250 °C, 16 h, 76%; d) H<sub>2</sub>, Pd/C, EtOH, rt, 12 h, 98%.

#### 3.3.3 Photochemical rearrangement

A photochemical rearrangement has been the basis of three different syntheses of modhephene (Scheme 34). In the first of them, by Wender and Dreyer, indan (**180**) and vinyl acetate were irradiated with Vycor-filtered light to produce a complex mixture from which acetate **181** was isolated in 21% yield.<sup>154</sup> This arene-olefin meta cycloaddition established the [3.3.3]propellane structure and the remaining steps were used to incorporate the required methyl groups into the molecule.

In their synthesis of modhephene,<sup>155-157</sup> Mehta and Subrahmanyam relied on a Diels-Alder reaction (182  $\rightarrow$  183) followed by an oxa-di- $\pi$ -methane rearrangement (183  $\rightarrow$  184).

The Uyehara group also chose an oxa-di- $\pi$ -methane rearrangement to construct the ring system of modhephene.<sup>158,159</sup> Irradiation of bicycle **185** for 1.5 hours provided tricyclic ketone **186** in 91% yield. To form the third 5-membered ring, ketone **186** was elaborated to bromide **187**, which cyclized to give propellane **188** in the presence of tributyltin hydride and AIBN.

Modhephene by photochemical rearrangement (= photo-RR)

(±)-Modhephene/Wender 1982



Scheme 34. a) hv, Vycor, vinyl acetate, cyclohexane, 35 h, 21%. b) 1-chloroacrylonitrile, tol, 80 °C, 16 h, 43%, 4:1 regioselectivity; c) Na<sub>2</sub>S·10H<sub>2</sub>O, EtOH, 60 °C, 6 h, 58%; d) hv, acetone, 45 min, 47%, 15:1 selectivity. e) hv, acetone, rt, 1.5 h, 91%; f) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, reflux, 2 h, 42%.

### 3.3.4 Anionic cyclization

An anionic cyclization has been employed by three research groups during their synthesis of modhephene (Scheme 35). Cook and co-workers<sup>160</sup> decided to use the Weiss reaction, <sup>161,162</sup> *i.e.* the reaction between dimethyl-3-ketoglutarate (**190**) and diketone **189**, to construct the [3.3.3]propellane system.

Kraus and Shi have published a formal total synthesis of modhephene utilizing a rearrangement of bridgehead bromide **192** with the anion of dimethyl methyl phosphonate followed by a potassium hydride mediated cyclization of the resulting phosphonate **193**.<sup>134,163</sup>

Suri's original but lengthy approach towards modhephene involved an intramolecular enolate alkylation of bromide **196** to provide the [3.3.3]propellane ring system.<sup>164</sup>

Modhephene by anionic cyclization (= AC)



**Scheme 35.** a) **190**, pH 5 aqueous buffer, rt, several days, then  $H_3O^+$ , heat. b) (MeO)<sub>2</sub>P(O)Me, *n*-BuLi, -78 °C, 15 min, then **192**, -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 h, 49%; c) [Ir(COD)(PCy<sub>3</sub>)(py)]PF<sub>6</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 15 h; d) KH, 18-crown-6, PhH, reflux, 6 h, 33% over 2 steps. e) LDA, HMPA, THF, -70 °C, 79%.

### 3.3.5 Radical reaction

Radical cyclizations have been the most popular way to make the [3.3.3]propellane ring system in modhephene. It has been the key reaction in six different total syntheses. In addition to the syntheses shown in Scheme 36, the Uyehara group has also utilized it to build the third unsubstituted ring of modhephene (see Scheme 34,  $187 \rightarrow 188$ ). The Curran group has published two different radical based syntheses of modhephene. The first was a formal total synthesis with sequential radical cyclizations<sup>133</sup> and the second used a tandem transannular radical cyclization.<sup>165</sup> Because their first route was significantly shorter and more effective (11 steps and 16% overall yield vs. 21 steps and 6% overall yield), it will be discussed here. Their strategy hinged on closing two of the three 5-membered rings with a radical reaction. Vinyl stannane **198** cyclized smoothly to give the *trans* ester **199**, which was further elaborated to give vinyl iodide **200**, which in turn provided enone **164** in 88% yield.

In their formal total synthesis of modhephene, Sha *et al.* also used an intramolecular radical cyclization.<sup>166</sup> Their substrate, iodoolefin **201** afforded 4:1 selectivity of the desired  $\alpha$ -C<sub>8</sub> diastereomer when exposed to the standard tributyltin hydride/AIBN conditions.

Lee *et al.* have published a short and successful tandem radical cyclization approach towards modhephene.<sup>167</sup> Cyclization of *N*-aziridinyl imine **204** provided >90% selectivity for the desired exocyclic olefin **205**. Recently, they published another tandem radical cyclization route to modhephene.<sup>168</sup>

Dvorak and Rawal synthesized their intramolecular radical cyclization substrate in an interesting manner.<sup>169</sup> They used a Diels–Alder reaction followed by a Paterno-Büchi reaction to access oxetane **206**. The hidden diquinane unit present in **206** was revealed by a direct fragmentation of **206** followed by oxidation of the remaining alcohol and selenation to give enone **207**. Then, exposure of **207** to tributyltin hydride and AIBN provided propellane **167** in 6:1 selectivity as the major product.

The latest synthesis of modhephene was published by De Boeck and Pattenden.<sup>170,171</sup> Their approach called for the construction of an 8-membered ring that was then cyclized by virtue of an  $\alpha$ -ketenyl radical intermediate to propellane **209**.

#### Modhephene by radical reaction

(±)-Modhephene/Curran\* 1990



**Scheme 36.** a) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, reflux, 10 h, 90%; b) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, DPPE, PhH, reflux, 7 h, 88%. c) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, 85%,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  4:1. d) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, 8 h, then SiO<sub>2</sub>, 74%,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  >9:1. e) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, -78 °C,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  6:1. f) 2-(*o*-IC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>)CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>SH, DCC, DMAP, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 85%; g) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, reflux, 59%.

# 4. Propellanes with lactones

## 4.1 Ginkgolide B

Ginkgolide B (**210**) is a complex polyoxygenated and polycyclic natural product isolated from the extracts of *Ginkgo biloba*.<sup>172-174</sup> It is the most active platelet activating factor (PAF) antagonist isolated from ginkgo extracts. This synthetically challenging molecule has been the target of two different total syntheses, by the groups of Corey<sup>175,176</sup> and Crimmins (Scheme 37).<sup>177-179</sup> The key ring forming transformation in the Corey group synthesis is an internal ketene-olefin cycloaddition whereas the Crimmins group relied on a [2+2] photocycloaddition.

(-)-Ginkgolide B/Corey 1988



(±)-Ginkgolide B/Crimmins 1999



Scheme 37. Retrosynthetic analysis of ginkgolide B.

The first ring forming step in the Corey group synthesis of ginkgolide B<sup>175,176,a</sup> was the internal ketene–olefin cycloaddition (Scheme 38).<sup>181,182</sup> Treatment of acid **217** with oxalyl chloride gave the corresponding acid chloride (**213**, see Scheme 37), which was then eliminated with tributylamine to form the ketene. The ketene immediately underwent cycloaddition followed by elimination of the anomeric methoxy group to give tetracyclic ketone **212**. Baeyer–Villiger oxidation by triphenylmethyl hydroperoxide then produced lactone **218**, which was further elaborated to more highly oxidized lactone **219**. Treatment of **219** with acid then provided the ABCDE ring fragment of ginkgolide B (**211**), that also contains a [3.3.3]propellane structure. Ten further steps afforded (–)-ginkgolide B (**210**).

(-)-Ginkgolide B/Corey 1988



**Scheme 38.** a) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, PhH, rt, 2 h, then b) *n*-Bu<sub>3</sub>N, tol, reflux, 3 h, 71-89% over 2 steps; c) Ph<sub>3</sub>COOH, 8:1 acetone:1 N NaOH, -30 °C, 2 h, 86%; *steps*; d) CSA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 24 h (75% over 2 steps).

The first key ring forming transformation in the Crimmins group's synthesis of ginkgolide B (Scheme 39)<sup>177-179</sup> was a [2+2] photocycloaddition of enoate **216**, which proceeded with remarkable efficiency and stereoselectivity to give a single cycloadduct **220** in quantitative yield. The E-ring of ginkgolide B was then closed via a sequence of silyl deprotection, mesylation and acid catalyzed cyclization. Next, the cyclobutane ring was opened with a retroaldol fragmentation via a one-pot selenylation–elimination sequence followed by epoxidation of the C<sub>10</sub>-C<sub>11</sub> double bond to furnish the dialdehyde hydrate **221**. Several steps later, the dilactone **222** was ready for the closure of ring D. Treatment of dilactone **222** with camphorsulfonic acid gave the ABCDE ring fragment **223**. Four more steps were required to deliver (±)-ginkgolide B (**210**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The Corey group syntheses of ginkgolide A, B and bilobalide have been thoroughly analyzed in Prof. Corey's Robert Robinson lecture.<sup>180</sup>

#### (±)-Ginkgolide B/Crimmins 1999



Scheme 39. a) hv, >350 nm, hexanes, rt, 17 h, quant.; b) 5% HF, MeCN, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 h; c) MsCl, Et<sub>3</sub>N, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 45 min; d) 4Å MS, EtOH, reflux, 26 h, then H<sub>2</sub>O, reflux, 8 h, then PPTS, PhH, reflux, 16 h, 63% from 220; e) PhSeCl, HCl, EtOAc, rt, 1 h, then NaIO<sub>4</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, THF, 2 h, rt; 78%; f) DMDO, acetone, H<sub>2</sub>O, 8 h, rt, then *p*-TsOH, rt, 15 h, 94%; *steps*; g) CSA, MeOH, reflux, 18 h, 88%; h) PPTS, pyr, PhCl, reflux, 4 h, 85%; i) VO(acac)<sub>2</sub>, TBHP, 4Å MS, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 4 d, then *p*-TsOH, rt, 2 h, 81%; j) DMDO, acetone, H<sub>2</sub>O, rt, 20 h; k) Br<sub>2</sub>, NaOAc, H<sub>2</sub>O, AcOH, rt, 20 h, 52% over 2 steps.

## 4.2 Merrilactone A

The pentacyclic sesquiterpene dilactone merrilactone A (**224**), isolated from *Illicim merrilianum* in 2000,<sup>183</sup> has already been the target of two formal total syntheses, by the Danishefsky group in 2002<sup>184,a</sup> and by the Inoue group a year later (Scheme 40).<sup>186</sup> The Danishefsky group had envisaged a radical cyclization to form the A ring and an "allyl-lactonization" to form the B ring. The CD ring fragment **226** could be formed with a ring cleavage–reclosure sequence of the Diels–Alder adduct **227**. The Inoue group strategy called for desymmetrization of *meso*-diketone **231** through an intramolecular aldol reaction. Mehta and Singh recently published their approach to the ABCD ring system of merrilactone A.<sup>187</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The Danishefsky group has recently published an enantioselective approach to intermediate **236** (scheme 41).<sup>185</sup>

(±)-Merrilactone A/ Danishefsky 2002



Scheme 40. Retrosynthetic analysis of merrilactone A.

The merrilactone A synthesis by Birman and Danishefsky commences with a Diels– Alder reaction of diene **228** and dimethylmaleic anhydride (**229**) (Scheme 41).<sup>184</sup> After reducing the C<sub>14</sub>-carbonyl (merrilactone A numbering) regioselectively, ozonolysis effected the opening of the 6-membered ring. This was followed by an aldol condensation to close the 5-membered ring to give enal **235**. Reduction of the aldehyde paved the way for the Johnson ortho ester variant of the Claisen rearrangement, which provided a 1:1.8 mixture of esters (**226**), which was subsequently hydrolyzed. Iodolactonization and chromatographic separation then gave the pure minor iodide **236**, which was allylated to prepare for the A ring cyclization. Selenylation at C<sub>10</sub>, bromoselenylation of the terminal vinyl group and oxidative deselenylation afforded the cyclization precursor **225**. Exposure of vinyl bromide **225** to tributyltin hydride and AIBN then effected the formation of the [3.3.3]propellane **237**. Isomerization of the exocyclic double bond, epoxidation and acid catalyzed homo-Payne rearrangement according to the procedure of Fukuyama and co-workers<sup>188</sup> produced (±)-merrilactone A (**224**) in 71% yield over two steps. (±)-Merrilactone A/ Danishefsky 2002



Scheme 41. a) symm-collidine, Methylene Blue, mesitylene, 165 °C, 2.5 d, 74%; *steps*; b) O<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, MeOH, -78 °C, then PPh<sub>3</sub>,  $\rightarrow$  rt; c) Bn<sub>2</sub>NH·TFA, PhH, 63 °C, 9 h, 94% over 2 steps; d) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, MeOH, -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, quant.; e) MeC(OEt)<sub>3</sub>, PivOH, mesitylene, 135 °C, 24 h, 92%,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  1:1.8; f) LiOH, MeOH, H<sub>2</sub>O, rt 12 h, g) I<sub>2</sub>, NaCHO<sub>3</sub>, THF, rt, 12 h, then separation, 59% over 2 steps; h) allylSnBu<sub>3</sub>, AIBN, PhH, 85 °C, 4.5 h, 75%; i) LHMDS, TMSCl, THF, -78 °C, 30 min, then PhSeCl,  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1.5 h; j) PhSeBr, MeCN, rt, 30 min; k) O<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, then 1-hexene, then NEt<sub>2</sub>, PhH, reflux, 30 min, 77% over 3 steps; l) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, 85 °C, 1.5 h, 90%; m) TsOH·H<sub>2</sub>O, PhH, reflux, 3 h, 90%; n) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 2 d,  $\alpha$ : $\beta$  3.5:1, o)<sup>188</sup> TsOH·H<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 1 d, 71% over 2 steps.

The first step in the Inoue group's synthesis towards merrilactone A was a [2+2] photocycloaddition between 1,2-dichloroethene (233) and dimethylmaleic anhydride (229) (Scheme 42).<sup>186</sup> The side chains of the symmetrical diol 232 were installed so that ring closing metathesis could be performed. This was followed by opening of the 4-membered ring to give diketone 231. Exposure of 231 to LHMDS provided the AC ring fragment 240 $\alpha\alpha$  together with the A ring diastereomer 240 $\beta\beta$  in a 3.1:1 ratio, respectively. A two-carbon side chain was attached to the C<sub>4</sub>-hydroxyl of ring A (merrilactone A numbering) to allow the B ring cyclization to be performed. With the enoate 241 in hand, cyclization with tributyltin hydride and triethyl borane gave the ABC ring fragment 242 of merrilactone A. Another 13 steps were required to finish the synthesis of (±)-merrilactone A (224).

(±)-Merrilactone A/ Inoue 2003



Scheme 42. a) hv, benzophenone, acetone, rt, 3 h; *steps*; b) *i*. (PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>Ru=CHPh, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, reflux, 14 h, then *ii*. Pb(OAc)<sub>4</sub>, rt, 95%; c) LHMDS, THF, -78 °C, 1 h, 64% **240** $\alpha\alpha$ , 22% **240** $\beta\beta$ ; d) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 4 h, 81%; e) DBU, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -30 °C, 1 h, 81%, f) IBX, DMSO, rt, 30 min, 94%, g) Br<sub>2</sub>, ethyl vinyl ether, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 15 min, then sm, *N*,*N*-dimethylaniline,  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 d, 62%, 4:1 selectivity; h) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, BEt<sub>3</sub>/O<sub>2</sub>, tol, rt, 30 min, 57% **242** $\beta$ , 16% **242** $\alpha$ .

# 5. Indole alkaloids

Indole alkaloids are a large group of nitrogen containing natural products. The scope of this review covers the syntheses of four of them, namely 1-acetylaspidoalbidine, aspidophytine, kopsanone and lapidilectine B, because these natural products can also be classified as propellanes. They have been further divided into two groups on the basis of similarities in their structures (Schemes 43 and 48).

# 5.1 1-Acetylaspidoalbidine and aspidophytine

1-Acetylaspidoalbidine (**244**) was isolated in 1963 from *Vallesia dichotoma* RUIZ ET PAV<sup>189</sup> and the structure was proposed originally by Walser and Djerassi in 1964.<sup>190</sup> Several syntheses of the molecule have been reported in the literature, by the groups of Ban<sup>191-193</sup> and Overman (Scheme 43).<sup>194</sup> The Ban group has considerable experience in this area and confirmed the structure of 1-acetylaspidoalbidine by total synthesis in 1975.<sup>193</sup> The route described herein is the latest of their total syntheses of this compound. The Overman group's synthesis is based on a tandem aza-Cope–Mannich process with the disconnections shown in Scheme 43.

The structure of aspidophytine (250) differs from 1-acetylaspidoalbidine (244) only in the degree of unsaturation at the  $C_{16}$ - $C_{17}$  bond and at  $C_{18}$  and in the substitution of the

aromatic ring. Aspidophytine is actually a degradation product of haplophytine (**243**), which was isolated from *Haplophyton cimicidum* in Mexico.<sup>195,196</sup> Aspidophytine has inspired two total syntheses to date by the Corey<sup>197</sup> and Fukuyama<sup>198,199</sup> groups. The retrosynthetic analyses of these syntheses (Scheme 43) show the same basic disconnections, but the order of realization is different.





Scheme 43. Retrosynthetic analyses of 1-acetoxyaspidoalbidine and aspidophytine.

The key step in the 1-acetylaspidoalbidine synthesis by the Ban group is the acid catalyzed transannular cyclization of diol **245** to the pentacyclic alcohol **257**, only three steps from the natural product itself (Scheme 44).<sup>191-193</sup> As the ultimate step, mercury(II)acetate effects the final cyclization to give the [4.4.3]propellane structure.<sup>200</sup>





**Scheme 44.** a) 10% HCl, THF, 0 °C, 30 min, 70%; b) LiAlH<sub>4</sub>; c) acetylation; d) Hg(OAc)<sub>2</sub>, 5% AcOH, 65-70 °C, 7 h, 64%.

The key ring forming transformation in the formal total synthesis of 1acetylaspidoalbidine by the Overman group<sup>194</sup> is the aza-Cope rearrangement–Mannich cyclization sequence that was developed in the group (Scheme 45).<sup>109</sup> The treatment of aminoalcohol **247** with paraformaldehyde effects an imine formation, which is followed by an aza-Cope [3,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement–Mannich cyclization under acidic conditions to provide pentacycle **258**. The five following steps then conclude the synthesis of (±)-1-acetylaspidoalbidine (**244**).

Scheme 45. a)  $(CH_2O)_n$ ,  $Na_2SO_4$ , tol, rt, 24 h, quant.; b) CSA,  $Na_2SO_4$ , PhH, reflux, 2.5 h; c) LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, THF, 0 °C, 2 h, 67% over 2 steps; d) Na, NH<sub>3</sub>, THF, -70 °C, quant.; e) Pd/C, HCO<sub>2</sub>NH<sub>4</sub>, EtOH, reflux, 1 h, 98%; f) Ac<sub>2</sub>O; [g)<sup>193</sup> Hg(OAc)<sub>2</sub>, 5% AcOH, 65-70 °C, 7 h, 64%, reaction not performed, formal total synthesis].

The Corey group devised the concise and convergent synthesis of aspidophytine **250** shown in Scheme 46.<sup>197</sup> The key transformation was an acid catalyzed cascade cyclization of the tryptamine derivative **252** and dialdehyde **253**, which forms the pentacyclic core of the molecule. Then, after having hydrolyzed the pivalate of **259**, potassium ferricyanide effected an oxidative lactonization to the [4.4.3]propellane **260**. An oxidative cleavage of the exocyclic double bond in **260** followed by enol triflate formation and treatment with tributyltin hydride provided (–)-aspidophytine (**250**).

(-)-Aspidophytine/Corey 1999



Scheme 46. a) MeCN, rt, 5 min, then TFAA, 0 °C, 2 h, then NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 30 min, 66%; b) NaOH, EtOH, 75 °C, 20 h, 88%; c) K<sub>3</sub>Fe(CN)<sub>6</sub>, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, *t*-BuOH:H<sub>2</sub>O 1:2, rt, (fast), 92%, d) OsO<sub>4</sub>, DMAP, *t*-BuOH:H<sub>2</sub>O 1:2, rt, 5-10 min, then Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub>; e) Pb(OAc)<sub>4</sub>, AcOH, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -20 °C, 5-10 min, 71% over 2 steps; f) KHMDS, THF, -78 °C, 30 min, then PhNTf<sub>2</sub>, 54%; g) Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, THF, rt, 1 h, 86%.

A Sonogashira coupling between iodoindole **255** and acetylene **256** is the first step towards forming the propellane ring system of aspidophytine in the Fukuyama group's synthesis (Scheme 47).<sup>198,199</sup> The coupled product was Boc-protected and the triple bond was reduced selectively to olefin **254**. Changing the C<sub>5</sub> substituent to a nosylate-activated nitrogen enabled the formation of the 11-membered ring (**262**) once the C<sub>3</sub>-alcohol was deprotected. Removing the nosylate and exposure of the product to trifluoroacetic acid furnished the pentacycle **263** in 56% yield over two steps. Conversion of the imine of **263** to the corresponding *N*-methylindole derivative followed by lactone formation to close the last remaining ring provided (–)-aspidophytine (**250**).

(-)-Aspidophytine/Fukuyama 2003 OTBDPS OTBDPS OAc NsHN OAc OTBDPS R a, b, c d, e . ĊO₂Et ĊO<sub>2</sub>Et CO<sub>2</sub>Et MeC MeO Boc Boc ÓМе ÓМе ÓМе 255 256  $R = CH(OMe)_2$ 254 261 f, g, h Ns CO<sub>2</sub>Et Ń OHC k, I, m MeC MeO MeO ĊO<sub>2</sub>Et Boc Me ÓМе ÒМе ÓMe 250: Aspidophytine 263 262

**Scheme 47.** a) Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>, CuI, EtN<sub>3</sub>, 70 °C, 2 h, 78%; b) Boc<sub>2</sub>O, DMAP, CH<sub>3</sub>CN, rt, 15 min, 94%; c) Pd/C, H<sub>2</sub>, EtOH, rt, 3.5 h, 97%; d) K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, MeOH, rt, 1 h, 96%; e) *o*-NsNH<sub>2</sub>, PPh<sub>3</sub>, PhH, DEAD, rt, 5 min, 93%; f) TBAF, THF, rt, 1 h, 93%; g) PPh<sub>3</sub>, DEAD, PhH, rt, 5 min, 92%; h) TMSBr, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 70 °C, 15 min, then pH 7.0 buffer, 92%; i) PhSH, Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, MeCN, 55 °C, 20 min; j) TFA, Me<sub>2</sub>S, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 5 min, then pH 7.8 buffer, EtOAc, 5 °C, 30 min, 56% over 2 steps; k) HCHO, pH 7.0 buffer, MeOH, H<sub>2</sub>O, NaBH<sub>3</sub>CN, -70 °C, 30 min,  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, 67%; l) NaOH, EtOH, 70 °C, 2.5 h, then HCl, 5 °C, 52 %; m) K<sub>3</sub>Fe(CN)<sub>6</sub>, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, *t*-BuOH:H<sub>2</sub>O 1:2, 5 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 10 min, 56%.

## 5.2 Kopsanone and lapidilectine B

The kopsane alkaloids have been known since  $1890,^{201}$  but their structures remained unknown until the 1960's. Two total syntheses and one formal total synthesis have been published for kopsanone (**264**), a member of this group (Scheme 48). The syntheses of the Natsume<sup>202,203</sup> and Kuehne<sup>204</sup> groups use the same methods to install the [4.3.3]propellane ring system so only the earlier synthesis from the Kuehne group is discussed here in detail (see Scheme 48). The Kerr group has also published an approach towards kopsane alkaloids.<sup>205</sup> A key step in the first published synthesis of kopsanone by Magnus *et al.* is the intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction of **265**.<sup>206,207</sup> The Kuehne group

synthesis is based on a Diels–Alder reaction between diene **267** and phenyl vinyl sulfone.<sup>204</sup>

Lapidilectine B (**270**) was isolated from *Kopsia lapidilecta* in 1992<sup>208</sup> and was synthesized by the group of Pearson (Scheme 48).<sup>209,210</sup> The main features of the synthesis of this polycyclic indole alkaloid include a Smalley azido–enolate cyclization to form the indoxy core of the molecule.



Scheme 48. Retrosynthetic analyses of kopsanone and lapidilectine B.

The synthesis of the propellane moiety of kopsanone by Magnus *et al.* began with the treatment of vinyl chloride **266** with trichloroethyl chloroformate and gave tetracycle **273** in 50% yield (Scheme 49).<sup>206,207</sup> After installing the diene portion and the allylic side chain, the stage was set for the intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction of **265**, which provided the [4.3.3]propellane **274** in 81% yield. Six more steps were required to finish the first total synthesis of ( $\pm$ )-kopsanone (**264**).

(±)-Kopsanone/Magnus 1984



**Scheme 49.** a) Cl<sub>3</sub>CCH<sub>2</sub>OCOCl, *i*-Pr<sub>2</sub>NEt, PhCl,  $0 \rightarrow 120$  °C, 40 min, then 120 °C, 8 h, 50%; *steps*; b) 95-100 °C, PhH, 4 h, 81%.

In the Kuehne group synthesis of kopsanone (Scheme 50),<sup>204</sup> the key pentacyclic intermediate **276** came from an adaptation of a biomimetic secodine cyclization that they had investigated extensively.<sup>211</sup> Benzylation of the indole nitrogen and oxidative elimination of the selenyl group afforded *N*-oxide **267**, which was ready for the Diels–Alder cyclization. Heating of diene **267** with phenyl vinyl sulfone effected the formation of hexacycle **277** after reduction of the double bond and the sulfone with Raney nickel. Finally, heating of ester **277** to 210 °C for 36 h provided ( $\pm$ )-kopsanone (**264**).



**Scheme 50.** a) **275**, H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, reflux, 12 h, 33%; b) BnBr, NaH, DMF, rt, 30 min, 86%; c) *m*-CPBA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -78 °C, 79%; d) phenyl vinyl sulfone, PhH, 100 °C, 16 h, 57%; e) Raney-Ni, EtOH, reflux, 3 h, 67%; f) MeOH, 210 °C, 36 h, 88%.

Treatment of azide **272** with potassium hydroxide is the first ring-forming step in the lapidilectine B synthesis by Pearson *et al.* (Scheme 51).<sup>209,210</sup> The Smalley cyclization provided an indole derivative that was then protected at the nitrogen and dihydroxylated to give diol **278** in 6:1 selectivity. Allylation of the ketone followed by oxidative cleavage of the diol and treatment with camphorsulfonic acid furnished methyl acetal **279**. After closing the pyrroline ring with a cycloaddition (see Scheme 48), mesylate **280** was ready for the final 8-membered ring closure. Removing the Teoc-group from the pyrroline nitrogen and treatment of the remaining salt with diisopropylethylamine provided ( $\pm$ )-lapidilectine B (**270**).

(±)-Lapidilectine B/Pearson 2001



**Scheme 51.** a) KOH, *i*-PrOH, 15 °C, 1 h, (68% over 2 steps), 2.2:1 selectivity; b) *t*-BuLi, ClCO<sub>2</sub>Me, THF, -10 °C, 30 min, 89%; c) OsO<sub>4</sub>, NMO, acetone, rt, overnight, 82%, 6:1 selectivity; d) allylMgBr, THF, -40 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, overnight, 90%; e) NaIO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7 buffer, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, overnight; f) CSA, MeOH, 1 h, rt, 59% over 2 steps; *steps*; g) TFA, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 30 min; h) *i*-Pr<sub>2</sub>NEt, MeCN, rt, 2 h, then 60 °C, 10 h, 76% over 2 steps.

# 6. Other alkaloids

Other than the indole alkaloids covered in Chapter 5, only the syntheses of four alkaloids with the propellane ring structure have appeared in the literature. Two of these, namely cepharamine and metaphanine, share a common ring structure called the hasubanan skeleton and will be discussed together in Section 6.2. Three research groups have reported on their synthetic efforts towards the hasubanan skeleton and these will also be briefly discussed in the same section.

### 6.1 Annotinine

The same research group that reported the total synthesis of the *Lycopodium* alkaloid annotinine (**284**) in 1967<sup>212-215</sup> deduced the structure of the molecule during the years 1956-1957 (Scheme 52).<sup>216</sup> Their synthesis starts with a condensation of acrylic acid and vinylogous amide **281** to provide the [2+2] photochemical cycloaddition substrate **282**. The cycloaddition of **282** with allene proceeded smoothly to give the ABCD ring system of annotinine (**283**). Several more steps, including an optical resolution, were required to finish the synthesis of (–)-annotinine (**284**).



Scheme 52. a) acrylic acid, 135 °C, 2 h, 63%; b) allene, hv, -70 °C, 20 h, 54%.

### 6.2 Cepharamine and the hasubanan skeleton

Three total syntheses of cepharamine (**290**) have been published (Scheme 53), an alkaloid isolated from *Stephania cepharantha* Hayata in 1966.<sup>217</sup> The Ibuka group published the

first total synthesis in 1969,218[Inubushi, 1971 #163] then the Tahk group published in

1970<sup>219</sup> and Schultz in 1998.<sup>220</sup> Ibuka et al. has also published a synthesis of methaphanine (285)<sup>221,222</sup> and hasubanonine (286)<sup>223,224</sup> but since these syntheses use the same methodology to form the [4.3.3] propellane ring system as in their synthesis of cepharamine, they will not be discussed here in more detail.

In the Ibuka group synthesis of cepharamine (290) (Scheme 53),<sup>218,225</sup> the key ring forming step was the formation of the CD ring system. Exposure of nitrile 291 to methyl vinyl ketone (MVK) followed by treatment with sodium ethoxide provided ketoamide 292 in 50% yield.

In the formal total synthesis of cepharamine by the Tahk group (Scheme 53),<sup>219</sup> the CD ring system was formed by treatment of cyclopropyl ketone 287 with methylamine to afford the ring expansion product 288.

(289).

Annulation with methyl vinyl ketone then completed the ring system of cepharamine

The Schultz group strategy for the synthesis of cepharamine differs significantly from the previous syntheses (Scheme 53).<sup>220</sup> The key step in their synthesis was a radical cyclization of 293 followed by hydrolysis of the formate ester to give the ABC ring fragment **294**. After a MOM-protection and a Hofmann-type rearrangement to transform the 5-membered lactone to a 6-membered lactam ring, treatment with lithium aluminium hydride provided alcohol 295. This alcohol was then transformed into (+)-cepharamine ((+)-290), the unnatural enantiomer of the molecule, in three steps.



OMe OMe 0 OMe MeÓMe 286: Hasubanonine



Scheme 53. a) MeNH<sub>2</sub>, CaO, PhH, 100-110 °C, 7 d, 69%; b) MVK, rt, 1 h, then AcOH,  $40 \rightarrow -78$  °C, evacuated to 125 mmHg,  $\rightarrow 70$  °C, 5 h, 20 %. c) MVK, NaOH, MeOH, reflux, 45 min; d) Na, EtOH, reflux, 4 h, 50% over 2 steps. e) Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, AIBN, PhH, 80 °C, 10 h; f) K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, MeOH, THF, H<sub>2</sub>O, rt, overnight, 56% over 2 steps; g) NaH, MOMCl, THF, reflux, 15 h, 99%; h) NaNH<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>, THF, -30 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h; i) NaOMe, Br<sub>2</sub>, MeOH, THF, -78 °C, 1 h,  $\rightarrow$  reflux, 1 h, 93% over 2 steps; j) LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, THF, reflux, 22 h, 99%; k) (COCl)<sub>2</sub>, DMSO, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>,  $-78 \rightarrow 10$ °C, 1 h, then Et<sub>3</sub>N, -10 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 30 min, 85%; l) KH, 18-crown-6, DMF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 30 min, then MeI, rt, 15 h, 65%; m) *p*-TsOH, acetone, H<sub>2</sub>O, 60 °C, 39 h, 97%.

The synthetic efforts towards the hasubanan skeleton are summarized in Scheme 54. The key transformation in the Evans group approach is a Diels–Alder reaction between tetrahydrobenzindole **296** and sulfoxide **297** to give tetracycle **298**.<sup>226-228</sup> Bruderer *et al.* used a dehydration to achieve the closure of the 5-membered pyrroline ring (**300**  $\rightarrow$  **301**). An acid catalyzed cyclization then furnished tetracycle **302**.<sup>229</sup> The latest synthesis of the hasubanan skeleton by the Mulzer group features an intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of **304** followed by a subsequent elimination of N<sub>2</sub> to give aminoenone **306**.<sup>230</sup>

#### (±)-Hasubanan skeleton/Evans 1972



**Scheme 54.** a) MeCN, 70 °C, 24 h; b) Na<sub>2</sub>S·9H<sub>2</sub>O, MeOH, 65 °C, 8 h. c) POCl<sub>3</sub>, pyr, reflux, 5 h; d) NH<sub>3</sub>, Raney-Ni, H<sub>2</sub>, EtOH, 80 °C, 38% over 2 steps; e) HCl, H<sub>2</sub>O, reflux, 1 h, 83%. f) PhH, reflux, 1 h, 76%; g) pyr, reflux, 5 h, 73%.

## 6.3 Bathrachotoxinin A

Bathrachotoxinin A (**312**) is a unique steroidal alkaloid that possesses several interesting structural features. It has been synthesized partially from steroid precursors by Wehrli and co-workers.<sup>231,232</sup> A total synthesis was published by the Kishi group in 1998 (Scheme 55).<sup>233</sup> The synthesis features an *exo*-selective intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction (step a) and an oxy-Michael addition (step d).
#### (±)-Batrachotoxinin A/Kishi 1998



Scheme 55. a) Mn<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 1 h; then filtration; then CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 12 h; b) **308**, AcOH, 4Å MS, PhH, rt, 3 h; then NaCNBH<sub>3</sub>, MeOH, 0 °C, 15 min; c) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, pyr, rt, overnight, 76% over 3 steps, >25:1 selectivity; *steps*; d) TASF, THF:DMF 10:1, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 h; then PhNTf<sub>2</sub>, Et<sub>3</sub>N, 30 min, rt, 95%.

## 7. Summary

The syntheses of propellane containing natural products have been reviewed with the emphasis being on natural products which contain a three-membered ring as part of the propellane structure. Propellanes are a well-established structural motif that can be found in diverse natural products. This makes their total synthesis a challenging task because no generally applicable method can be utilized in the syntheses. However, the Diels–Alder reaction arises as one of the more commonly applied ring forming reactions among these syntheses.<sup>34</sup>

For the cyclopropane ring containing natural products described here, only two different methods for the formation of the cyclopropane ring have been applied. Potential new avenues for synthesizing [n.n.1] propellane containing natural products could involve both inter- and intramolecular cyclopropanation reactions.

## 8. Synthesis of DEFG ring system of cneorin C

## 8.1 Introduction: cneorins

Cneorin C (3) (Figure 6) was originally isolated from the xerophytic shrub Cneorum pulverulentum, native to the Canary Islands, in the late 1970's.<sup>234</sup> This shrub hosts a variety of bitter principles called cneorins, all of which contain the [4.3.1] propellane ring system. These oxidized pentanortriterpenes (C<sub>25</sub> compounds) also have other interesting structural features in common, such as a 5,5-spiroketal unit and a butenolide moiety. Biogenetically these compounds are thought to be related to the limonoid triterpenes.<sup>235</sup> Due to a lack of material from natural sources, these compounds have not received proper pharmacological screening. In addition to Cneorum pulverulentum, the Cneoraceae plant family consists of two other species, Cneorum tricoccon, which is native to coastal areas of the western Mediterranean, and *Cneorum trimerum*, which belongs to the flora of Cuba. The tricoccins (Figure 6) were isolated from the former, but the latter has not been adequately studied due to a lack of access to the required plant materials. Recently, some close structural relatives of the eneorins, the cedkathryns (316), were isolated from Cedrelopsis gracilis from Madagascar (Figure 6).<sup>236</sup> In addition, some compounds that could result from rearrangements of the cneorins or the tricoccins, for example cedmilinol (317), have been isolated from Cedrelopsis grevei.<sup>237</sup>



Figure 6. Selected structures of natural products related to cneorin C.

Despite cneorin C's intriguing structure, the molecule has not attracted synthetic attention except from our group.<sup>238</sup> Retrosynthetically (Scheme 56), the structure of the molecule can be divided into two advanced substructures, namely hydroxyketone **318**, which consists of the DEFG rings of the molecule, and the A ring butenolide fragment **319**. It was envisaged that when fragments **318** and **319** were joined, the rings B and C would also simultaneously close. The Koskinen group has long been interested in copper-catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanations of diazomalonates.<sup>239-243</sup> As evident from the retrosynthetic analysis shown in Scheme 56, the DEFG ring system of cneorin C (**318**) is an ideal candidate for the intramolecular cyclopropanation of diazomalonate **320**, which can be conveniently prepared from the furyl substituted allylic alcohol (*S*)-**321**.



Scheme 56. Retrosynthetic analysis of cneorin C.

Thus, the synthesis of the DEFG ring system of cneorin C can be divided into three smaller subgoals: (1) securing access to the allylic alcohol (*S*)-**321** efficiently and enantioselectively, (2) performing the cyclopropanation reaction to yield the EFG ring fragment and (3) closing the D ring to obtain the [4.3.1]propellane structure.

## 8.2 Synthesis of DEFG ring fragment: the early steps

As the first task, I undertook the preparation of allylic alcohol **321** in racemic form. Two different synthetic routes were devised to gain access to allylic alcohol **321**, both of which involved coupling of an aldehyde (either **326** or **332**) with a bromide (either **327** or **331**) (Schemes 57 and 58).

Enal **326** was prepared from 3-iodopropanol (**322**) via a Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction of phosphonate **324** with paraformaldehyde (Scheme 57).<sup>244,245</sup> The enal **326** was then alkylated with 3-furyl lithium yielding the racemic furyl substituted allyl alcohol *rac*-**321**.



**Scheme 57.** a) TBDPSCl, imid., CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 15 min, 88%; b)<sup>244</sup> NaH, trimethyl phosphonoacetate (**323**), DMSO, rt, 70 min, then sm, 3 h, 71%; c)<sup>245</sup> paraformaldehyde, K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, THF, reflux, 6 h, 71%; d) DIBAL-H, THF, -78 °C, 30 min, 99%; e) MnO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 27 h, 94%; f) 3-bromofuran (**327**), *t*-BuLi, THF, -78 °C, 40 min, then **326**, 2 h, 87%.

An alternative preparation of the racemic alcohol *rac*-**321** was developed as follows: vinyl bromide **331** (Scheme 58) was prepared according to the literature<sup>246</sup> from *t*-butyl acetate (**328**) and 2,3-dibromopropene (**329**). The vinyl bromide **331** was then converted to the corresponding vinyl lithium species by halogen metal exchange with *t*-BuLi and treated with 3-furaldehyde (**332**) as the electrophile to furnish the racemic furyl substituted allyl alcohol *rac*-**321**. This route was found to be the more efficient way to obtain alcohol *rac*-**321** (overall yield 47% for Scheme 58 vs. 36% for Scheme 57).



Scheme 58. a)<sup>246</sup> LDA, 328, THF, -78 °C, 1 h, then 329, -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2.5 h, 82%; b)<sup>246</sup> LiAlH<sub>4</sub>, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, 95%; c) TBDPSCl, imid., CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 50 min, 90%; d) 331, *t*-BuLi, THF, -78 °C, 30 min, then 3-furaldehyde (332), -78 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, 70%.

### 8.3 Enantioselective synthesis of furyl substituted allyl alcohol 321

The preparation of enantiopure compounds is of crucial importance in modern organic synthesis, and chiral allylic alcohols provide a useful template for a variety of stereoselective transformations of olefins. The stereogenic center of the allylic alcohol can be used to direct a variety of synthetic transformations, for example epoxidations<sup>247,248</sup> and dihydroxylations.<sup>249</sup> In a recent example, Evans' synthesis of pectenotoxins-4 and -8 utilizes a hydroxyl directed epoxidation twice in a highly diastereoselective manner.<sup>250,251</sup> This section describes our journey towards the preparation of enantiopure allylic alcohol (*S*)-**321**.<sup>238</sup>

#### 8.3.1 Enantioselective alkylation

The first attempt to obtain (*S*)-**321** utilized a catalytic enantioselective alkylation.<sup>252,253</sup> It was envisaged that a vinyl bromide could be converted to a vinyl zinc species and added to an aldehyde in the presence of a chiral ligand in an enantioselective manner (Figure 7). Two different routes were attempted: (1) alkylation of 3-furaldehyde (**332**) with the vinyl bromide **331** (Scheme 58) and (2) alkylation of enal **326** with 3-furylbromide (**327**) (Scheme 57). In the first case with vinyl bromide **331** and 3-furaldehyde, the vinyl zinc species was never formed and only unreacted vinyl bromide was recovered. In the second case with enal **326** and 3-furylbromide, the corresponding furyl zinc species was not reactive enough to add to the aldehyde, which was recovered.



Figure 7. Two routes for enantioselective alkylation.

Also, the alkylation reactions with the lithiated species described in Schemes 57 and 58 were found to be relatively fast, so it was suspected that in a catalytic enantioselective

alkylation the uncatalyzed racemic background reaction would diminish the ee of the product.

#### 8.3.2 CBS reduction

My second approach to the problem was to convert the furyl substituted allyl alcohol to the corresponding enone followed by an enantioselective reduction. Thus, the alcohol *rac*-**321** was oxidized to ketone **333** with MnO<sub>2</sub> (Scheme 59).<sup>254</sup> The Corey-Bakshi-Shibata (CBS) reduction<sup>255</sup> is a widely established catalytic asymmetric reduction method. In this case, reduction of ketone **333** with BH<sub>3</sub>·SMe<sub>2</sub> in the presence of the chiral catalyst **334a-b**<sup>256,257</sup> gave the alcohol in 35% ee at its best (Scheme 59, table 1). BINAL reduction<sup>258,259</sup> as well as DIP-chloride reduction<sup>260-263</sup> were also tried, but only starting material was recovered.



Scheme 59. a)  $MnO_2$ ,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , rt, 27 h, 83%; b) catalyst 334a-b, THF, -20 °C. See table 1 for details. Yields were not determined.

Table 1. CBS-reduction of enone 333.

entry	reagents	% ee	time (h)
1	BH <sub>3</sub> ·SMe <sub>2</sub> , <b>334a</b>	35	114
2	BH <sub>3</sub> SMe <sub>2</sub> , <b>334b</b>	13	70
3	catecholborane, 334b	22	67

#### 8.3.3 Kinetic resolution by Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation

The third approach to (*S*)-**321** was kinetic resolution of the furyl substituted allyl alcohols *via* Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation (SAE).<sup>264,265</sup> Both diethyl and diisopropyl tartrates were tested, both giving 50% conversion to the alcohol (*S*)-**321** with 57 and 68% ee, respectively, after two days of reaction at -20 °C (Scheme 60, table 2). The enantiopurity of the corresponding epoxide **335** was very high with both tartrates. One reason to account for the ee difference of alcohol (*S*)-**321** with the two tartrates is that with a smaller tartrate the allylic double bond of the furan ring starts to epoxidize, thus causing the molecule to decompose faster.



**Scheme 60.** a) (+)-tartrate, Ti(O-*i*-Pr)<sub>4</sub>, 3Å MS, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, -20 °C, 60 min, then TBHP, 2 d. See table 2 for details. Conversion 50% according to NMR.

Table 2. Kinetic resolution by Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation.

		(S	)-321		335
entry	tartrate	% ee	yield (%) <sup>a</sup>	% ee	yield (%) <sup>a</sup>
1	(+)-DET	57	38%	96	36%
2	(+)-DIPT	68	37%	94	39%
-					

<sup>a</sup>Maximum theoretical yield 50%.

#### 8.3.4 Enzymatic kinetic resolution

Hampered by these not very satisfying results I turned to our collaborators in the University of Turku, the research group of Prof. Liisa Kanerva. They have been actively studying enzymatic kinetic resolutions via acylations and deacylations for some time.<sup>266-271</sup> They undertook the task of producing enantiomerically pure (*S*)-**321** and the results are shown below.

The capacities of *Candida antarctica* lipase B (CAL-B) and the lipase from *Pseudomonas cepacia* (lipase PS) are well recognized for carrying out highly enantioselective acylations of racemic secondary alcohols.<sup>272</sup> Especially in the case of sterically hindered substrates, it is advisable to add the relatively rarely applied *Candida antarctica* lipase A (CAL-A) to the list of potential lipases.<sup>266-271</sup> Thus, the above lipases (CAL-A and lipase PS adsorbed on Celite ® in the presence of sucrose<sup>273</sup> and commercially available CAL-B and lipase PS-C II immobilized on ceramic) were screened for the enantioselective acylation of *rac*-**321** with 2,2,2-trifluoroethyl butanoate in methyl *t*-butyl ether (MTBE) at room temperature (Scheme 61, table 3). CAL-B (entry 10) and the lipase PS preparations (entries 11 and 12) performed poorly under the reaction conditions while CAL-A catalyzed a fast formation of (*S*)-butanoate **336b** (entry 7) in a highly enantioselective manner (E > 300). MTBE was chosen as the solvent due to its positive effects on reactivity (measured as a conversion reached after 1 h; entries 1-7) and its convenient boiling point (55.2 °C) for the gram-scale resolution of *rac*-**321**. After filtering off the enzyme, the (*S*)-butanoate **336b** (48% yield (maximum theoretical yield

50%), 96% ee) and (*R*)-alcohol **321** (41% yield, 95% ee) were isolated by column chromatography at 50% conversion. The butanoate was finally reduced with DIBAL-H at -78 °C in dichloromethane to furnish (*S*)-**321** in 98% yield and 96% ee.<sup>263</sup>



Scheme 61. See table 3 for details. The reactions were conducted at room temperature.

				time	%	(S) <b>-336</b>	(R) <b>-321</b>	
entry	lipase	acyl donor	solvent	(h)	conv.	% ee	% ee	E
1	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	acetonitrile	1	44	99	79	>300
2	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	t-amyl alcohol	1	17	>99	21	>300
3	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>	ethyl butanoate	1	16	>99	19	>300
4	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	hexane	1	32	>99	47	>300
5	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	toluene	1	32	>99	47	>300
6	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	DIPE	1	47	97	85	>300
7	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	MTBE	1	45	99	80	>300
8	CAL-A	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH=CH <sub>2</sub>	MTBE	1	46	98	83	>300
9	CAL-A	MeCO <sub>2</sub> CH=CH <sub>2</sub>	MTBE	1	5	99	5	>300
10	CAL-B	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	MTBE	24	0.3	99	rac	-
11	Lipase PS CII	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	MTBE	24	2	38	0.7	2
12	Lipase PS	PrCO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> CF <sub>3</sub>	MTBE	24	1	66	0.4	5

Table 3. Lipase catalyzed asymmetric acylation

In the above acylation of *rac*-**321** in the presence of celite bound CAL-A, commercial vinyl butanoate (entry 8) or acetate (entry 9) can replace 2,2,2-trifluoroethyl butanoate as an acyl donor. The reaction with vinyl acetate was slow (5% conversion in 1 h, entry 9) compared to that with the butanoates, taking 27 h to reach 50% conversion. It is important to recognize that the butanoate (S)-**336b** (or the corresponding acetate) is an activated ester and is easily hydrolyzed through enzymatic ester hydrolysis by the water present in the medium and in the enzyme preparation. Such a reaction (if it takes place) lowers the ee value of the alcohol enantiomer (R)-**321** and the yield of the ester product (S)-**336b**. In order to furnish a fast enzymatic reaction on a preparative scale, the butanoate ester rather than the acetate has been used as an acyl donor in dried organic solvents. On the other hand, sucrose in the CAL-A preparation apparently binds the water necessary for enzymatic activity in the seemingly dry enzyme preparation.

This method provides us with both enantiomers of allylic alcohol **321** efficiently and selectively. As can be seen from Figure 8, some of the natural products isolated from the plants of the genus *Cneorum* or its relatives also possess the (R) configuration at C<sub>17</sub>, so all types of these natural products could be accessed via this route.



Figure 8. Natural products with (R) configuration at C<sub>17</sub>.

The inversion of (*R*)-**321** was attempted with the Mitsunobu reaction<sup>274</sup> and by transforming the alcohol to a tosylate and treating it with potassium nitrite, 275, 276 but they proved unsuccessful.

The enzymatic reactions were monitored by chiral HPLC. The absolute configurations of the reduction and epoxidation products ((*S*)-**321** and **335**) and resolution products ((*R*)-**321** and (*S*)-**336**) are based on Mosher ester analysis<sup>277-279</sup> of (*S*)-**321** (see the experimental section for details) and then on comparison with the corresponding peaks in the chromatogram.

Having established a suitable enzymatic preparation and optimizing the reaction conditions, Liisa Kanerva then kindly supplied me with sufficient enzyme material to produce the allylic alcohol (S)-**321** used in this project.

## 8.4 Intramolecular cyclopropanation of diazomalonates

With the enantiopure allylic alcohol (S)-321 in hand, I proceeded to the next task on the way to the DEFG ring system of cneorin C, the intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction. The advantages of this reaction include atom economy — except for the catalyst, no other reagents are needed — and the absence of regiochemical issues, which are problematic in intermolecular cyclopropanations. The intramolecular cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Scheme 62) has been a longstanding interest in the Koskinen group.<sup>239-</sup> <sup>242</sup> An excellent review of transition metal catalyzed intramolecular cyclopropanation reactions can be found in the PhD thesis of Hassila.<sup>241-243</sup> The thesis also includes a study of the scope and the kinetics of the cyclopropanation reaction of diazomalonates as well as a proposed transition state model for the reaction. Some mechanistic studies of the intermolecular copper(I)-catalyzed cyclopropanations have also been published.<sup>280-282</sup>



Scheme 62. Intramolecular cyclopropanation of a diazomalonate.

The intramolecular cyclopropanation of diazomalonates of type **A** in Scheme 62 — a 1,1disubstituted olefin — is unprecedented in the literature. There are earlier examples of both 1,2-disubstituted and even 1,2,2-trisubstituted olefins being cyclopropanated with copper catalysts.<sup>240</sup> The beauty of the reaction lies in the reagents, or rather in the lack of them. Both the nucleophile and the electrophile are within the molecule. Thus, the only reagent needed is the catalyst.

The catalyst complexes (Figure 9) and reaction conditions used in this study were chosen in accordance with Hassila's results. His best results were obtained with catalyst complex **337c**,<sup>283</sup> which requires careful exclusion of moisture during its preparation due to the inherent oxidation potency of copper(I)triflate. However, as Doyle *et al.* report, the air stability and ease of handling of Cu(MeCN)<sub>4</sub>PF<sub>6<sup>284</sup></sub> compared to CuOTf makes the former superior to the latter.<sup>285</sup> Complex **337b**<sup>286</sup> was thought to reduce the Lewis acidity of copper thus making it less reactive and more selective towards the targeted double bond.



Figure 9. Catalysts employed in the intramolecular cyclopropanation.

During the cyclopropanation reaction, I wanted to keep the temperature as low as possible to avoid side reactions, such as cyclopropanation of the furan ring. However, elevated temperatures are required for the formation of the carbenoid species (Scheme 63), which is essential for the cyclopropanation to take place. Effervescence of the reaction mixture served as a clear indicator of the formation of the carbenoid species. Typically, heating of the reaction mixture increased until effervescence occurred, after which the reaction temperature was maintained. This practice led to some variability in the reaction temperatures but ensured that all reactions were conducted under the mildest possible conditions.



Scheme 63. General mechanism of the cyclopropanation of a diazomalonate.

#### 8.4.1 Preparation of diazomalonates

The diazomalonates needed for the cyclopropanation reaction were synthesized as follows (Scheme 64 and table 4). The alcohols (**321**, **338-340**) were treated with the monoester of malonic acid (**341a-b**) in the presence of dicyclohexylcarbodiimide and *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopyridine<sup>287</sup> that provided the corresponding malonates (**342-347**). These malonates were then reacted with tosyl azide<sup>288</sup> according to the published procedure<sup>289</sup> to furnish the cyclopropanation precursors (**320**, **348-352**).



Scheme 64. a) DCC, DMAP,  $CH_2Cl_2$ , 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1-2 h; b) TsN<sub>3</sub>,  $K_2CO_3$ , MeCN, rt, 2 h. For substrates and yields, see table 4.

Table 4. Substrates and yields for preparation of the diazo	malonates.
---	------------

				malonic			yield	diazo-	yield
entry	alcohol	$\mathbf{R}^1$	$R^2$	acid	$R^3$	malonate	step a	malonate	step b
1	338	Me	Ph	341a	Et	342	63 %	348	quant. <sup>a</sup>
2	339	Me	3-fur	<b>341</b> a	Et	343	67 %	349	71 %
3	340	$Alk^1$	3-fur	<b>341</b> a	Et	344	81 %	350	92 %
4	340	$Alk^1$	3-fur	341b	<i>t</i> -Bu	345	88 %	351	93 %
5	321	Alk <sup>2</sup>	3-fur	<b>341</b> a	Et	346	97 %	352	quant. <sup>a</sup>
6	321	Alk <sup>2</sup>	3-fur	341b	<i>t</i> -Bu	347	98 % <sup>a</sup>	320	98 %

<sup>a</sup>Crude yield.

#### 8.4.2 Model studies

Initially, some model studies were performed on a substrate without the furyl substituent, then on model systems containing the furyl substituent (see Scheme 65 and table 5). Phenyl substituted diazomalonate **348** was tried first (entry 1) and the reaction indeed produced the desired cyclopropanolactone **353** in 67% yield. It was soon discovered, though, that it was not the perfect substrate to model the reaction of a 3-furyl substituted diazomalonate, because the reaction with **349** gave only a 28% yield of the product **354** at its best (entry 3). It was also discovered that the source of copper(I) plays an important role in this reaction. With the furyl substituted compounds, catalyst **337c** caused extensive decomposition and only traces of products could be observed (see Scheme 66 and table 6). With the substrates containing the alkyl chain (**350** and **351**), the *t*-butyl ester was found to be more stable than the ethyl ester (entries 4-6). However, the TBS protecting group was considered too labile for further studies.



Scheme 65. See details in table 5. Solvent 1,2-dichloroethane.

Table 5. Results of model studies of the intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction.

entry	substr.	$\mathbf{R}^1$	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	catalyst	mol%	temp.	time (h)	prod.	ratio	yield
1	348	Me	Ph	Et	<b>337</b> c <sup>a</sup>	5	60 °C	2	353	1:1	67%
2	349	Me	3-fur	Et	337b	10	60 °C	1	354	1:1	18%
3	349	Me	3-fur	Et	337a	5	57 °C	1.5	354	1:1.2	28%
4	350	$Alk^1$	3-fur	Et	337b	3+3 <sup>b</sup>	65 °C	22	355	1:1	n.d.°
5	351	$Alk^1$	3-fur	t-Bu	337b	3.8	53 °C	24	356	1:1	n.d.°
6	351	$Alk^1$	3-fur	t-Bu	337a	3	60 °C	21	356	1:1	23%

<sup>a</sup>The catalyst was not premixed. See the experimental section for the procedure. <sup>b</sup>The catalyst was added in two batches. See the experimental section. <sup>c</sup>n.d. = not determined

The ability of the furan ring to participate in carbenoid insertion reactions is well known<sup>290,291</sup> and, indeed, the model studies confirmed this. Nonetheless it was also anticipated that a stepwise construction of the furan ring at a later stage would ultimately lead to a much longer, less convergent synthesis with no added benefit in terms of yield or efficiency. Thus, I felt that the decision to push forward with the actual substrate was justified.

## 8.4.3 The actual substrates

Two different diazomalonates were evaluated for the intramolecular cyclopropanation reaction *en route* to cneorin C, namely ethyl ester **352** and *t*-butyl ester **320** (Scheme 66 and table 6). As expected from the literature,<sup>290,291</sup> rhodium acetate caused decomposition of **352** in two hours (entry 1). Similar to the results in the model study, the *t*-butyl ester was found to be more stable and better yielding than the ethyl ester. The best catalytic complex for producing the cyclopropanolactone **358a** with the correct stereochemical features needed for the total synthesis of the natural isomer of cneorin C was found to be complex **337a** (entry 6). The E, F and G rings of cneorin C were now in place!



Scheme 66. See details in table 6. Solvent 1,2-dichloroethane.

Table 6. Results of the intramolecular cyclopropanation with the substrates 352 and 320.

entry	substr.	R	catalyst	mol%	temp.	time (h)	prod.	ratio <sup>a</sup>	yield
1	352	Et	$(Rh(OAc)_2)_2$	5	60 °C	2	de	composit	ion
2	352	Et	337a	3	63 °C	21	de	composit	ion
3	352	Et	337b	3	60 °C	20	357	1:1	21%
4	352	Et	337c	2.3	80 °C	2.5	de	composit	ion
5	320	<i>t</i> -Bu	337b	3	80 °C	2	358	1:1	26%
6	320	<i>t</i> -Bu	337a	3+2 <sup>b</sup>	55 °C	24	358	1:1	30%

<sup>a</sup>The ratio of the diastereomers was obtained from crude NMR data. <sup>b</sup>The catalyst was added in two batches. See the experimental section.

Interestingly, the ethyl ester **352** decomposed completely under the reaction conditions with catalyst complex **337a** (entry 2), which was best for the *t*-butyl ester **320** (entry 6), but reacted relatively well with catalyst **337b** (entry 3).

The lack of selectivity in the reaction can be explained by the models shown in Figure 10. There is precedent from the Koskinen laboratories that an  $R^2$ -substituent (the furan ring in case of **320** – see Scheme 66) can induce diastereoselectivity in the cyclopropanation reaction,<sup>292</sup> but apparently the fairly large  $R^1$ -substituent (the alkyl chain) made the induction more difficult in this case.



Figure 10. Models of the cyclopropanation reaction of 320.

I was delighted to find that, despite the complex mixture the reaction provided, the diastereomeric t-butyl esters **358a** and **358b** could be separated by simple flash chromatographic purification.

## 8.5 Synthesis of DEFG ring fragment: closing the rings

Cyclization of an anionic sulfone to an ester was chosen as the strategy to close the final D ring of the molecule (Scheme 67). All that remained to be effected before the cyclization was the transformation of the protected hydroxyl moiety in the cyclopropanolactone to a sulfone.



Scheme 67. Anionic cyclization of a sulfone.

## 8.5.1 The ethyl ester

Before the insertion of the sulfone and cyclization were attempted with the diastereomerically pure *t*-butyl ester material, the feasibility of the reaction sequence to produce the DEFG ring fragment of cneorin C was tested with the ethyl ester **357** (Scheme 68). Because the diastereomers produced by the cyclopropanation reaction could not be separated efficiently at any point, the whole sequence was conducted with a mixture of diastereomers. Tetrabutylammonium fluoride effected removal of the TBDPS protecting group in the presence of acetic acid in 73% yield.<sup>293</sup> The free alcohol **359** was then transformed into sulfide **360** under the Hata conditions<sup>294,295</sup> and the sulfide was oxidized with *m*-CPBA to sulfone **361** in excellent yield. Now the stage was set for the crucial cyclization. To our delight, exposure of sulfone **361** to *n*-butyllithium effected closure of the D ring in a small-scale experiment as proven by mass spectral data. As could be imagined, the product was a complex mixture of diastereomers, so the focus then turned to the *t*-butyl ester series in the hopes that the reaction sequence, when performed on a single diastereomer, would give clearer results and allow the route be developed further.



Scheme 68. a) TBAF, AcOH, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 4.5 h, 73%; b) (SPh)<sub>2</sub>, Bu<sub>3</sub>P, pyr, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1 h 15 min, 80%; c) *m*-CPBA, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 50 min, 95%; d) *n*-BuLi, THF, -78 °C, 3.5 h, yield not determined.

An interesting observation from the studies with the ethyl ester **361** was that the use of LHMDS to promote cyclization<sup>296</sup> resulted in the formation of pure *syn*-sulfone **361b** (Scheme 69). There is currently no explanation for this observation.



Scheme 69.

#### 8.5.2 The t-butyl ester

Although the two diastereomeric cyclopropanolactones **358a** and **358b** could be separated, the nature of the diastereomers was unclear until the sulfone **365** was obtained (see Scheme 70). Thus, in the first instance, the route was conducted with the more hydrophobic product. It was only the 2D NOESY data obtained from sulfone **365** that revealed that this diastereomer was the *syn*-sulfone **365b**.

The TBDPS protected cyclopropanolactone **358a** was deprotected with tetrabutylammonium fluoride to yield alcohol **363a** in modest yield (Scheme 70). Compared to the ethyl ester (Scheme 68), the use of acetic acid was found to be of little consequence to the yield of the reaction, so its use was abandoned. Sulfide formation and oxidation were performed as established with the ethyl ester derivatives and afforded sulfone **365a**. This time, the conditions for the cyclization reaction were somewhat optimized. It was discovered that conducting the reaction at -100 °C in THF freshly distilled from lithium aluminum hydride was essential in order to obtain reproducible

results. Indeed, despite the hindered nature of the *t*-butyl ester as an electrophile, the [4.3.1] propellane **362** was obtained in 55% yield as a 1:0.8 mixture of two diastereomers at the sulfur bearing carbon. The DEFG ring fragment of cneorin C had now been synthesized for the first time!



**Scheme 70.** a) TBAF, THF, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 2 h, 57%; b) (SPh)<sub>2</sub>, Bu<sub>3</sub>P, pyr, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 1.5 h, 75%; c) *m*-CPBA, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0 °C, 1 h, 88%; d) *n*-BuLi, THF, -100 °C, 30 min, 55%.

The yields in this series were consistently lower than in the ethyl ester series. It is suspected that impurities left in the diastereomeric mixture of the ethyl esters may have resulted in falsely high yields of the ethyl esters.

Later, the *syn*-sulfone **365b** was also subjected to the final cyclization conditions in the hope that this could provide more material for the following steps. However, this reaction failed to give any identifiable products and resulted in decomposition of the starting sulfone instead.

## 8.6 Synthesis of DEFG ring fragment: the quest to remove the sulfone

All that remained at this point of the synthesis was to remove the sulfone reductively and oxidize the  $\alpha$ -position of the ketone (Scheme 71).



#### Scheme 71. Remaining transformations.

However, when the reductive removal of the sulfone was attempted, very disappointing results were obtained (Scheme 72). Raney nickel caused slow decomposition of the

starting sulfone **362** and the single electron reductants, aluminum amalgam<sup>297</sup> and sodium amalgam<sup>298</sup>, effected a reductive opening of the cyclopropyl ring and ketone **367** was obtained in addition to decomposed starting material.



**Scheme 72.** a) Raney Ni, EtOH, THF, rt, 18 h; b) Al-foil immersed in HgCl<sub>2</sub>,<sup>297</sup> THF:H<sub>2</sub>O 9:1, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt (slowly), 4 h, 45%; c) Na-Hg, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, THF, MeOH, -15 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt (slowly), 4 h, yield not determined.

The reductive opening of cyclopropyl ring systems is known in the literature.<sup>299</sup> The reduction of carone (**368**) by sodium in moist ether (Scheme 73) was first reported by Baeyer in 1895,<sup>300</sup> although the correct structures were not known at that time. Later, Norin<sup>301</sup> and Dauben and Deviny<sup>302</sup> investigated the same transformation using lithium in liquid ammonia.



Scheme 73. Reductive opening of a conjugated cyclopropyl ketone.

Disappointing though this was for the synthesis of cneorin C, it does present a possible avenue for the synthesis of other interesting natural products! For example, fraxinellone (**370**) has a similar structure to ketone **367** (see Schemes 73 and 72).<sup>303</sup>

Because the ketone functionality in **362** was apparently activating the cyclopropyl ring too much, the ketone was reduced stereoselectively to provide a 1:1 mixture of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -syn-hydroxysulfones **371**. However, reduction of the hydroxysulfones **371** with either Raney nickel or aluminum amalgam resulted in recovery of part of the starting material accompanied with decomposition. An attempt to form an enolate from ketosulfone **362** and then use bis(trimethylsilyl) peroxide<sup>304</sup> as an electrophile failed as well. Elimination of the hydroxyl group in **372** could be effected in fairly rigorous conditions using KHMDS and mesyl chloride.



Scheme 74. a) NaBH<sub>4</sub>, EtOH:CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> 1:1, rt, 90%; b) KHMDS, MsCl, THF,  $-10 \rightarrow 0$  °C, 1.5 h, 32% based on recovered 372.

It was thought that a dihydroxylation of the double bond in vinyl sulfone **372** would consequently cause the removal of the sulfone and introduce an oxygen moiety to the sulfur bearing carbon. A model compound (**376**, Scheme 75) was chosen to determine the feasibility of the transformation. First, cyclohexanone (**373**) was condensed with thiophenol according to a literature procedure<sup>305</sup> and the vinyl sulfide **374** was then oxidized with oxone<sup>306</sup> to the corresponding vinyl sulfone **375**. This was then subjected to the dihydroxylation conditions refined recently by Sharpless and co-workers to better suit electron-deficient olefins.<sup>307</sup> The reaction did indeed give a hydroxyketone that was immediately acetylated to prevent it from decomposing. Encouraged by this result the same protocol was attempted with vinyl sulfone **372** (Scheme 74), but only starting material was recovered.



**Scheme 75.** a)<sup>305</sup> P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 17 h, 40%; b)<sup>306</sup> oxone, H<sub>2</sub>O:MeOH 1:1, 0 °C  $\rightarrow$  rt, 3 h, 72%; c) OsO<sub>4</sub>, NMO, citric acid, H<sub>2</sub>O:*t*-BuOH 1:1, rt, 3 h; d) Ac<sub>2</sub>O, DMAP, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, rt, 1 h, 26% over 2 steps.

#### 8.7 Conclusions

In this work, the synthetic efforts towards the DEFG ring system of cneorin C have been reported. Three goals were set in the beginning of this work and they were: (1) to secure access to the allylic alcohol (S)-**321** efficiently and enantioselectively, (2) to perform the cyclopropanation reaction to yield the EFG ring fragment, and (3) to close the D ring to obtain the [4.3.1]propellane structure. The goals were met as follows (Scheme 76):

(1) The enzymatic kinetic resolution provided both enantiomers of the key allylic alcohol **321** with excellent enantioselectivity. Thus, access to both of the  $C_{17}$  epimers of the natural product was secured.

- (2) Despite the difficulties encountered in the cyclopropanation reaction, it provided the cyclized EFG ring fragment diastereomerically pure after separation.
- (3) The DEFG ring fragment **362** of cneorin C was synthesized for the first time in 13 steps from commercially available starting materials. This is the first time that a cyclopropane containing [n.n.1] propellane structure of a natural product has been prepared by means of a cyclopropanation reaction.



Scheme 76. Synthesis of DEFG ring fragment of cneorin C.

Projects in total synthesis rarely reach completion and several interesting directions for the future have been uncovered during my research. Firstly, the removal of the sulfone from ketosulfone **362** or its derivatives must be addressed and secondly ketone **367** opens an exciting route into other types of natural products, for example fraxinellone (**370**).

## 9. Experimental section

## 9.1 General experimental

Tetrahydrofuran was distilled from Na/benzophenone. Dichloromethane was pre-dried with CaCl<sub>2</sub> and distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub>. All other solvents were distilled from CaH<sub>2</sub>. Unless otherwise noted, all experiments were performed under Ar-atmosphere using flame-dried glassware. Silica gel (230-400 mesh) for column chromatography as well as the corresponding TLC plates were purchased from Merck. Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was used as a drying agent for organic extracts. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were recorded in CDCl<sub>3</sub> on a spectrometer operating at 400 MHz for <sup>1</sup>H and 100 MHz for <sup>13</sup>C. Chemical shifts are reported in ppm on the  $\delta$  scale from an internal standard of residual chloroform (7.26 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra and 77.0 ppm in <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra). In NMR spectra of mixtures of diastereomers, 'a+b' equals 'a and b', 'a/b' equals 'a or b'. Enantiomeric excesses were determined by HPLC analysis using Chiralcel OD columns  $0.46 \times 5$  cm and  $0.46 \times 25$  cm. CAL-A (*Candida antarctica* lipase A, Chirazyme L5, lyo.) and CAL-B (Candida antarctica lipase B, Chirazyme L2) were purchased from Roche and lipase PS and lipase PS-C II (*Pseudomonas cepacia*) from Amano Pharmaceuticals. Before use, CAL-A and lipase PS were adsorbed on Celite  $\mathbb{R}$  (17 g) by dissolving the enzyme (5 g) and sucrose (3 g) in Tris-HCl buffer (250 mL, 20 mM, pH = 7.9) as described previously, the final preparation containing 20% (w/w) of the lipase.<sup>273</sup> 2,2,2-Trifluoroethyl butanoate was prepared from the acid chloride and 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol. Equation  $E=\ln[(1-ee_S)/(1+ee_S/ee_P)]/\ln[(1+ee_S)/(1+ee_S/ee_P)]$  with  $c=ee_S/(ee_S+ee_P)$  gave the E (enantiomeric ratio)<sup>308</sup> values and conversion.

## 9.2 Synthesis of alcohol (S)-321

# 9.2.1 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-(dimethoxyphosphoryl)pentanoic acid methyl ester (324)<sup>244</sup>



To a stirred suspension of NaH (60% suspension in mineral oil, 1.37 g, 34.2 mmol, 360 mol%) in DMSO (25 mL) at rt was added trimethyl phosphonoacetate (4.10 mL, 28.5 mmol, 300 mol%) dropwise over 30 min. After 70 min, *tert*-butyl-(3-iodopropoxy)-diphenylsilane (**377**) (4.03 g, 9.5 mmol, 100 mol%) in DMSO (15 mL) was added. After 2 h 40 min, HCl (0.1 M, 15 mL) was added and the aqueous layer was extracted with Et<sub>2</sub>O ( $3 \times 20$  mL). The combined organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 0-2% MeOH in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) provided phosphonate **324** as a colorless oil (3.20 g, 71%). TLC  $R_f = 0.37$  (silica, EtOAc); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.70-7.63 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.35 (m, 6H), 3.80 (d, J = 22.8, 10.6, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 2.14-1.93 (m, 2H), 1.71-1.49 (m, 2H), 1.05 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  169.6, 135.5, 133.7, 129.6, 127.6, 63.0, 53.3 (d, J = 15.1 Hz), 53.2 (d, J = 15.1 Hz), 52.5, 44.8 (d, J = 131 Hz), 31.0 (d, J = 14.3 Hz), 26.8, 23.6 (d, J = 4.8 Hz), 19.1; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1738 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 501.1844 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>24</sub>H<sub>35</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSiP 501.1838).

# 9.2.2 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentanoic acid methyl ester (325)<sup>245</sup>



To a stirred solution of phosphonate **324** (3.20 g, 6.7 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (10 mL) at rt were added paraformaldehyde (0.40 g, 13.4 mmol, 200 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (1.86 g, 13.4 mmol, 200 mol%). After 6 h at reflux, the reaction mixture was cooled down, water (10 mL) was added and the aqueous layer was extracted with hexane (3 × 20 mL). The combined organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5% EtOAc in hexanes) provided methyl ester **325** as a colorless oil (1.80 g, 71%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.68 (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.72-7.65 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.35 (m, 6H), 6.14 (s, 1H), 5.52 (s, 1H), 3.75 (s, 3H), 3.70 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.77-1.71 (m, 2H), 1.07 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  167.7, 140.3, 135.6, 134.0, 129.5, 127.6, 124.9, 63.1,

51.7, 31.2, 28.3, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1720, 1627 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 405.1888 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>30</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NaSi 405.1862).

#### 9.2.3 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (378)<sup>309</sup>



To a stirred solution of methyl ester **325** (1.19 g, 3.1 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (16 mL) at -78 °C was added DIBAL-H (1 M in toluene, 9.3 mL, 9.3 mmol, 300 mol%) dropwise. After 30 min, MeOH (3.1 mL) was added, the solution was allowed to warm to 0 °C and HCl (1 M, 30 mL) was added. The aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 20 mL) and the combined organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Alcohol **378** was isolated as a yellowish oil (1.10 g, 99%). TLC  $R_f = 0.59$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.72-7.65 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.35 (m, 6H), 5.02 (br s, 1H), 4.86 (br s, 1H), 4.06 (s, 2H), 3.69 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.16 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.78-1.68 (m, 2H), 1.06 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  148.7, 135.6, 134.0, 129.6, 127.6, 109.3, 66.0, 63.4, 30.7, 29.2, 26.9, 19.2.

#### 9.2.4 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-2-methylenepentanal (326)<sup>309</sup>



To a stirred solution of alcohol **378** (0.53 g, 1.5 mmol, 100 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (15 mL) was added MnO<sub>2<sup>254</sup></sub> (0.65 g, 7.5 mmol, 500 mol%). After 17 h, more MnO<sub>2</sub> (0.13 g, 1.5 mmol, 100 mol%) was added. After 21 h, the mixture was filtered through a pad of Celite ® and concentrated. Enal **326** was isolated as a colorless oil (0.50 g, 94%). TLC  $R_f = 0.57$  (silica, 25% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  9.52 (s, 1H), 7.70-7.65 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.35 (m, 6H), 6.21 (br s, 1H), 5.97 (br s, 1H), 3.67 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 1.70-1.67 (m, 2H), 1.05 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  194.6, 149.9, 135.6, 134.0, 133.9, 129.6, 127.6, 63.1, 30.5, 26.8, 24.3, 19.2.

## 9.2.5 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (rac-321) from enal 326



To a stirred solution of 3-bromofuran (**327**) (0.51 mL, 5.7 mmol, 200 mol%) in THF (12 mL) at -78 °C was added *t*-BuLi (7.6 mL, 9.9 mmol, 350 mol%) dropwise. After 40 min, aldehyde **326** (1.00 g, 2.8 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (3 mL) was added. After 2 h 10 min, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (10 mL) was added, the mixture was allowed to warm to rt and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 20 mL). The organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 7.5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided alcohol *rac*-**321** as a colorless oil (1.04 g, 87%). TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.38$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68-7.62 (m, 4H), 7.46-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.33-6.30 (m, 1H), 5.22 (br s, 1H), 5.11 (br d, *J* = 3.8 Hz, 1H), 4.94 (br s, 1H), 3.66 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.10-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.96 (d, *J* = 3.8 Hz, 1H), 1.77-1.65 (m, 2H), 1.03 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  150.2, 143.2, 139.9, 135.6, 133.9, 129.6, 127.6, 127.2, 110.1, 109.0, 70.4, 63.5, 30.9, 28.0, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 3401, 1648, 1590, 1502 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 443.2034 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NaSi 443.2011).

#### 9.2.6 Alcohol rac-321 from vinyl bromide 331



To a stirred solution of vinyl bromide  $331^{309}$  (4.00 g, 9.9 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (50 mL) at -78 °C was added *t*-BuLi (17.7 mL, 24.8 mmol, 250 mol%) dropwise over 10 min. After 30 min, 3-furylaldehyde (332) (1.24 mL, 14.9 mmol, 150 mol%) was added dropwise. After stirring at -78 °C for 2 h the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to rt. Sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (10 mL) was then added and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 30 mL). The combined organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided alcohol *rac*-321 as a colorless oil (2.91 g, 70%).

#### 9.2.7 5-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-one (333)



To a stirred solution of alcohol *rac*-**321** (0.25 g, 0.59 mmol, 100 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (6.0 mL) was added MnO<sub>2<sup>254</sup></sub> (0.26 g, 3.0 mmol, 500 mol%). After 4 h, more CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (6.0 mL) and MnO<sub>2</sub> (0.26 g, 3.0 mmol, 500 mol%) were added. After 22 h, a third portion of MnO<sub>2</sub> (0.26 g, 3.0 mmol, 500 mol%) was added. After 27 h, the reaction mixture was filtered

through a pad of Celite ® and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided ketone **333** as a colorless oil (0.15 g, 83% based on recovered starting material (0.071 g)). TLC  $R_f = 0.5$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.79-7.76 (m, 1H), 7.71-7.65 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.35 (m, 7H), 6.81-6.77 (m, 1H), 5.76 (br s, 1H), 5.67 (br d, J = 0.92 Hz, 1H), 3.69 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.55 (br t, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.80-1.71 (m, 2H), 1.07 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  190.9, 149.4, 147.8, 143.9, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 126.5, 122.9, 109.9, 63.1, 30.8, 28.5, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1646 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 441.1884 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>30</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NaSi 441.1862).

#### 9.2.8 General procedure for the CBS-reduction



To a stirred solution of ketone **333** (55 µmol, 100 mol%) in THF (0.5 mL) at rt was added the catalyst **334a-b** (1 M in toluene, 11.0 µmol, 20 mol%). The solution was cooled to -20 °C and BH<sub>3</sub>·SMe<sub>2</sub> (33 µmol, 60 mol%) or catecholborane (165 µmol, 300 mol%) was added. After the time shown in table 1 (see Section 8.3.2) at -20 °C, methanol (0.5 mL) and sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (1 mL) were added. The phases were separated, the aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 5 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-7.5% EtOAc in hexanes) provided alcohol (*S*)-**321** as a colorless oil. The enantiomeric excess was determined by chiral HPLC (Chiralcel OD): 1% *i*-PrOH in hexanes, 0.4 mL/min, t<sub>s</sub> = 69 min, t<sub>R</sub> = 73 min.

#### 9.2.9 Resolution of rac-321 by Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation



To a stirred mixture of powdered and activated 3Å molecular sieves (0.30 g, 30 wt%), alcohol *rac*-**321** (1.00 g, 2.4 mmol, 100 mol%) and (+)-DIPT (76  $\mu$ l, 0.36 mmol, 15 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (10 mL) at -20 °C was added Ti(O-*i*-Pr)<sub>4</sub> (71  $\mu$ l, 0.24 mmol, 10 mol%). After 80 min, TBHP<sup>265</sup> (5 M in isooctane, 0.29 mL, 1.4 mmol) was added. After 47 h at -20 °C, water (1.36 mL) was added. After another 30 min, 30% NaOH in brine (0.35 mL) was added. After stirring for 30 min, the mixture was filtered through a cotton plug, the phases were separated and the aqueous phase was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 × 20 mL)

The organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-50% EtOAc in hexanes) provided alcohol (*S*)-**321** as a colorless oil (0.37 g, 37%, 68% ee) and epoxide **335** as a colorless oil (0.41 g, 39%, 94% ee) The ee of **335** was determined by chiral HPLC (Chiralcel OD): 0.5% *i*-PrOH in hexanes, 1.0 mL/min,  $t_{RR}$ (major) = 53 min,  $t_{SS}$ (minor) = 62 min. **Epoxide 335**: TLC  $R_f$  = 0.15 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  +20.6 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.70-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.34 (m, 8H), 6.41-6.38 (m, 1H), 4.76 (br s, 1H), 3.70-3.58 (m, 2H), 3.04 (d, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.68 (d, *J* = 4.7 Hz, 1H), 2.43 (app. d, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 1.85-1.76 (m, 1H), 1.73-1.49 (m, 3H), 1.04 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  143.5, 140.6, 135.5, 133.8, 129.6, 127.6, 124.3, 109.0, 65.8, 63.5, 61.5, 48.5, 27.3, 27.0, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  3468 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 459.1961 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>26</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>4</sub>NaSi 459.1968).

### 9.2.10 Resolution of rac-321 by lipase-catalyzed acylation



The reactions were typically performed as small-scale experiments at room temperature (22-24 °C) where the acyl donor (0.1 M) was added into the solution (0.05 M) of *rac*-**321** in an organic solvent and one of the enzyme preparations (25 mg/ml) was added in order to start the reaction. The progress of enzymatic reactions and the ee values of the unreacted (*R*)-**321** and the formed (*S*)-**336** were followed by taking samples (0.1 mL) at intervals and analyzing them by HPLC on Chiracel OD-column (220 nm) eluting with isopropanol in hexanes (0.3% for the alcohol ( $t_R = 96 \text{ min}$ ,  $t_S = 104 \text{ min}$ ); 0.1% for the acetate ( $t_S = 33 \text{ min}$ ,  $t_R = 37 \text{ min}$ ) and butanoate ( $t_S = 28 \text{ min}$ ,  $t_R = 33 \text{ min}$ )) or analyzing them by NMR.

In a gram-scale experiment, 2,2,2-trifluoroethyl butanoate (0.36 mL, 2.4 mmol, 200 mol%) and CAL-A preparation (0.59 g, 25 mg/ml) were added to a solution of *rac*-**321** (0.50 g, 1.2 mmol, 100 mol%) in MTBE (24 mL). After 5 h, the enzyme was filtered off at 50% conversion. Purification by column chromatography (silica, 5-10% EtOAc in hexanes) yielded (*S*)-**336b** as a colorless oil (0.28 g, 48%, 96% ee) and (*R*)-**321** as a colorless oil (0.21 g, 41%, 95% ee,  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  +5.1 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>)). **Butanoate** (*S*)-**336b**: TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.50$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  -26.0 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.67-7.62 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.33-6.31 (m, 1H), 6.20 (br s, 1H), 5.17 (br s, 1H), 4.97 (br s, 1H), 3.66 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.32 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.20-2.03 (m, 2H), 1.77-1.60 (m, 4H), 1.04 (s, 9H), 0.94 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  172.5, 146.6, 143.2, 140.8, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 123.8, 111.1, 109.4, 70.5, 63.3, 36.4, 30.6, 28.5, 26.8, 19.2, 18.4, 13.6; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1738, 1652,

1590, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 513.2456 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>30</sub>H<sub>38</sub>O<sub>4</sub>NaSi 513.2437).

### 9.2.11 Hydrolysis of butanoate (S)-336b



To a stirred solution of (*S*)-**336b** (72 mg, 0.15 mmol) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.8 mL) at -78 °C was added DIBAL-H (1 M in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, 0.30 mL, 0.30 mmol) dropwise. After 30 min, HCl (1 M, 1 mL) was added and the solution was allowed to warm to rt. The aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 5 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Furyl substituted allyl alcohol (*S*)-**321** was isolated as a colorless oil (61 mg, 98%, 96% ee).  $[\alpha]^{20}{}_{\rm D}$  –6.2 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>).

### 9.3 Analysis of stereochemistry of (S)-321 by the Mosher ester method



For determination of stereochemistry, alcohol (*S*)-**321** was converted to (*S*)- and (*R*)-MTPA esters according to the procedure of Kobayashi et al.<sup>279</sup> The NMR signals were assigned with reference to two dimensional correlation spectra (HMQC and HMBC). The chemical shift differences ( $\Delta\delta$ ) between (*R*) and (*S*) isomers were calculated (table 7) and the results were compared against the Mosher configuration model.<sup>278</sup> The stereochemistry of the alcohol was assigned to be (*S*).

$\begin{array}{c c} & H^{Y} \\ H^{X} \\ \hline \\ \Delta \delta < 0 \end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{OMTPA}} \\ \hline \\ H^{A} \\ \hline \\ \Delta \delta > 0 \end{array}$								
	$\delta(S)$	$\delta(R)$	$\Delta \delta^a$		$\delta(S)$	$\delta(R)$	$\Delta\delta^a$	
$H^X$	5.09	5.25	-0.16	$\mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{A}}$	6.33	6.21	0.12	
$\boldsymbol{H}^{\boldsymbol{X}'}$	4.96	5.04	-0.08					
$\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{Y}}$	2.02	2.11	-0.09					
<sup>a</sup> $\Delta \delta = \delta(S) - \delta(R)$								

## 9.3.1 3,3,3-Trifluoro-(2S)-methoxy-2-phenylpropionic acid 5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl ester (379)

To a stirred solution of alcohol (*S*)-**321** (16 mg, 38 µmol, 100 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.1 mL) were added (*S*)-MTPA (18 mg, 76 µmol, 200 mol%), DMAP (2.3 mg, 19.0 µmol, 50 mol%) and DCC (16 mg, 76 µmol, 200 mol%). After 3 h, the mixture was filtered, washed with HCl (0.5 M, 2 × 1 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (2 × 1 mL) and brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 0-2% EtOAc in hexanes) provided the (*S*)-MTPA ester **379** as a colorless oil (17 mg, 70%). TLC  $R_f = 0.50$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D} - 32.9$  (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.66-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.29 (m, 13H), 6.40 (br s, 1H), 6.33 (br d, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 5.09 (br s, 1H), 4.96 (br s, 1H), 3.59 (dt, J = 6.2, 2.0 Hz, 2H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 2.02 (dd, J = 8.4, 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.70-1.60 (m, 2H), 1.03 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.5, 145.1, 143.5, 141.5, 135.5, 133.9, 132.3, 129.6, 129.5, 128.3, 127.6, 127.3, 126.7 (q, J = 395 Hz), 122.6, 112.3, 109.4, 84.4 (q, J = 28 Hz), 72.8, 63.2, 55.4, 30.4, 28.4, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1749, 1716, 1655, 1590, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 659.2408 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>36</sub>H<sub>39</sub>O<sub>5</sub>F<sub>3</sub>NaSi 659.2417).

## 9.3.2 3,3,3-Trifluoro-(2R)-methoxy-2-phenylpropionic acid 5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl ester (380)

Prepared as **379**.  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  +6.4 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.67-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.48-7.30 (m, 13H), 6.40 (br s, 1H), 6.21 (br d, *J* = 0.9 Hz, 1H), 5.25 (br s, 1H), 5.04 (br s, 1H), 3.63 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 3.50 (s, 3H), 2.11 (dd, *J* = 9.1, 6.6 Hz, 2H), 1.75-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.03 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.5, 145.3, 143.3, 141.1, 135.5, 133.9, 132.2, 129.6, 129.5, 128.3, 127.6, 127.4, 126.7 (q, *J* = 391 Hz), 122.6, 112.9, 109.2, 84.6 (q, *J* = 27 Hz), 73.4, 63.2, 55.4, 30.5, 28.3, 26.8, 19.2; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1749, 1652, 1501 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m*/*z* 659.2393 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>36</sub>H<sub>39</sub>O<sub>5</sub>F<sub>3</sub>NaSi 659.2417).

## 9.4 Model compounds for the intramolecular cyclopropanation

### 9.4.1 1-Furan-3-yl-2-methylprop-2-en-1-ol (339)



To a stirred solution of 3-bromofuran (**327**) (0.90 mL, 10.0 mmol, 200 mol%) in THF (10 mL) at -78 °C was added *t*-BuLi (12.4 mL, 20.0 mmol, 400 mol%) dropwise. After 15 min, 2-methyl propenal (**381**) (0.41 mL, 5.0 mmol, 100 mol%) was added dropwise. After 1 h 15 min, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (5 mL) was added and the biphasic solution was allowed

to warm to rt. The phases were separated, the aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 10 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Crude alcohol **339** (0.90 g) was used without further purification for the next reaction. TLC  $R_f = 0.3$  (silica, 25% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42-7.40 (m, 1H), 7.38 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (br dd, J = 0.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.17-5.14 (m, 1H), 5.12 (br s, 1H), 4.96-4.93 (m, 1H), 1.70 (s, 3H).

### 9.4.2 5-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentan-1-ol (340)



To a stirred solution of vinyl bromide **382**<sup>310</sup> (0.21 g, 0.76 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (4.0 mL) at -78 °C was added *t*-BuLi (1.35 mL, 1.9 mmol, 250 mol%) dropwise. After 20 min, 3-furaldehyde (**332**) (95 µl, 1.1 mmol, 150 mol%) was added. After 40 min, the solution was allowed to warm to rt and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in EtOAc (10 mL) and washed with sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (5 mL). The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (2 × 10 mL), washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided furyl alcohol **340** as a colorless oil (0.137 g, 61%). TLC  $R_f = 0.3$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42-7.39 (m, 1H), 7.37 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.32 (br dd, J = 0.7, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.22 (br s, 1H), 5.15 (br d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.97 (br d, J = 0.7 Hz, 1H), 3.62 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.22 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 2.16-1.96 (m, 2H), 1.77-1.62 (m, 2H), 0.88 (s, 9H), 0.03 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  150.3, 143.2, 139.8, 127.4, 110.4, 109.0, 70.7, 62.7, 31.1, 28.0, 25.9, 18.3, -5.3; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  3401, 1650, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 319.1683 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>28</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NaSi 319.1705).

#### 9.4.3 General procedure for preparation of malonates<sup>287</sup>

To a stirred solution of the alcohol (100 mol%), mono-ethyl malonate (**341a**)<sup>311</sup> or mono*t*-butyl malonate (**341b**)<sup>240,311,312</sup> (110 mol%) and DMAP (10 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.5 M) at 0 °C was added DCC (120 mol%). After 1-2 h at rt, the mixture was filtered, washed twice with HCl (0.5 M) and sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and once with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated.



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol **338** (1.00 g, 6.8 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-ethyl malonate (**341a**) (1.04 mL, 8.8 mmol, 130 mol%), DMAP (82 mg, 0.68 mmol, 10 mol%), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (35 mL) and DCC (1.81 g, 8.8 mmol, 130 mol%). Flash column chromatography (silica, 2.5-10% EtOAc in hexanes) provided malonate **342** as a yellowish oil (1.12 g, 63%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.38 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.36-7.27 (m, 5H), 6.22 (br s, 1H), 5.14 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 5.01 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 4.19 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.44 (s, 2H), 1.65 (s, 3H), 1.25 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.3, 165.4, 142.5, 137.8, 128.4, 128.2, 127.0, 113.1, 79.5, 61.5, 41.9, 18.7, 14.0; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1752, 1736, 1654 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 285.1118 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>4</sub>Na 285.1103).

### 9.4.5 Ethyl-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylallyl malonate (343)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol **339** (crude, 0.69 g, 5.0 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-ethyl malonate (**341a**) (0.77 mL, 6.5 mmol, 130 mol%), DMAP (61 mg, 0.50 mmol, 10 mol%), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (25 mL) and DCC (1.34 g, 6.5 mmol, 130 mol%). Flash column chromatography (silica, 2.5-7.5 % EtOAc in hexanes) provided the malonate **343** as a colorless oil (0.84 g, 67%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.4 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.44-7.41 (m, 1H), 7.37 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.33 (br dd, J = 0.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.20 (br s, 1H), 5.13 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 5.00 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 4.20 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.41 (s, 2H), 1.72 (s, 3H), 1.26 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.3, 165.4, 143.3, 141.8, 140.8, 123.0, 113.2, 109.3, 72.7, 61.6, 41.8, 18.7, 14.0; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1734, 1655 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 275.0901 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>5</sub>Na 275.0895).

# 9.4.6 Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl malonate (344)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol **340** (58 mg, 0.20 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-ethyl malonate (**341a**) (25 µl, 0.22 mmol, 110 mol%), DMAP (2.4 mg, 20 µmol, 10 mol%), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.4 mL) and DCC (61 mg, 0.30 mmol, 150 mol%). Flash column chromatography (silica, 2.5-7.5% EtOAc in hexanes) provided malonate **344** as a yellowish oil (65 mg, 81%). TLC  $R_f = 0.48$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.44-7.40 (m, 1H), 7.36 (br t, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.33 (br s, 1H), 6.22 (br s, 1H), 5.20 (s, 1H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 4.19 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.58 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.39 (s, 2H), 2.14-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.71-1.62 (m, 2H), 1.25 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.86 (s, 9H), 0.02 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.3, 165.4, 145.9, 143.3, 141.1, 123.2, 111.7, 109.5, 72.0, 62.5, 61.5, 41.8, 30.8, 28.5, 25.9, 18.3, 14.0, -5.3; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1752, 1735, 1650, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 433.2036 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>34</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 433.2022).

# 9.4.7 tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl malonate (345)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol **340** (71 mg, 0.24 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-*t*-butyl malonate (**341b**) (26 µl, 0.29 mmol, 120 mol%), DMAP (2.9 mg, 24 µmol, 10 mol%), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.5 mL) and DCC (74 mg, 0.36 mmol, 150 mol%). Flash column chromatography (silica, 2.5-10% EtOAc in hexanes) provided malonate **345** as a yellowish oil (92 mg, 88%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.6 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.42 (br s, 1H), 7.36 (br t, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.33 (br s, 1H), 6.21 (br s, 1H), 5.21 (s, 1H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 3.58 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.31 (s, 2H), 2.12-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.69-1.61 (m, 2H), 1.43 (s, 9H), 0.86 (s, 9H), 0.02 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.8, 165.4, 145.9, 143.2, 141.1, 123.3, 111.5, 109.5, 82.1, 71.7, 62.5, 43.2, 30.8, 28.5, 27.9, 25.9, 18.3, -5.3; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1749, 1732, 1651, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m*/*z* 461.2360 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>38</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 461.2335).

#### 9.4.8 General procedure for preparation of diazomalonates<sup>289</sup>

To a stirred solution of the malonate (100 mol%) in MeCN (0.5 M) was added powdered and dried  $K_2CO_3$  (105 mol%) followed by TsN<sub>3</sub> (105 mol%)<sup>288</sup> in MeCN. After 2 h, the solvent was evaporated. The residue was dissolved in Et<sub>2</sub>O and the resulting solution washed twice with  $K_2CO_3$  (10% aq. soln.), dried, filtered and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in Et<sub>2</sub>O and hexanes were added to precipitate TsNH<sub>2</sub>. The mixture was filtered through a pad of silica (10% Et<sub>2</sub>O in hexanes flush) and concentrated. Generally the products were used without further purification for the cyclopropanation reaction.

### 9.4.9 Ethyl-2-methyl-1-phenylallyl diazomalonate (348).



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **342** (1.00 g, 3.8 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (7.6 mL), TsN<sub>3</sub> (0.79 g, 4.0 mmol, 105 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (0.55 g, 4.0 mmol, 105 mol%). The reaction provided diazomalonate **348** as a yellow oil (1.2 g), which was sufficiently pure for the next reaction. TLC  $R_f = 0.38$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.40-7.26 (m, 5H), 6.31 (br s, 1H), 5.19 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 5.01 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 4.31 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.65 (s, 3H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.8, 160.2, 142.5, 137.9, 128.4, 128.1, 126.9, 113.0, 79.5, 61.6, 18.5, 14.3; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  2142, 1761, 1735, 1693, 1653 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 311.1003 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>Na 311.1008).

#### 9.4.10 Ethyl-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylallyl diazomalonate (349)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **343** (0.82 g, 3.2 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (6.5 mL), TsN<sub>3</sub> (0.67 g, 3.4 mmol, 105 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (0.47 g, 3.4 mmol, 105 mol%). The reaction provided diazomalonate **349** as a yellow oil (0.64 g, 71%). TLC  $R_f = 0.4$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.46-7.44 (m, 1H), 7.37 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.35 (br dd, J = 1.7, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 6.28 (br s, 1H), 5.16 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 5.01 (br d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 4.30 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.72 (s, 3H), 1.31 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR

(100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.8, 160.3, 143.3, 141.9, 141.0, 123.1, 113.1, 109.2, 72.6, 61.7, 18.6, 14.3; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  2142, 1759, 1732, 1690, 1655, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 301.0817 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>Na 301.0800).

# 9.4.11 Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl diazomalonate (350)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **344** (60 mg, 0.15 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (0.3 mL), TsN<sub>3</sub> (30 mg, 0.15 mmol, 105 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (21 mg, 0.15 mmol, 105 mol%). The reaction provided diazomalonate **350** as a yellow oil (59 mg, 92%). TLC  $R_f = 0.48$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.46-7.43 (m, 1H), 7.37 (br t, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.36-6.34 (m, 1H), 6.30 (br s, 1H), 5.24 (s, 1H), 5.03 (s, 1H), 4.30 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.58 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.15-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.70-1.61 (m, 2H), 1.31 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.87 (s, 9H), 0.02 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.8, 160.2, 145.9, 143.3, 141.2, 123.2, 111.6, 109.4, 71.9, 62.4, 61.7, 30.8, 28.5, 25.9, 18.2, 14.3, -5.4; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  2141, 1762, 1735, 1693, 1651, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 459.1930 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>32</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 459.1927).

# 9.4.12 tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilanyloxy)-1-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl diazomalonate (351)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **345** (80 mg, 0.18 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (0.4 mL), TsN<sub>3</sub> (38 mg, 0.19 mmol, 105 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (27 mg, 0.19 mmol, 105 mol%). The reaction provided diazomalonate **351** as a yellow oil (79 mg, 93%). TLC  $R_f = 0.6$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.45-7.42 (m, 1H), 7.36 (br t, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.36-6.33 (m, 1H), 6.31 (br s, 1H), 5.22 (s, 1H), 5.03 (s, 1H), 3.58 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 2.14-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.70-1.60 (m, 2H), 1.51 (s, 9H), 0.87 (s, 9H), 0.02 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.4, 159.7, 146.0, 143.3, 141.2, 123.3, 111.6, 109.4, 83.1, 71.5, 62.4, 30.8, 28.5, 28.2, 25.9, 18.3, -5.4; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 2137, 1759, 1731, 1688, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 487.2224 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 487.2240).

# 9.4.13 General procedure for preparing the catalytic complexes for cyclopropanation<sup>240,243</sup>

To a stirred solution of the ligand (100 mol%) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (0.1 M) was added the copper complex (100 mol%). The solution was stirred overnight and evaporated to dryness under a gentle flow of argon.

## 9.4.14 General procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates<sup>240,241,243</sup>

To a stirred solution of the diazomalonate (100 mol%) in 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE, 0.1 M) was added the catalyst (3-10 mol%). The solution was heated up to the temperature at which the mixture started to effervesce and turned brown in color. After all diazocompound had been consumed as judged by TLC, the solution was cooled to rt and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in MTBE, stirred with activated carbon for 5 min, filtered through a pad of Celite  $\mathbb{R}$  and concentrated.

# 9.4.15 5-Methyl-2-oxo-4-phenyl-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (353)



To a solution of ligand part of **337c** (1.9 mg, 5.2  $\mu$ mol, 5 mol%) and (CuOTf)<sub>2</sub>·C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub> (2.6 mg, 5.2 µmol, 5 mol%) in DCE (0.5 mL) after 10 min of stirring was added diazomalonate 348 (30 mg, 0.10 mmol, 100 mol%) in DCE (0.5 mL). The solution was heated to 60 °C for 2 h, cooled to rt and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in MTBE, stirred with activated carbon for 5 min, filtered through a pad of Celite ® and concentrated. Flash column chromatography provided cyclopropanolactone rac-353 as a yellow oil (18 mg, 67%, a:b 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.18$  (silica, 20%) EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.44-7.24 (m, 10H, a+b), 5.41 (s, 1H, b), 5.26 (s, 1H, a), 4.35-4.25 (m, 4H, a+b), 1.98 (d, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H, a), 1.80 (d, J = 5.3Hz, 1H, b), 1.56 (d, J = 4.8Hz, 1H, a), 1.52 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H, b), 1.52 (s, 3H, b), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H, a/b), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H, a/b), 0.98 (s, 3H, a); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  171.5 (a), 170.7 (b), 165.7 (a/b), 165.6 (a/b), 136.7 (a), 135.3 (b), 128.8 (a+b), 128.7 (a+b), 126.5 (a), 125.4 (b), 83.8 (a), 82.5 (b), 62.00 (a/b), 61.96 (a/b), 39.6 (b), 39.3 (a), 35.9 (b), 35.0 (a), 25.0 (a), 22.4 (b), 14.3 (a/b), 14.2 (a/b), 14.1 (a/b), 13.7 (a); IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1786, 1727 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 283.0933 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>4</sub>Na 283.0946).

## 9.4.16 4-Furan-3-yl-5-methyl-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (354)



Prepared according to the general procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.14) with diazomalonate **349** (32 mg, 0.12 mmol, 100 mol%), catalytic complex **337a** (3.8 mg, 5.8 µmol, 5 mol%) and DCE (1.15 mL). The reaction time was 1.5 h at 57 °C. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-10 % EtOAc in hexanes) provided cyclopropanolactone *rac*-**354** as a yellow oil (8 mg, 28%, a:b 1:1.2 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.2$  (silica, 25% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.49 (br s, 1H, a/b), 7.49-7.47 (m, 1H, a/b), 7.47-7.44 (m, 2H, a+b), 6.41-6.39 (m, 1H, a), 6.38-6.36 (m, 1H, b), 5.32 (br s, 1H, a), 5.30 (br s, 1H, b), 4.33-4.27 (m, 4H, a+b), 1.98 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H, b), 1.91 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 1H, a), 1.53 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H, b), 1.52 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 1H, a), 1.49 (s, 3H, a), 1.33 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 6H, a+b), 1.16 (s, 3H, b); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  171.1 (a/b), 170.9 (a/b), 165.64 (a/b), 165.57 (a/b), 144.4 (a/b), 144.0 (a/b), 141.0 (a/b), 140.2 (a/b), 122.3 (a/b), 120.4 (a/b), 108.4 (a), 107.9 (b), 77.2 (a+b), 62.0 (a+b), 39.0 (a), 38.4 (b), 35.6 (a), 34.8 (b), 25.1 (b), 23.2 (a), 14.3 (a/b), 14.2 (a/b), 14.0 (a), 13.5 (b); IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1780, 1726 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 273.0737 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>5</sub>Na 273.0739).

### 9.4.17 5-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)propyl]-4-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (355)



Prepared according to the general procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.14) with diazomalonate **350** (30 mg, 69 µmol, 100 mol%), catalytic complex **337b** (1.0 mg, 2.1 µmol, 3 mol%) and DCE (0.7 mL). The reaction time was 22 h at 65 °C. Flash column chromatography provided <5 mg of cyclopropanolactones *rac-***355a** and *rac-***355b**. (1:1 mixture of diastereomers). *rac-***355a**: TLC  $R_f = 0.23$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.53-7.51 (m, 1H), 7.45 (br t, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (m, 1H), 5.34 (s, 1H), 4.39-4.25 (m, 2H), 3.54-3.47 (m, 2H), 1.97 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.74-1.61 (m, 1H), 1.59-1.50 (m, 2H), 1.49 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.32-1.27 (m, 1H), 0.84 (s, 9H), -0.015 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz,

CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  178.0, 165.6, 144.4, 141.3, 121.9, 108.0, 76.0, 62.2, 62.1, 41.8, 35.5, 30.2, 25.8, 24.1, 23.5, 18.2, 14.3, -5.4; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1785, 1733, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 431.1866 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 431.1866). *rac*-**355b**: TLC *R*<sub>f</sub> = 0.28 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.48 (dd, *J* = 0.8, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (br t, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.41 (br dd, *J* = 1.7, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 5.49 (br s, 1H), 4.38-4.21 (m, 2H), 3.83-3.50 (m, 2H), 2.06-1.98 (m, 1H), 1.96 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.78-1.63 (m, 2H), 1.57 (d, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.51-1.42 (m, 1H), 1.33 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (s, 9H), 0.025 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.5, 165.7, 144.0, 140.5, 120.8, 108.6, 74.7, 62.3, 62.1, 43.0, 35.4, 29.6, 25.9, 25.0, 23.3, 18.3, 14.2, -5.4; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1789, 1729, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 431.1862 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>32</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 431.1866).

## 9.4.18 5-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)propyl]-4-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (356)



Prepared according to the general procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.14) with diazomalonate 351 (28 mg, 60 µmol, 100 mol%), catalytic complex **337a** (1.2 mg, 1.8 µmol, 3 mol%) and DCE (0.6 mL). The reaction time was 21 h at 60 °C. Flash column chromatography (silica, 2.5-10% EtOAx in hex) provided cyclopropanolactones rac-356a and rac-356b (6 mg, 23%, 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). *rac*-356a: TLC  $R_f = 0.35$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$ 7.52-7.50 (m, 1H), 7.45 (br t, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.44-6.42 (m, 1H), 5.31 (s, 1H), 3.50 (td, J = 6.0, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 1.85 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.72-1.63 (m, 1H), 1.56-1.49 (m, 1H), 1.52 (s, 9H), 1.40 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 1.30-1.20 (m, 2H), 0.84 (s, 9H), -0.021 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.4, 164.5, 144.3, 141.3, 122.1, 108.0, 82.9, 75.9, 62.2, 41.0, 36.5, 30.1, 28.1, 25.8, 24.2, 22.7, 18.2, -5.4; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1784, 1728 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 459.2179 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 459.2179). rac-356b: TLC  $R_{\rm f}$  = 0.43 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.47 (br s, 1H), 7.44 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (br s, 1H), 5.47 (s, 1H), 3.64-3.52 (m, 2H), 2.05-1.96 (m, 1H), 1.87 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.74-1.62 (m, 2H), 1.54-1.46 (m, 2H), 1.51 (s, 9H), 0.88 (0.024 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.7, 164.6, 143.9, 140.4, 120.9, 108.7, 82.9, 74.6, 62.4, 42.2, 36.1, 29.7, 28.0, 25.9, 25.1, 22.9, 18.3, -5.4; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1789, 1726, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 459.2179 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 459.2179).
### 9.5 The route with TBDPS-protection and ethyl ester

# 9.5.1 Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl malonate (346)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol (*S*)-**321** (0.86 g, 2.1 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-ethyl malonate (**341a**) (0.24 mL, 2.1 mmol, 100 mol%), DMAP (25 mg, 0.21 mmol, 10 mol%), CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (4.1 mL) and DCC (0.55 g, 2.7 mmol, 130 mol%). Dry-column flash chromatography<sup>313</sup> (silica, 0-20% EtOAc in hexanes) provided malonate **346** as a yellowish oil (1.06 g, 97%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.43 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  –7.9 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>; 59% ee); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68-7.62 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.35 (m, 8H), 6.33 (br dd, *J* = 1.8, 0.6 Hz, 1H), 6.22 (br s, 1H), 5.21 (br s, 1H), 5.00 (br s, 1H), 4.19 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.66 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.40 (s, 2H), 2.20-2.03 (m, 2H), 1.77-1.65 (m, 2H), 1.25 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.04 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  166.3, 165.4, 145.8, 143.3, 141.0, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 123.1, 111.6, 109.4, 71.9, 63.2, 61.5, 41.8, 30.5, 28.4, 26.8, 19.2, 14.0; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1735 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 557.2337 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>38</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 557.2335).

## 9.5.2 Ethyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl diazomalonate (352)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **346** (1.06 g, 2.0 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (4.0 mL), TsN<sub>3</sub> (0.41 g, 2.1 mmol, 105 mol%) and K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (0.29 g, 2.1 mmol, 105 mol%). Reaction provided diazomalonate **352** as a yellow oil (1.10 g, quant.). TLC  $R_f = 0.43$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D} -15.9$  (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>; 59% ee); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.67-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.34 (br dd, J = 1.8, 0.6 Hz, 1H), 6.30 (br s, 1H), 5.23 (br s, 1H), 5.01 (br s, 1H), 4.30 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.64 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.19-2.04 (m, 2H), 1.76-1.65 (m, 2H), 1.31 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.03 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  160.8, 160.2, 145.8, 143.3, 141.2, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 123.1, 111.7, 109.3, 71.8, 63.2, 61.7, 30.5, 28.5, 26.8 19.2, 14.3; IR (film)  $\nu_{max}$  2141, 1759, 1734, 1691, 1589, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 583.2226 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>36</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 583.2240).

9.5.3 5-[3-(tert-Butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)propyl]-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (357)



Prepared according to the general procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.14) with diazomalonate 352 (0.50 g, 0.89 mmol, 100 mol%), catalytic complex 337b (13 mg, 27 µmol, 3 mol%) and DCE (9.0 mL). The reaction time was 20 h at 60 °C. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-20 % EtOAc in hexanes) provided cyclopropanolactone 357 as a greenish-yellow oil (98 mg, 21 %, 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.3$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) & 7.68-7.57 (m, 8H, a+b), 7.46-7.34 (m, 16H, a+b), 6.39-6.37 (m, 2H, a+b), 5.41 (s, 1H, b), 5.25 (s, 1H, a), 4.40-4.20 (m, 4H, a+b), 3.70-3.51 (m, 4H, a+b), 2.09-2.01 (m, 1H, a), 1.94 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H, b), 1.93 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H, a), 1.80-1.47 (m, 5H, 2a+2b+a/b, 1.55 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H, b), 1.45 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.5 Hz, 1H, a), 1.40-1.25 (m, 2H, b+a/b), 1.33 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H, a), 1.29 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, b), 1.04 (s, 9H, b), 1.00 (s, 9H, a); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.0 (a) 170.5 (b), 165.7 (b), 165.5 (a), 144.4 (a/b), 144.0 (a/b), 141.2 (a/b), 140.5 (a/b), 135.5 (a+b), 133.6 (a+b), 129.8 (a/b), 129.7 (a/b), 127.70 (a/b), 127.67 (a/b), 121.8 (a/b), 120.7 (a/b), 108.6 (a/b), 107.9 (a/b), 75.9 (a), 74.7 (b), 63.1 (a/b), 63.0 (a/b), 62.1 (a+b), 42.9 (a/b), 41.7 (a/b), 35.4 (a+b), 30.0 (a), 29.4 (b), 26.83 (b), 26.79 (a), 24.9 (a/b), 24.0 (a/b), 23.4 (a), 23.3 (b), 19.2 (a/b), 19.1 (a/b), 14.3 (a/b), 14.2 (a/b); IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1786, 1727, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z555.2184 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for  $C_{31}H_{36}O_6NaSi$  555.2179).

## 9.5.4 (4S)-Furan-3-yl-5-(3-hydroxypropyl)-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1carboxylic acid ethyl ester (359)



To a stirred solution of cyclopropanolactone **357** (0.10 g, 0.20 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (1.0 mL) at 0 °C were added AcOH (17  $\mu$ l, 0.30 mmol, 150 mol%) and TBAF (1 M in THF, 0.30 mL, 0.30 mmol, 150 mol%). After 30 min, the brown solution was allowed to warm to rt. After 4 h, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) was added and the phases were separated. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 3 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica,

0-2% MeOH in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> with 0.5% Et<sub>3</sub>N) provided cyclopropyl alcohol **359** as a brown oil (44 mg, 73%, 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.1$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.53 (br s, 1H, a), 7.51-7.49 (m, 1H, b), 7.48-7.46 (m, 1H, a), 7.46-7.43 (m, 1H, b), 6.44-6.39 (m, 2H, a+b), 5.50 (s, 1H, b), 5.36 (s, 1H, a), 4.37-4.25 (m, 4H, a+b), 3.61 (dd, J = 6.0, 5.7 Hz, 2H, a/b), 3.55 (dd, J = 6.2, 5.8 Hz, 2H, a/b), 2.13-2.00 (m, 2H, a+b), 1.98 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H, a), 1.96 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H, b), 1.85-1.53 (m, 4H, 2a+2b), 1.59 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H, b), 1.51 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H, a), 1.38-1.30 (m, 2H, a+b), 1.341 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, a/b), 1.335 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H, a/b); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.9 (a/b), 170.4 (a/b), 165.9 (a/b), 165.6 (a/b), 144.5 (a), 144.0 (b), 141.3 (a), 140.6 (b), 121.8 (a/b), 120.7 (a/b), 108.6 (a/b), 107.9 (a/b), 75.9 (a/b), 29.2 (a/b), 24.8 (a/b), 23.9 (a/b), 23.5 (a), 23.4 (b), 14.3 (a/b), 14.2 (a/b); IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 3534, 1781, 1725, 1506 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 317.0987 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>15</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>6</sub>Na 317.1001).

### 9.5.5 (4S)-Furan-3-yl-2-oxo-5-(3-phenylsulfanylpropyl)-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (360)



To a stirred solution of cyclopropyl alcohol **359** (57 mg, 0.19 mmol, 100 mol%) in pyridine (1.0 mL) was added (SPh)<sub>2</sub> (47 mg, 0.21 mmol, 110 mol%). The solution was cooled to 0 °C and freshly distilled Bu<sub>3</sub>P (72 µl, 0.29 mmol, 150 mol%) was added. After 1 h 15 min at rt, the solution was diluted with  $Et_2O$  (5 mL), washed with sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (5 mL) and brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 10-20% EtOAc in hexanes) provided sulfide 360 as a colorless oil (60 mg, 80%, 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.75$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) & 7.47-7.45 (m, 1H, a), 7.44-7.40 (m, 2H, b), 7.37-7.35 (m, 1H, a), 7.32-7.16 (m, 10H, a+b), 6.37-6.34 (m, 2H, a+b), 5.37 (s, 1H, b), 5.26 (s, 1H, a), 4.36-4.27 (m, 2H, a), 4.26-4.17 (m, 2H, b), 2.94-2.69 (m, 4H, a+b), 2.11-2.01 (m, 1H, b), 1.94 (d, J =5.1 Hz, 2H, a+b), 1.88-1.51 (m, 6H, a+b), 1.57 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H, b), 1.47 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H, a), 1.40-1.25 (m, 1H, a), 1.34 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, a), 1.29 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, b); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.7 (a), 170.1 (b), 165.6 (b), 165.5 (a), 144.5 (a), 144.0 (b), 141.3 (a), 140.5 (b), 135.6 (a), 135.5 (b), 129.6 (b), 129.5 (a), 129.0 (b), 128.9 (a), 126.3 (b), 126.2 (a), 121.6 (a), 120.5 (b), 108.5 (b), 107.8 (a), 75.6 (a), 74.5 (b), 62.2 (a), 62.1 (b), 42.6 (b), 41.5 (a), 35.2 (b), 35.1 (a), 33.4 (b), 33.2 (a), 27.2 (b), 26.52 (a), 26.50 (a), 25.8 (b), 23.4 (a), 23.2 (b), 14.2 (a), 14.1 (b); IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1784, 1727, 1584, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 409.1065 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>5</sub>NaS 409.1086).

9.5.6 5-(3-Benzenesulfonylpropyl)-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-1-carboxylic acid ethyl ester (361)



To a stirred mixture of sulfide 360 (37 mg, 96 µmol, 100 mol%) and NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (80 mg, 0.96 mmol, 1000 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (0.5 mL) at 0 °C was added *m*-CPBA (70%, 47 mg, 0.19 mmol, 200 mol%). After 50 min, sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (1 mL) was added and the aqueous phase was extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (3 × 1 mL). The organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 0-1%) MeOH in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) provided sulfone 361 as a colorless oil (38 mg, 95%, 1:1 mixture of diastereomers). TLC  $R_f = 0.35$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) & 7.88-7.82 (m, 4H, a+b), 7.72-7.64 (m, 2H, a+b), 7.62-7.54 (m, 4H, a+b), 7.47 (br s, 1H, b), 7.46-7.43 (m, 2H, a+b), 7.41 (br s, 1H, a), 6.41-6.37 (m, 1H, b), 6.34-6.30 (m, 1H, a), 5.41 (s, 1H, b), 5.29 (s, 1H, a), 4.36-4.14 (m, 4H, a+b), 3.07-2.97 (m, 1H, a), 3.02 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H, b), 2.94-2.84 (m, 1H, a), 2.04 (ddd, J = 13.9, 11.7, 4.4 Hz, 1H, b), 1.99-1.87 (m, 1H, b), 1.92 (2 × overlapping d,  $J_a = 5.2$ ,  $J_b = 5.3$  Hz, 2H, a+b), 1.87-1.62 (m, 4H, 2a+2b), 1.61 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H, b), 1.51 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.3 Hz, 1H, a), 1.36-1.23 (m, 2H, a) 1.32 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, a), 1.28 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, b); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.3 (a), 169.8 (b), 165.6 (b), 165.3 (a), 144.7 (a), 144.2 (b), 141.3 (a), 140.8 (b), 138.84 (b), 138.79 (a), 133.9 (a+b), 129.4 (a+b), 127.9 (a+b), 121.4 (a), 120.3 (b), 108.5 (b), 107.6 (a), 75.3 (a), 74.3 (b), 62.3 (a+b), 55.50 (b), 55.45 (a), 42.2 (b), 41.1 (a), 35.1 (b), 34.9 (a), 27.1 (b), 26.3 (a), 23.4 (a), 23.2 (b), 20.3 (a), 20.0 (b), 14.2 (a), 14.1 (b); IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1784, 1723, 1586, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 441.0967 (MNa+, calcd for C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>7</sub>NaS 441.0984).



To a stirred solution of sulfone **361** (11 mg, 26 µmol, 100 mol%) in THF (0.9 mL) at -78 °C was added LHMDS (1 M in THF, 40 µl, 40 µmol, 150 mol%). After 1.5 and 3 h more LHMDS (2 × 20 µl, 20 µmol, 75 mol%) was added. After 4 h the solution was warmed to rt over 4 h and stirred overnight. Sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) was added, the biphasic mixture was concentrated and the aqueous phase was extracted with 25% EtOH in CHCl<sub>3</sub> (10 × 1 mL), dried, filtered and concentrated. Pure sulfone **361b** was obtained as a yellowish oil (5 mg). [ $\alpha$ ]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> –5.8 (*c* 0.24, CHCl<sub>3</sub>; 47% ee).



To a stirred solution of sulfone **361** (8.9 mg, 21 µmol, 100 mol%) in THF (0.5 mL) at – 78 °C was added *n*-BuLi (2.5 M in hexanes, 17 µl, 43 µmol, 200 mol%) dropwise. After 2.5 h, more *n*-BuLi (8.5 µl, 21 µmol, 100 mol%) was added. After 3.5 h, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) was added and the reaction was allowed to warm to rt. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 2 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. LRMS (EI) m/z 373 (M+1, calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>17</sub>O<sub>6</sub>S 373), 327 (M–CO<sub>2</sub>H), 231 (M–SO<sub>2</sub>Ph). For more spectral data, see Section 9.6.7.

#### 9.6 The route with TBDPS protection and *t*-butyl ester

When data for both diastereomers are reported, there were no essential differences in the execution of the syntheses of the two diastereomers, so only one of them is covered.

## 9.6.1 tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl malonate (347)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of malonates (Section 9.4.3) with alcohol (*S*)-**321** (0.87 g, 2.1 mmol, 100 mol%), mono-*t*-butyl malonate (**341b**) (0.33 g, 2.1 mmol, 100 mol%), DMAP (25 mg, 0.21 mmol, 10 mol%), DCC (0.51 g, 2.5 mmol, 120 mol%) and CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (4.2 mL). The reaction provided malonate **347** as a yellow oil (1.14 g, 98%), which was sufficiently pure to be used in the next step. An analytical sample was purified by dry-column flash chromatography<sup>313</sup> (silica, 0-15% EtOAc in hexanes). TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.40$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}{}_{\rm D} -19$  (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.34 (m, 8H), 6.32 (br dd, *J* = 1.7, 0.6 Hz, 1H), 6.21 (br s, 1H), 5.21 (br s, 1H), 4.99 (br s, 1H), 3.64 (t, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 3.30 (s, 2H), 2.18-2.02 (m, 2H), 1.76-1.64 (m, 2H), 1.43 (s, 9H), 1.02 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  165.7, 165.4, 145.8, 143.2, 141.0, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 123.2, 111.5, 109.4, 82.0, 71.6, 63.2, 43.1, 30.5, 28.5, 27.8, 26.8, 19.1; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1728, 1649, 1588 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m*/*z* 585.2625 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>33</sub>H<sub>42</sub>O<sub>5</sub>NaSi 585.2648).

# 9.6.2 tert-Butyl-5-(tert-butyldiphenylsilanyloxy)-(1S)-furan-3-yl-2-methylenepentyl diazomalonate (320)



Prepared according to the general procedure for preparation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.8) with malonate **347** (2.06 g, 3.7 mmol, 100 mol%), MeCN (7.7 mL), K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (0.56 g, 4.1 mmol, 110 mol%) and TsN<sub>3</sub> (0.80 g, 4.1 mmol, 100 mol%). Dry column flash chromatography<sup>313</sup> (silica, 5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided diazomalonate **320** as a yellow oil (2.11 g, 98%). TLC  $R_{\rm f}$  = 0.4 (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes); [ $\alpha$ ]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> -22 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.68-7.61 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.33 (br dd, *J* = 1.8, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 6.30 (br s, 1H), 5.20 (br s, 1H), 4.99 (br s, 1H), 3.64 (t, *J* = 6.2 Hz, 2H), 2.18-2.02 (m, 2H), 1.74-1.64 (m, 2H), 1.51 (s, 9H), 1.02 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  168.6, 159.6, 145.9, 143.2, 141.2, 135.5, 133.9, 129.5, 127.6, 123.2, 111.6, 109.4, 83.1, 71.4, 63.2, 30.6, 28.5, 28.2, 26.8, 19.1; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 2137, 1755, 1729, 1686, 1588 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m*/*z* 611.2548 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>33</sub>H<sub>40</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 611.2553).

## 9.6.3 (5S)-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)propyl]-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (358a) and (5R)-[3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilanyloxy)propyl]-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1R)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (358b)



Prepared according to the general procedure for cyclopropanation of diazomalonates (Section 9.4.14) with diazomalonate **320** (1.15 g, 2.0 mmol, 100 mol%), catalytic complex **337a** (38 mg, 59 µmol, 3 mol%) and DCE (17 mL). Reaction time was 24 h at 55 °C. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-15% EtOAc in hexanes) provided cyclopropanolactones **358a** and **358b** (184 and 149 mg, respectively, 30% in total) as a greenish-yellow oil. **358a**: TLC  $R_f = 0.36$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_D$  +4.4 (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.62-7.55 (m, 4H), 7.46-7.34 (m, 8H), 6.41 (br s, 1H), 5.24 (s, 1H), 3.61-3.49 (m, 2H), 1.83 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.79-1.67 (m, 1H), 1.66-1.54 (m, 2H), 1.53 (s, 9H), 1.38 (d, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.35-1.24 (m, 1H), 1.00 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  171.3, 164.5, 144.3, 141.2, 135.5, 133.6, 129.7, 127.6, 122.0, 107.9, 82.9, 75.8, 63.0, 40.8, 36.4, 29.9, 28.1, 26.7, 24.1, 22.6, 19.1; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub>

1784, 1727, 1506 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 583.2474 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>33</sub>H<sub>40</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 583.2492). **358b**: TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.43$  (silica, 20% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}{}_{\rm D} -27$  (*c* 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.70-7.60 (m, 4H), 7.47-7.32 (m, 8H), 6.38 (br s, 1H), 5.41 (s, 1H), 3.72-3.55 (m, 2H), 2.06 (dd, J = 11.7, 10.4 Hz, 1H), 1.86 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.77-1.67 (m, 2H), 1.55-1.45 (m, 2H), 1.49 (s, 9H), 1.04 (s, 9H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.7, 164.6, 143.9, 140.4, 135.5, 133.6, 129.7, 127.7, 120.9, 108.6, 82.9, 74.5, 63.2, 42.5, 36.0, 29.5, 28.0, 26.8, 25.0, 22.8, 19.2; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1787, 1721, 1500 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 583.2482 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>33</sub>H<sub>40</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaSi 583.2493).

## 9.6.4 (4S)-Furan-3-yl-(5S)-(3-hydroxypropyl)-2-oxo-3-oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (363a)



To a stirred solution of cyclopropanolactone 358a (0.38 g, 0.67 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (1.4 mL) at 0 °C was added TBAF (1 M in THF, 1.34 mL, 1.3 mmol, 200 mol%) dropwise. After 30 min at 0 °C, the brown solution was allowed to warm to rt and after 2 h, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (2 mL) was added. The aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc ( $3 \times 5$ mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 0-2% MeOH in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> with 2% Et<sub>3</sub>N) provided alcohol **363a** as a brown oil (0.123 g, 57 %). **363a**: TLC  $R_f = 0.18$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); [α]<sup>20</sup><sub>D</sub> +53 (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.55-7.51 (m, 1H), 7.47 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.42 (br dd, J = 1.7, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 5.33 (s, 1H), 3.55 (br t, J =5.9 Hz, 2H), 1.87 (d, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.72-1.55 (m, 3H), 1.53 (s, 9H), 1.43 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 1.35-1.28 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.2, 164.5, 144.4, 141.3, 122.0, 107.9, 83.1, 75.8, 62.0, 40.9, 36.3, 29.9, 28.1, 23.8, 22.8; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 3523, 1778, 1725, 1507 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 345.1302 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>6</sub>Na 345.1314). **363b**: TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.22$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]_{\rm D}^{20} -74$  (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.50-7.48 (m, 1H), 7.44 (t, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.41 (br dd, J = 1.8, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 5.48 (s, 1H), 3.70-3.57 (m, 2H), 2.04 (td, J = 11.2, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 1.88 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.82-1.54 (m, 3H), 1.52 (s, 9H), 1.53-1.51 (obs m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.6, 164.7, 144.0, 140.5, 120.8, 108.7, 83.1, 74.4, 62.1, 42.4, 36.0, 29.4, 28.0, 24.8, 23.0; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 3413, 1781, 1719, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 345.1306 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>6</sub>Na 345.1314).

#### 9.6.5 (4S)-Furan-3-yl-2-oxo-(5S)-(3-phenylsulfanylpropyl)-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (364a)



A stirred solution of alcohol **363a** (0.12 g, 0.38 mmol, 100 mol%) and (SPh)<sub>2</sub> (0.13 g, 0.45 mmol, 120 mol%) in pyridine (1.9 mL) at 0 °C was bubbled with argon for 10 min after which freshly distilled Bu<sub>3</sub>P (0.19 mL, 0.76 mmol, 200 mol%) was added. After 15 min at 0 °C, the solution was allowed to warm to rt. After 1.5 h, Et<sub>2</sub>O (10 mL) was added and the solution was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (5 mL) and brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 10-15 % EtOAc in hexanes) provided sulfide **364a** as a colorless oil (0.118 g, 75%). **364a**: TLC  $R_f = 0.65$  (silica, 50%) EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} + 41$  (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.47 (br t, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (s, 1H), 7.33-7.17 (m, 5H), 6.39-6.35 (m, 1H), 5.23 (s, 1H), 2.88-2.71 (m, 2H), 1.84 (d, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.76-1.60 (m, 3H), 1.53 (s, 9H), 1.40 (dd, J = 5.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 1.37-1.23 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 171.0, 164.4, 144.4, 141.2, 135.7, 129.4, 128.9, 126.2, 121.8, 107.7, 83.1, 75.6, 40.7, 36.1, 33.2, 28.1, 26.54, 26.48, 22.7; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1783, 1725, 1584, 1506 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 437.1396  $(MNa^+, calcd for C_{23}H_{26}O_5NaS 437.1399)$ . **364b**: TLC  $R_f = 0.70$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$  -49 (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.43 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.42-7.40 (m, 1H), 7.33-7.25 (m, 4H), 7.23-7.16 (m, 1H), 6.35 (br dd, J = 1.7, 0.8Hz, 1H), 5.36 (s, 1H), 2.96-2.78 (m, 2H), 2.07 (td, J = 11.9, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 1.86 (d, J = 5.1Hz, 1H), 1.83-1.73 (m, 2H), 1.70-1.60 (m, 1H), 1.49 (s, 9H), 1.51-1.45 (obs m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.3, 164.5, 143.9, 140.5, 135.6, 129.7, 129.0, 126.4, 108.6, 99.8, 83.1, 74.3, 42.1, 36.0, 33.7, 28.0, 27.4, 26.0, 22.7; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1785, 1719, 1584, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 437.1388 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>5</sub>NaS 437.1399).

### 9.6.6 (5S)-(3-Benzenesulfonylpropyl)-(4S)-furan-3-yl-2-oxo-3oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-(1S)-carboxylic acid tert-butyl ester (365a)



To a stirred solution of sulfide **364a** (82 mg, 0.20 mmol, 100 mol%) in  $CH_2Cl_2$  (1.0 mL) at 0 °C was added NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (0.17 g, 2.0 mmol, 1000 mol%) and *m*-CPBA (70%, 0.11 g, 0.46 mmol, 230 mol%). After 60 min, sat. aq. NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (2 mL) was added and the

aqueous phase was extracted with  $CH_2Cl_2$  (3 × 5 mL). The organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 33-50% EtOAc in hexanes) provided sulfone 365a as a white foam (77 mg, 88%). 365a: TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.43$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{\rm D} + 29$  (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 7.87-7.81 (m, 2H), 7.71-7.69 (m, 1H), 7.61-7.54 (m, 2H), 7.45 (br t, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.39 (br s, 1H), 6.33 (br dd, J = 1.6, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 5.25 (s, 1H), 3.07-2.85 (m, 2H), 1.81 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.83-1.62 (m, 3H), 1.49 (s, 9H), 1.42 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 1.31-1.21 (m, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) δ 170.6, 164.2, 144.6, 141.2, 138.9, 133.9, 129.4, 127.9, 121.6, 107.6, 83.4, 75.3, 55.5, 40.3, 35.9, 28.1, 26.2, 22.6, 20.3; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1781, 1724, 1586, 1506 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 469.1289 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for  $C_{23}H_{26}O_7NaS$  469.1297). **365b**: TLC  $R_f = 0.53$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]_{D}^{20}$  –54 (c 1.0, CHCl<sub>3</sub>); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.89-7.83 (m, 2H), 7.70-7.64 (m, 1H), 7.62-7.53 (m, 2H), 7.48-7.42 (m, 2H), 6.41-6.37 (m, 1H), 5.40 (s, 1H), 3.02 (t, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.09-1.90 (m, 2H), 1.83 (d, J = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.85-1.63 (m, 2H), 1.52 (d, J = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.45 (s, 9H);  $^{13}$ C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  170.0, 164.5, 144.1, 140.7, 138.9, 133.9, 129.4, 127.9, 120.5, 108.6, 83.4, 74.1, 55.7, 41.7, 35.8, 27.9, 27.1, 22.7, 20.0; IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1784, 1718, 1586, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 469.1311 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>26</sub>O<sub>7</sub>NaS 469.1297).

#### 9.6.7 Ketosulfone 362



To a stirred solution of sulfone **365a** (77 mg, 0.17 mmol, 100 mol%) in THF (3.5 mL, freshly distilled from LiAlH<sub>4</sub>) at -100 °C was added *n*-BuLi (0.16 mL, 0.35 mmol, 200 mol%) dropwise. After 15 min, more n-BuLi (15 µl, 34 µmol, 20 mol%) was added because some starting material was evident by TLC analysis. After 25 min, sat. aq.  $NH_4Cl$  (5 mL) was added and the mixture was allowed to warm to rt. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc ( $3 \times 10$  mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 40-60% EtOAc in hex) provided ketosulfone **362** as mixture of diastereomers (a:b = 1:0.8, 33 mg, 55%). TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.1$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.87-7.83 (m, 2H, b), 7.82-7.77 (m, 2H, a), 7.72-7.66 (m, 2H, a+b), 7.60-7.54 (m, 5H, 3a+2b), 7.48 (br t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H, a), 7.46-7.43 (m, 2H, b), 6.73 (br dd, J = 1.7, 0.7 Hz, 1H, a), 6.20 (br t, J = 1.4 Hz, 1H, b), 5.47 (s, 1H, a), 5.45 (s, 1H, b), 3.76 (dd, J = 10.0, 8.7 Hz, 1H, b),3.59 (dd, J = 5.6, 1.9 Hz, 1H, a), 2.88-2.80 (m, 1H, a), 2.86 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H, b), 2.48-2.30 (m, 3H, a+2b), 2.20 (dt J = 14.2, 4.1 Hz, 1H, b), 2.02-1.89 (m, 2H, a), 1.92 (d, J = 14.2, 4.1 Hz, 1H, h 5.9 Hz, 1H, a), 1.81-1.71 (m, 1H, b), 1.81 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H, b), 1.70 (d, J = 5.9 Hz, 1H, a); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) & 189.7 (a), 189.2 (b), 168.0 (a/b), 167.9 (a/b), 144.7 (b), 144.2 (a), 141.7 (a), 140.6 (b), 138.2 (a), 137.6 (b), 134.39 (a), 134.35 (b), 129.23 (a/b), 129.17 (2a/b), 129.1 (a/b), 121.5 (b), 120.7 (a), 109.2 (a), 107.8 (b), 77.2 (a), 75.7 (b), 68.5 (b), 67.2 (a), 40.3 (b), 35.6 (b), 35.0 (a), 34.8 (a), 23.6 (b), 23.2 (a), 20.0 (b), 19.9 (b), 19.3 (a), 18.3 (a); IR (film)  $v_{max}$  1780, 1704, 1583, 1503 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 395.0572 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaS 395.0565).

#### 9.6.8 Methyl ketone 367



To a stirred solution of ketosulfone **362** (7.0 mg, 19 µmol, 100 mol%) in THF:H<sub>2</sub>O (9:1, 1.0 mL) at 0 °C was added commercial aluminum foil (1.5 mg, 57 µmol, 300 mol%), which had been immersed in HgCl<sub>2</sub> (aq., 2%), washed with EtOH and Et<sub>2</sub>O and cut into small pieces. After 1 h, more Al-foil (1.5 mg, 57 µmol, 300 mol%) was added and after 4 h, the mixture was filtered through a pad of Celite  $\mathbb{R}$ , dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 33-50% EtOAc in hex) provided methyl ketone **367** (2 mg, 45%). TLC  $R_{\rm f} = 0.5$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{\rm D}$  –33 (*c* 0.23, CHCl<sub>3</sub>; 46% ee); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.51 (s, 1H), 7.48 (s, 1H), 6.40 (s, 1H), 5.08 (s, 1H), 3.30 (br s, 1H), 2.48-2.33 (m, 2H), 2.06-1.97 (m, 1H), 1.78-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.33-1.20 (obs m, 1H), 1.29 (s, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  202.7, 170.8, 143.8, 140.2, 118.3, 108.6, 82.9, 63.1, 49.6, 39.6, 28.3, 21.3, 20.6; IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 1776, 1716, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 257.0779 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>4</sub>Na 257.0790).

#### 9.6.9 Hydroxysulfone 371



To a stirred solution of ketosulfone **362** (17 mg, 46 µmol, 100 mol%) in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>:EtOH (1:1, 0.2 mL) at 0 °C was added NaBH<sub>4</sub> (18 mg, 48 µmol, 105 mol%). After 50 min, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) was added. The aqueous phase was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 × 3 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 33-50 % EtOAc in hexanes) provided hydroxysulfone **371** as a yellowish oil (a:b 1:0.6, 14 mg, 82%). TLC  $R_f = 0.2$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.95-7.88 (m, 4H, a+b), 7.74-7.68 (m, 2H, a+b),

7.64-7.56 (m, 4H, a+b), 7.54-7.51 (m, 1H, b), 7.46 (br t, J = 1.6 Hz, 1H, a), 7.43 (br t, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H, b), 7.41-7.38 (m, 1H, a), 6.62 (br dd, J = 1.5, 0.6 Hz, 1H, b), 6.14 (br dd, J = 1.6, 0.8 Hz, 1H, a), 5.37 (s, 1H, a), 5.34 (s, 1H, b), 5.04 (br s, 1H, a), 4.95 (br s, 1H, b), 3.49 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1H, b), 3.22 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 1H, a), 2.67 (dt, J = 12.7, 2.2 Hz, 1H, b), 2.52 (dt, J = 12.0, 2.7 Hz, 1H, a), 2.11-2.00 (m, 2H, a+b), 1.99-1.84 (m, 2H, a+b), 1.87 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H, a), 1.81-1.73 (m, 1H, b), 1.72-1.54 (m, 3H, 2a+b), 1.26 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H, a), 1.23 (d, J = 5.8 Hz, 1H, b), 0.94 (d, J = 5.8 Hz, 1H, b); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  174.9 (a/b), 174.2 (a/b), 144.7 (a), 144.6 (b), 141.6 (b), 140.3 (a), 137.5 (a), 137.5 (b), 134.4 (a), 134.3 (b), 129.5 (a), 129.4 (b), 129.0 (b), 128.8 (a), 122.3 (a), 122.1 (b), 108.0 (b), 107.7 (a), 78.3 (a), 78.0 (b), 65.3 (a), 62.2 (b), 60.2 (b), 59.7 (a), 33.7 (b), 33.5 (a), 32.9 (a), 28.3 (b), 22.8 (b), 22.7 (a), 22.2 (b), 18.6 (a), 15.0 (b), 13.5 (a); IR (film) v<sub>max</sub> 3497, 1760, 1599, 1505 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) *m/z* 397.0721 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>6</sub>NaS 397.0722).

#### 9.6.10 Vinyl sulfone 372



To a stirred solution of hydroxysulfone **371** (8.0 mg, 21 µmol, 100 mol%) in THF (0.2 mL) at -10 °C were added KHMDS (0.3 M in toluene, 0.29 mL, 86 µmol, 400 mol%) and after 5 min, MsCl (6.6 µl, 86 µmol, 400 mol%). The solution was allowed to warm slowly to 0 °C and after 1.5 h, sat. aq. NH<sub>4</sub>Cl (1 mL) was added. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (3 × 3 mL), washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 33-50% EtOAc in hexanes) provided hydroxysulfone **372** as a yellowish oil (1.6 mg, 32% based on recovered **371**) and hydroxysulfone **371** (2.7 mg). **372**: TLC  $R_f = 0.25$  (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes);  $[\alpha]^{20}_{D}$  +117 (*c* 0.1, CHCl<sub>3</sub>; 42% ee); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  7.87-7.80 (m, 2H), 7.66-7.60 (m, 2H), 7.56-7.5 (m, 2H), 7.43 (s, 2H), 6.16 (s, 1H), 5.51 (s, 1H), 2.53 (ddd, *J* = 17.4, 6.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 2.01 (dd, *J* = 13.0, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 1.90-1.78 (m, 1H), 1.73 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.68 (d, *J* = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.40 (td, *J* = 13.0, 6.1 Hz, 1H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  172.4, 144.5, 140.5, 138.9, 137.7, 133.6, 132.6, 129.3, 128.1, 121.8, 107.9, 77.7, 36.1, 27.5, 25.8, 19.8, 18.6; IR (film)  $\nu_{max}$  1773, 1629, 1504 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+) m/z 379.0637 (MNa<sup>+</sup>, calcd for C<sub>19</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>5</sub>NaS 379.0616).

#### **9.6.11 2-Acetoxycyclohexenone** (376)<sup>314</sup>



To a stirred solution of vinyl sulfone **375**<sup>305,306</sup> (0.12 g, 0.52 mmol, 100 mol%) in H<sub>2</sub>O:*t*-BuOH (1:1, 1.0 mL) were added citric acid (0.20 g, 1.0 mmol, 200 mol%), OsO<sub>4</sub> (0.20 mL, 16 µmol, 3 mol%, 2.5 wt% in 2-methyl-2-propanol) and NMO·H<sub>2</sub>O (0.14 g, 1.1 mmol, 200 mol%). After 3 h, *t*-BuOH was evaporated and HCl (1 M, 3 mL) and EtOAc (10 mL) were added. The aqueous phase was extracted with EtOAc (2 × 5 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. To a solution of this crude product in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (2.1 mL) were added Ac<sub>2</sub>O (0.34 mL, 4.2 mmol, 1000 mol%) and DMAP (7.7 mg, 63 µmol, 15 mol%). After 1 h, H<sub>2</sub>O (2 mL) was added. The aqueous phase was extracted with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 × 3 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> (3 × 3 mL) and the organic extracts were washed with brine, dried, filtered and concentrated. Flash column chromatography (silica, 5-25% EtOAc in hexanes) provided 2-acetoxycyclohexenone (**367**) as a colorless oil (17 mg, 26%). TLC  $R_f$  = 0.55 (silica, 50% EtOAc in hexanes); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  5.19-5.10 (m, 1H), 2.54-2.46 (m, 1H), 2.38 (tdd, J = 13.5, 6.0, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 2.32-2.23 (m, 1H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.12-2.03 (m, 1H), 2.01-1.91 (m, 1H), 1.80-1.53 (m, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  204.5, 170.0, 76.5, 40.6, 33.0, 27.1, 23.7, 20.7.

## **10. References**

- 1) Diels, O.; Alder, K. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1931, 486, 191-202.
- 2) Diels, O.; Friedrichsen, W. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1934, 513, 145-153.
- 3) Fieser, L. F.; Dunn, J. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1936, 58, 1054-1055.
- 4) Fieser, L. F.; Dunn, J. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1937, 59, 1021-1024.
- 5) Alder, K.; Backendorf, K. H. *Chem. Ber.* **1938**, *71*, 2199-2209.
- 6) Brigl, P.; Herrmann, R. Chem. Ber. 1938, 71, 2280-2282.
- 7) Snatzke, G.; Zanati, G. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1965**, 684, 62-78.
- 8) Nerdel, F.; Janowsky, K.; Frack, D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1965**, 2979-2981.
- 9) Bloomfield, J. J.; Irelan, J. R. S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1966**, 2971-2973.
- 10) Nickon, A.; Silversmith, E. F. *Organic Chemistry: The Name Game*; Pergamon Press, 1987, p. 30.
- 11) Altman, J.; Babad, E.; Itzchaki, J.; Ginsburg, D. *Tetrahedron, Suppl. 8, Part I* **1966**, 279-304.
- 12) *Random House Webster's Unabridged Dictionary*; 2nd ed.; Random House: New York, 1998, p. 2230.
- 13) Wiberg, K. B.; Hiatt, J. E.; Burgmaier, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 5855-5857.
- 14) Newton, M. D.; Schulman, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 773-778.
- 15) Stohrer, W.-D.; Hoffmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 779-786.
- 16) Wiberg, K. B.; Walker, F. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5239-5240.
- 17) Chakrabarti, P.; Seiler, P.; Dunitz, J. D.; Schlüter, A.-D.; Szeimies, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
  1981, 103, 7378-7380.
- 18) Jackson, J. E.; Allen, L. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 591-599.
- 19) Wiberg, K. B. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 975-983.
- 20) Dunitz, J. D.; Seiler, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 7056-7058.
- 21) Epiotis, N. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3170-3174.
- 22) Wiberg, K. B.; Bader, R. F. W.; Lau, C. D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 985-1001.
- 23) Wiberg, K. B.; Bader, R. F. W.; Lau, C. D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1001-1012.
- 24) Herr, M. L. Tetrahedron 1977, 33, 1897-1903.
- 25) Mlinaríc-Majerski, K.; Majerski, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 7389-7395.
- 26) Lee, I.; Yang, K.; Kim, H. S. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 5007-5010.

- 27) Kar, T.; Jug, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1996, 256, 201-206.
- 28) Ginsburg, D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1969, 2, 121-128.
- 29) Ginsburg, D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1972, 5, 249-256.
- 30) Ginsburg, D. Top. Curr. Chem. 1987, 137, 1-17.
- 31) Wiberg, K. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 1984, 17, 379-386.
- 32) Wiberg, K. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 229-234.
- 33) Ginsburg, D. Propellanes; Verlag Chemie: Weinheim, 1975; 272 pages.
- 34) Nicolaou, K. C.; Snyder, S. A.; Montagnon, T.; Vassilikogiannakis, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2002**, *41*, 1668-1698.
- 35) Kavanagh, F.; Hervey, A.; Robbins, W. J. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 1949, 35, 343-349.
- 36) Dugan, J. J.; de Mayo, P.; Nisbet, M.; Robinson, J. R.; Anchel, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 2838-2844.
- 37) Greenlee, W. J.; Woodward, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 6075-6076.
- 38) Greenlee, W. J.; Woodward, R. B. *Tetrahedron* **1980**, *36*, 3361-3366.
- 39) Greenlee, W. J.; Woodward, R. B. *Tetrahedron* **1980**, *36*, 3367-3375.
- 40) Boeckman, R. K.; Ko, S. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7146-7149.
- 41) Tobe, Y.; Yamashita, D.; Takahashi, T.; Inata, M.; Sato, J.; Kakiuchi, K.; Kobiro, K.; Odaira, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1990**, *112*, 775-779.
- 42) Barton, D. H. R.; Garner, B. J.; Wightman, R. G. J. Chem. Soc. 1964, 1855-1857.
- Tobe, Y.; Sato, J.; Sorori, T.; Kakiuchi, K.; Odaira, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1986, 27, 2905-2906.
- 44) Umbreit, M. A.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 5526-5528.
- 45) Ayer, W. A.; Saeedi-Ghomi, M. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 2071-2074.
- 46) Trost, B. M.; Chung, J. Y. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4586-4588.
- 47) Trost, B. M.; Hipskind, P. A.; Chung, J. Y. L.; Chan, C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1989, 28, 1502-1504.
- 48) Arai, Y.; Takeda, K.; Masuda, K.; Koizumi, T. Chem. Lett. 1985, 1531-1534.
- 49) Santelli-Rouvier, C.; Santelli, M. Synthesis 1983, 429-442.
- 50) van Meter, J. C.; Dann, M.; Bohonos, N. Isolation and characteristics of frenolicin. In Antimicrobial Agents and Chemoterapy, Plenum Press: New York, 1961, Volume date 1960; pp 77-80.
- 51) Ellestad, G. A.; Kunstmann, M. P.; Whaley, H. A.; Patterson, E. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1968**, *90*, 1325-1332.
- Ichihara, A.; Ubukata, M.; Oikawa, H.; Murakami, K.; Sakamura, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1980, 21, 4469-4472.
- 53) Naruta, Y.; Uno, H.; Maruyama, K. Chem. Lett. 1982, 609-612.
- 54) Semmelhack, M. F.; Bozell, J. J.; Sato, T.; Wulff, W.; Spiess, E.; Zask, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5850-5822.
- 55) Semmelhack, M. F.; Zask, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2034-2043.
- 56) Semmelhack, M. F.; Keller, L.; Sato, T.; Spiess, E. J.; Wulff, W. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 5566-5574.
- 57) Uno, H. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 350-358.
- 58) Kraus, G. A.; Molina, M. T.; Walling, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 1273-1276.

- 59) Decker, O. H. W.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 1174-1175.
- 60) Foland, L. D.; Decker, O. H. W.; Moore, H. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 989-995.
- 61) Brimble, M. A.; Lynds, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 493-496.
- 62) Xu, Y.-C.; Kohlman, D. T.; Liang, S. X.; Erikkson, C. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1599-1602.
- 63) Stork, G.; Hagedorn, A. A., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 3609-3611.
- 64) Konishi, M.; Ohkuma, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Tsuno, T.; Kamei, H.; Miyaki, T.; Oki, T.; Kawaguchi, H.; VanDuyne, G. D.; Clardy, J. J. Antibiot. **1989**, 42, 1449-1452.
- 65) Konishi, M.; Ohkuma, H.; Tsuno, T.; Oki, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3715-2716.
- 66) Porco, J. A. J.; Schoenen, F. J.; Stout, T. J.; Clardy, J.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7411-7413.
- Chikashita, H.; Porco, J. A. J.; Stout, T. J.; Clardy, J.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 1692-1694.
- 68) Wood, J. L.; Porco, J. A. J.; Taunton, J.; Lee, A. Y.; Clardy, J.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **1992**, *114*, 5898-5900.
- 69) Taunton, J.; Wood, J. L.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10378-10379.
- 70) Myers, A. G.; Fraley, M. E.; Tom, N. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11556-11557.
- 71) Myers, A. G.; Tom, N. J.; Fraley, M. E.; Cohen, S. B.; Madar, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6072-6094.
- 72) Yoon, T.; Shair, M. D.; Danishefsky, S. J.; Shulte, G. K. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, *59*, 3752-3754.
- 73) Shair, M. D.; Yoon, T.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3755-3757.
- 74) Yoon, T.; Shair, M. D.; Danishefsky, S. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6259-6262.
- 75) Shair, M. D.; Yoon, T.; Chou, T.-C.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1994**, 33, 2477-2479.
- 76) Shair, M. D.; Yoon, T.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1995, 34, 1721-1723.
- 77) Shair, M. D.; Yoon, T. Y.; Mosny, K. K.; Chou, T. C.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 9509-9525.
- 78) Nicolaou, K. C.; Hwang, C.-K.; Smith, A. L.; Wendeborn, S. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7416-7418.
- 79) Nicolaou, K. C.; Smith, A. L.; Wendeborn, S. V.; Hwang, C.-K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3106-3114.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Maligres, P.; Suzuki, T.; Wendeborn, S. V.; Dai, W.-M.; Chadha, R. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8890-8907.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Dai, W.-M.; Hong, Y. P.; Tsay, S.-C.; Baldridge, K. K.; Siegel, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7944-7953.
- 82) Nishikawa, T.; Isobe, M. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 5621-5623.
- 83) Nishikawa, T.; Ino, A.; Isobe, M. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 1449-1468.
- 84) Nishikawa, T.; Yoshikai, M.; Obi, K.; Kawai, T.; Unno, R.; Jomori, T.; Isobe, M. *Tetrahedron* 1995, 51, 9339-9352.
- 85) Magnus, P. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 1397-1418.
- 86) Maier, M. E.; Abel, U. Synlett **1995**, 38-40.
- Takahashi, T.; Sakamoto, Y.; Yamada, H.; Usui, S.; Fukazawa, Y. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1995, 34, 1345-1348.

- 88) Sakamoto, Y.; Takahashi, T. Synlett **1995**, 513-515.
- 89) Maier, M. E.; Boße, F.; Niestroj, A. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 1-13.
- 90) Hollingsworth, B. L.; Petrow, V. J. Chem. Soc. 1948, 1537-1541.
- 91) Curran, D. P.; Kuo, S.-C. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 2063-2065.
- 92) Asakawa, Y.; Lin, X.; Tori, M.; Kondo, K. *Phytochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 2597-2603.
- 93) Kato, N.; Wu, X.; Nishikawa, H.; Takeshita, H. Synlett 1993, 293-295.
- 94) Kato, N.; Nakanishi, K.; Wu, X.; Nishikawa, H.; Takeshita, H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, 35, 8205-8208.
- 95) Eastwood, F. W.; Harrington, K. J.; Josan, J. S.; Pura, J. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1970, 5223-5224.
- 96) Ando, M.; Wada, K.; Takase, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1985**, *26*, 235-238.
- 97) Kim, K.; Reibenspies, J.; Sulikowski, G. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5557-5559.
- 98) Kim, K.; Guo, Y.; Sulikowski, G. A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6866-6871.
- 99) Sasaki, T.; Yoshida, J.; Itoh, M.; Gomi, S.; Shomura, T.; Sezaki, M. J. Antibiot. **1988**, 41, 835-842.
- 100) Sasaki, T.; Gomi, S.; Sezaki, M.; Takeuchi, Y.; Kodama, Y.; Kawamura, K. J. Antibiot. 1988, 41, 843-848.
- 101) Schlingmann, G.; West, R. R.; Milne, L.; Pearce, C. J.; Carter, G. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1993, 34, 7225-7228.
- 102) Wipf, P.; Jung, J.-K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 764-767.
- 103) Wipf, P.; Jung, J.-K. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 63, 1092-1093.
- 104) Wipf, P.; Jung, J.-K. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 6319-6337.
- 105) Qian-Cutrone, J.; Gao, Q.; Huang, S.; Klohr, S. E.; Veitch, J. A.; Shu, Y.-Z. J. Nat. Prod. 1994, 57, 1656-1660.
- 106) Uchiyama, M.; Kimura, Y.; Ohta, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 10013-10017.
- 107) Arbain, D.; Byrne, L. T.; Cannon, J. R.; Patrick, V. A.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1990, 43, 185-190.
- 108) Heathcock, C. H.; Stafford, J. A.; Clark, D. L. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2575-2585.
- 109) Overman, L. E.; Ricca, J. D. The Intramolecular Mannich and Related Reactions. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*; Trost, B. M.; Fleming, I.; Heathcock, C. H., Eds.; Pergamon Press, 1991; Vol. 2, pp. 1007-1046.
- 110) Heathcock, C. H.; Hansen, M. M.; Ruggeri, R. B.; Kath, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2544-2553.
- 111) Heathcock, C. H.; Piettre, S.; Ruggeri, R. B.; Ragan, J. A.; Kath, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2554-2566.
- 112) Rodríguez, A. D.; Ramírez, C. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 507-510.
- 113) Nicolaou, K. C.; Vassilikogiannakis, G.; Mägerlein, W.; Kranich, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2482-2486.
- 114) Nicolaou, K. C.; Vassilikogiannakis, G.; Mägerlein, W.; Kranich, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 5359-5371.
- 115) Kim, A. I.; Rychnovsky, S. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1267-1270.
- 116) Harrowven, D. C.; Pascoe, D. D.; Demurtas, D.; Bourne, H. O. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1221-1222.

- 117) Harrowven, D. C.; Tyte, M. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 8709-8711.
- 118) Chaplin, J. H.; Edwards, A. J.; Flynn, B. L. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 1842-1844.
- 119) Karlsson, J. O.; Nguyen, N. V.; Foland, L. D.; Moore, H. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 3392-3393.
- 120) Perri, S. T.; Dyke, H. J.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2032-2034.
- 121) Enhsen, A.; Karabelas, K.; Heerding, J. M.; Moore, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1177-1185.
- 122) Zalkov, L. H.; Harris, R. N. I.; Derveer, D. V. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1978, 420-421.
- Bohlmann, F.; Zdero, C.; Bohlmann, R.; King, R. M.; Robinson, H. *Phytochemistry* 1980, 19, 579-582.
- 124) Mehta, G.; Srikrishna, A. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 671–719.
- 125) Yamago, S.; Nakamura, E. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 3081-3088.
- 126) Laxmisha, M. S.; Rao, G. S. R. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3759-3761.
- 127) Smith, A. B., III.; Jerris, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 194-195.
- 128) Smith, A. B., III.; Jerris, P. J. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 1845-1855.
- 129) Cargill, R. L.; Jackson, T. E.; Peet, N. P.; Pond, D. M. Acc. Chem. Res. 1974, 7, 106-113.
- 130) Wilkening, D.; Mundy, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 4619-4622.
- 131) Eaton, P. E.; Carlson, G. R.; Lee, J. T. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 4071-4073.
- 132) Mundy, B. P.; Wilkening, D. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 5727-5731.
- 133) Jasperse, C. P.; Curran, D. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 5601-5609.
- 134) Kraus, G. A.; Shi, J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 4147-4151.
- 135) Tobe, Y.; Yamashita, S.; Yamashita, T.; Kakiuchi, K.; Odaira, Y. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. *Comm.* **1984**, 1259-1260.
- 136) Rickborn, B.; Gerkin, R. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 1693-1700.
- 137) Leriverend, M.-L.; Leriverend, P. Chem. Ber. 1976, 109, 3492-3495.
- 138) Trost, B. M.; Latimer, L. H. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 1031-1040.
- 139) Morton, D. R. J.; Brokaw, F. C. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 2880-2887.
- 140) Wenkert, E.; Arrhenius, T. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2030-2033.
- 141) Fitjer, L.; Majewski, M.; Kanschik, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1263-1264.
- 142) Fitjer, L.; Kanschik, A.; Majewski, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5525-5528.
- 143) Fitjer, L.; Majewski, M.; Monzó-Oltra, H. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 8835-8852.
- 144) Fitjer, L.; Monzó-Oltra, H.; Noltemeyer, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1991, 30, 1492-1494.
- 145) Karpf, M.; Dreiding, A. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 4569-4570.
- 146) Karpf, M.; Dreiding, A. S. Helv. Chim. Acta 1981, 64, 1123-1133.
- 147) Schostarez, H.; Paquette, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 722-724.
- 148) Schostarez, H.; Paquette, L. A. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 4431-4435.
- 149) Mash, E. A.; Math, S. K.; Flann, C. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2147-2150.
- 150) Mash, E. A.; Math, S. K.; Flann, C. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 2.
- 151) Mash, E. A.; Math, S. K.; Flann, C. J. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 4945-4950.
- 152) Oppolzer, W.; Marazza, F. Helv. Chim. Acta 1981, 64, 1575-1578.
- 153) Oppolzer, W.; Bättig, K. Helv. Chim. Acta 1981, 64, 2489-2491.
- 154) Wender, P. A.; Dreyer, G. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5805-5807.

- 155) Mehta, G.; Subrahmanyam, D. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1985, 768-769.
- 156) Mehta, G.; Subrahmanyam, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 395-401.
- 157) Mehta, G.; Subrahmanyam, D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 2289.
- 158) Uyehara, T.; Muraymna, T.; Sakai, K.; Ueno, M.; Sato, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 7295-7298.
- 159) Uyehara, T.; Murayama, T.; Sakai, K.; Onda, K.; Ueno, M.; Sato, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1998**, *71*, 231-242.
- 160) Wrobel, J.; Takahashi, K.; Honkan, V.; Lannoye, G.; Cook, J. M.; Bertz, S. H. J. Org. *Chem.* **1983**, *48*, 139-141.
- 161) Weiss, U.; Edwards, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 4885-4887.
- 162) Weber, R. W.; Cook, J. M. Can. J. Chem. 1978, 56, 189-192.
- 163) Kraus, G. A.; Shi, J. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5423-5424.
- 164) Suri, S. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 8321-8324.
- 165) Curran, D. P.; Shen, W. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 755-770.
- 166) Sha, C.-K.; Jean, T.-S.; Wang, D.-C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 3745-3748.
- 167) Lee, H.-Y.; Kim, D.-I.; Kim, S. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1539-1540.
- 168) Lee, H.-Y.; Moon, D. K.; Bahn, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1455-1458.
- 169) Dvorak, C. A.; Rawal, V. H. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2381-2382.
- 170) De Boeck, B.; Pattenden, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6975-6978.
- 171) De Boeck, B.; Harrington-Frost, N. M.; Pattenden, G. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 340-347.
- 172) Sakabe, N.; Takada, S.; Okabe, K. Chem. Commun. 1967, 259-261.
- 173) Okabe, K.; Yamada, K.; Yamamura, D.; Takada, S. J. Chem. Soc. C 1967, 2201-2206.
- 174) Nakanishi, K. Pure & Appl. Chem. 1967, 14, 89-113.
- 175) Corey, E. J.; Kang, M.; Desai, M. C.; Ghosh, A. K.; Houpis, I. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 649-651.
- 176) Corey, E. J.; Gavai, A. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3201-3204.
- 177) Crimmins, M. T.; Thomas, J. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 5997-6000.
- 178) Crimmins, M. T.; Pace, J. M.; Nantermet, P. G.; Kim-Meade, A. S.; Thomas, J. B.; Watterson, S. H.; Wagman, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 10249-10250.
- 179) Crimmins, M. T.; Pace, J. M.; Nantermet, P. G.; Kim-Meade, A. S.; Thomas, J. B.; Watterson, S. H.; Wagman, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8453-8463.
- 180) Corey, E. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1988, 17, 111-133.
- 181) Corey, E. J.; Desai, M. C.; Engler, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4339-4341.
- 182) Corey, E. J.; Desai, M. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 3535-3538.
- 183) Huang, J.-M.; Yokoyama, R.; Yang, C.-S.; Fukuyama, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 6111-6114.
- 184) Birman, V. B.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2080-2081.
- 185) Meng, Z.; Danishefsky, S. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1511-1513.
- 186) Inoue, M.; Sato, T.; Hirama, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10772-10773.
- 187) Mehta, G.; Singh, S. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 2079-2082.
- 188) Huang, J.-M.; Yang, C.-S.; Tanaka, M.; Fukuyama, Y. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 4691-4698.
- 189) Brown, K. S. J.; Budzikiewski, H.; Djerassi, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1963, 1731-1736.

- 190) Walser, A.; Djerassi, C. Helv. Chim. Acta 1965, 48, 391-404.
- 191) Ban, Y.; Yoshida, K.; Goto, J.; Oishi, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 6990-6992.
- 192) Yoshida, K.; Sakuma, Y.; Ban, Y. Heterocycles 1987, 25, 47-50.
- 193) Ban, Y.; Ohnuma, T.; Seki, K.; Oishi, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 727-730.
- 194) Overman, L. E.; Robertson, G. M.; Robichaud, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 2598-2610.
- 195) Rae, I. D.; Rosenberger, M.; Szabo, A. G.; Willis, C. R.; Yates, P.; Zacharias, D. E.; Jeffrey, G. A.; Douglas, B.; Kirkpatrick, J. L.; Weisbach, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 3061-3062.
- 196) Yates, P.; MacLachlan, F. N.; Rae, I. D.; Rosenberger, M.; Szabo, A. G.; Willis, C. R.; Cava, M. P.; Behforouz, M.; Lakshmikantham, M. V.; Zeiger, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 7842-7850.
- 197) He, F.; Bo, Y.; Altom, J. D.; Corey, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6771-6772.
- 198) Sumi, S.; Matsumoto, K.; Tokuyama, H.; Fukuyama, T. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1891-1893.
- 199) Sumi, S.; Matsumoto, K.; Tokuyama, H.; Fukuyama, T. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, *59*, 8571-8587.
- 200) Leonard, N. J.; Musker, W. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 5148-5155.
- 201) Greshoff, M. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1890, 23, 3537-3550.
- 202) Natsume, M.; Utsunomiya, I. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 2115-2123.
- 203) Ogawa, M.; Kitagawa, Y.; Natsume, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 3985-3986.
- 204) Kuehne, M. E.; Seaton, P. J. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4790-4796.
- 205) England, D. B.; Kuss, T. D. O.; Keddy, R. G.; Kerr, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 4704-4709.
- 206) Gallagher, T.; Magnus, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 2086-2087.
- 207) Magnus, P.; Gallagher, T.; Brown, P.; Huffman, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2105-2114.
- 208) Awang, K.; Sevenet, T.; Hadi, A. H. A.; David, B.; Païs, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 2493-2496.
- 209) Pearson, W. H.; Mi, Y.; Lee, I. Y.; Stoy, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 6724-6725.
- 210) Pearson, W. H.; Lee, I. Y.; Mi, Y.; Stoy, P. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 9109-9122.
- 211) Kuehne, M. E.; Matsko, T. H.; Bohnert, J. C.; Motyka, L.; Oliver-Smith, D. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 2002-2009.
- 212) Wiesner, K.; Jirkowský, I.; Fishman, M.; Williams, C. A. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 1523-1526.
- 213) Wiesner, K.; Jirkovský, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 2077-2079.
- 214) Wiesner, K.; Poon, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 4937-4940.
- 215) Wiesner, K.; Poon, L.; Jirkowský, I.; Fishman, M. Can. J. Chem. 1969, 47, 433-444.
- 216) Wiesner, K.; Valenta, Z.; Ayer, W. A.; Fowler, L. R.; Francis, J. E. *Tetrahedron* **1958**, *4*, 87-104.
- 217) Tomita, M.; Kozuka, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1966, 6229-6232.
- 218) Inubushi, Y.; Ibuka, T.; Kitano, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 1611-1614.
- 219) Keely, S. L. J.; Martinez, A. J.; Tahk, F. C. Tetrahedron 1970, 26, 4729-4742.
- 220) Schultz, A. G.; Wang, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8259-8260.

- 221) Ibuka, T.; Tanaka, K.; Inubushi, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 1393-1396.
- 222) Ibuka, T.; Tanaka, K.; Inubushi, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 907-921.
- 223) Ibuka, T.; Tanaka, K.; Inubushi, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1970, 4811-4814.
- 224) Ibuka, T.; Tanaka, K.; Inubushi, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1974, 22, 782-796.
- 225) Inubushi, Y.; Kitano, M.; Ibuka, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1971, 19, 1820-1841.
- 226) Evans, D. A.; Bryan, C. A.; Sims, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 2891-2892.
- 227) Evans, D. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 1573-1576.
- 228) Evans, D. A.; Bryan, C. A.; Wahl, G. M. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 56, 4122-4127.
- 229) Bruderer, H.; Knopp, D.; Daly, J. J. Helv. Chim. Acta 1977, 60, 1935-1941.
- 230) Trauner, D.; Porth, S.; Opaz, T.; Bats, J. W.; Giester, G.; Mulzer, J. Synthesis 1998, 653-664.
- 231) Imhof, R.; Gässinger, E.; Graf, W.; Berner, H.; Berner-Fenz, L.; Wehrli, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1972, 55, 1151-1153.
- 232) Imhof, R.; Gössinger, E.; Graf, W.; Berner-Fenz, L.; Berner, H.; Schaufelberger, R.; Wehrli, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1973, 56, 136-162.
- 233) Kurosu, M.; Marcin, L. R.; Grinsteiner, T. J.; Kishi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6627-6628.
- 234) Mondon, A.; Epe, B. Progr. Chem. Org. Nat. Prod. 1983, 44, 101-187.
- 235) Mondon, A.; Epe, B.; Callsen, H. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1983, 1760-1797.
- 236) Mulholland, D. A.; McFarland, K.; Randrianarivelojosia, M.; Rabarison, H. Phytochemistry 2004, 65, 2929-2934.
- 237) Mulholland, D.; Mahomed, H.; Kotsos, M.; Randrianarivelojosia, M.; Lavaucf, C.; Massiot, G.; Nuzillard, J.-M. *Tetrahedron* 1999, 55, 11547-11552.
- 238) Pihko, A. J.; Lundell, K.; Kanerva, L.; Koskinen, A. M. P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2004**, *15*, 1637-1643.
- 239) Koskinen, A. M. P.; Muños, L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1373-1374.
- 240) Koskinen, A. M. P.; Muños, L. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 879-886.
- 241) Koskinen, A. M. P.; Hassila, H. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4479-4480.
- 242) Koskinen, A. M. P.; Hassila, H. Acta Chem. Scand. 1996, 50, 323-327.
- Hassila, H. *Transition metal catalysed intramolecular cyclopropanation*; Rahkamaa, E.
  Ed., Report series in chemistry; Oulu University Press: Oulu, 1998; Vol. 50, 176 pages.
- 244) Boehm, H. M.; Handa, S.; Pattenden, G.; Roberts, L.; Blake, A. J.; Li, W.-S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 3522-3538.
- 245) Villiéras, J.; Rambaud, M. Synthesis 1984, 406-408.
- 246) Harris, G. D. J.; Herr, R. J.; Weinreb, S. M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5452-5464.
- 247) Rossiter, B. E.; Verhoeven, T. R.; Sharpless, K. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979, 4733-4736.
- 248) Sharpless, K. B.; Verhoeven, T. R. Aldrichim. Acta 1979, 12, 63-74.
- 249) Donohoe, T. J.; Moore, P. R.; Waring, M. J.; Newcombe, N. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 5027-5030.
- 250) Evans, D. A.; Rajapakse, H. A.; Stenkamp, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4569-4573.
- 251) Evans, D. A.; Rajapakse, H. A.; Chiu, A.; Stenkamp, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4573-4576.

- 252) Rozema, M. J.; AchyuthaRao, S.; Knochel, P. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 1956-1958.
- 253) Knochel, P.; Singer, R. D. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2117-2188.
- 254) Fatiadi, A. J. Synthesis 1976, 65-104 and 113-167.
- 255) Corey, E. J.; Helal, C. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1986-2012.
- 256) Mathre, D. J.; Jones, T. K.; Xavier, L. C.; Blacklock, T. J.; Reamer, R. A.; Mohan, J. J.; Jones, E. T. T.; Hoogsteen, K.; Baum, M. W.; Grabowski, E. J. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 751-762.
- Jones, T. K.; Mohan, J. J.; Xavier, L. C.; Blacklock, T. J.; Mathre, D. J.; Sohar, P.; Jones, E. T. T.; Reamer, R. A.; Roberts, F. E.; Grabowski, E. J. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 763-769.
- 258) Noyori, R.; Tomino, I.; Tanimoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 3129-3131.
- 259) Noyori, R.; Tomino, I.; Nishikawa, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 5843-5844.
- 260) Brown, H. C.; Park, W. S.; Cho, B. T.; Ramachandran, P. V. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 5406-5412.
- 261) Brown, H. C.; Chandrasekharan, J.; Ramachandran, P. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1539-1546.
- 262) Brown, H. C.; Ramachandran, P. V. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 16-24.
- 263) Nicolaou, K. C.; Namoto, K.; Ritzén, A.; Ulven, T.; Shoji, M.; Li, J.; D'Amico, G.; Liotta, D.; French, C. T.; Wartmann, M.; Altmann, K.-H.; Giannakakou, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9313-9323.
- 264) Martin, V. S.; Woodard, S. S.; Katsuki, T.; Yamada, Y.; Ikeda, M.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 6237-6240.
- 265) Gao, Y.; Hanson, R. M.; Klunder, J. M.; Ko, S. Y.; Masamune, H.; Sharpless, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5765-5780.
- 266) Liljeblad, A.; Kanerva, L. T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 4405-4415.
- 267) Gedey, S.; Liljeblad, A.; Lázár, L.; Fülöp, F.; Kanerva, L. T. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, 12, 105-110.
- 268) Virsu, P.; Liljeblad, A.; Kanerva, A.; Kanerva, L. T. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2001, 12, 2447-2455.
- Liljeblad, A.; Lindborg, J.; Kanerva, A.; Katajisto, J.; Kanerva, L. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 2471-2474.
- 270) Paizs, C.; Toşa, M.; Majdik, C.; Tähtinen, P.; Irimieb, F. D.; Kanerva, L. T. *Tetrahedron:* Asymmetry **2003**, *14*, 619-627.
- 271) Liljeblad, A.; Kiviniemi, A.; Kanerva, L. T. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 617-677.
- 272) Enzymatic Reactions in Organic Media; Koskinen, A. M. P.; Klibanov, A. M. Eds.; Blackie Academic & Professional: Glasgow, 1996, 314 pages.
- 273) Kanerva, L. T.; Sundholm, O. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1. 1993, 2407-2410.
- 274) Huges, D. L. Org. React. 1992, 42, 335-656.
- 275) Lattrell, R.; Lohaus, G. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1974, 901-920.
- 276) Radüchel, B. Synthesis 1980, 292-295.
- 277) Dale, J. A.; Mosher, H. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 512-519.
- 278) Ohtani, I.; Kusumi, T.; Kashman, Y.; Kakisawa, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4092-4096.

- 279) Kobayashi, M.; Chavakula, R.; Murata, O.; Sarma, N. S. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1992, 366-367.
- 280) Fraile, J. M.; García, J. I.; Martínez-Merino, V.; Mayoral, J. A.; Salvatella, L. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* 2001, 123, 7616-7625.
- 281) Bühl, M.; Terstegen, F.; Löffler, F.; Meynhardt, B.; Kierse, S.; Müller, M.; Näther, C.; Lüning, U. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 2151-2160.
- 282) Rasmussen, T.; Jensen, J. F.; Østergaard, N.; Tanner, D.; Ziegler, T.; Norrby, P.-O. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2002, 8, 177-184.
- 283) Evans, D. A.; Woerpel, K. A.; Hinman, M. H.; Faul, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 726-728.
- 284) Kubas, G. J. Inorg. Synth. 1979, 19, 90-92.
- 285) Doyle, M. P.; Peterson, C. S.; Zhou, G.-L.; Nishiyama, H. Chem. Commun. 1997, 211-212.
- 286) Fryzuk, M. D.; Jafarpour, L.; Rettig, S. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 3191-3202.
- 287) Neises, B.; Steglich, W. Org. Synth. 1990, Coll. Vol. VII, 92-95.
- 288) Regitz, M.; Hocker, H.; Liedhegener A. Org. Synth. 1973, Coll. Vol. V, 179-183.
- 289) Koskinen, A. M. P.; Muños, L. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm. 1990, 652-653.
- 290) Wenkert, E.; Guo, M.; Lavilla, R.; Porter, B.; Ramachandran, K.; Sheu, J.-H. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 6203-6214.
- 291) Schinnerl, M.; Böhm, C.; Seitz, M.; Reiser, O. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 765-771.
- 292) Kauppinen, P. Kuparikatalysoitu syklopropanointireaktio; M. Sc. thesis, University of Oulu, 1993, 53 pages.
- 293) Konosu, T.; Oida, S. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1991, 39, 2212-2215.
- 294) Nagakawa, I.; Hata, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 1409-1412.
- 295) Tabuchi, H.; Hamamoto, T.; Miki, S.; Tejima, T.; Ichihara, A. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4749-4759.
- 296) Jin, C.; Jacobs, H. K.; Cervantes-Lee, F.; Gopalan, A. S. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 3737-3746.
- 297) Corey, E. J.; Chaykovsky, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 1345-1353.
- 298) Jia, Y. X.; Li, X.; Wu, B.; Zhao, X. Z.; Tu, Y. Q. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 1697-1798.
- 299) Staley, S. W. Regioselectivity in the Reductive Cleavage of Cyclopropane Rings by Dissolving Metals. In *Selective Organic Transformations*; Thyagarajan, B. S., Ed.; Wiley-Interscience, 1972; Vol. 2, pp 309-348.
- 300) Baeyer, A. Chem. Ber. 1895, 28, 1586-1603.
- 301) Norin, T. Acta Chem. Scand. 1965, 19, 1289-1292.
- 302) Dauben, W. G.; Deviny, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 31, 3794-3798.
- 303) Woo, W. S.; Lee, E. B.; Kang, S. S.; Shin, K. H.; Chi, H. J. Planta Med. 1987, 53, 399-401.
- 304) Taddei, M.; Ricci, A. Synthesis 1986, 633-635.
- 305) Qian, D.-Q.; Shine, H. J.; Quzman-Jimenez, I. Y.; Thurston, J. H.; Whitmire, K. H. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 4030-4039.

- 306) Trost, B. M.; Seoane, P.; Mignani, S.; Acemoglu, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 7487-7500.
- 307) Dupau, P.; Epple, R.; Thomas, A. A.; Fokin, V. F.; Sharpless, K. B. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2002, 344, 421-433.
- 308) Chen, C.-S.; Fujimoto, Y.; Girdaukas, G.; Sih, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1982**, *104*, 7294-7299.
- 309) Hitchcock, S. A.; Houldsworth, S. J.; Pattenden, G.; Pryde, D. C.; Thomson, N. M.; Blake, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 3181-3206.
- 310) Paquette, L. A.; Hofferberth, J. E. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2266-2275.
- 311) Breslow, D. S.; Baumgarten, E.; Hauser, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1944, 66, 1286-1288.
- 312) Gibson, F. S.; Park, M. S.; Rapoport, H. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7503-7507.
- 313) Harwood, L. M. Aldrichim. Acta 1985, 18, 25.
- 314) Lauktien, G.; Volk, F.-J.; Frahm, A. W. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 3457-3466.